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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended,
(Securities Act), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (Exchange Act), about us and our industry that involve substantial
risks and uncertainties. All statements other than statements of historical facts contained in this report are forward-looking statements. Statements
regarding our future results of operations and financial position, business strategy and plans and objectives of management for future operations,
including, among others, statements regarding liquidity, growth and profitability strategies and factors and trends affecting our business are forward-
looking statements. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terms such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “expects,” “plans,” “anticipates,”
“could,” “intends,” “targets,” “projects,” “contemplates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential” or “continue” or the negative of these terms or other
similar expressions. The forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K include, among other things, statements about:

• our expectations regarding our revenue, expenses, and other operating results;

• our ability to acquire new customers and successfully retain existing customers;

• our ability to achieve or sustain our profitability;

• future investments in our business, our anticipated capital expenditures, and our estimates regarding our capital requirements;

• the costs and success of our sales and marketing efforts, and our ability to promote our brand;

• our growth strategies;

• our reliance on key personnel and our ability to identify, recruit, and retain skilled personnel;

• our ability to effectively manage our growth;

• our ability to protect our intellectual property rights and any costs associated therewith;

• the effects of COVID-19 or other public health crises;

• developments and expectations regarding developments and projections relating to our competitors and our industry; and

• our expectations regarding the time during which we will be an emerging growth company under the Jumpstart Our Business Startup Act of 2012.

The forward-looking statements in this report are only predictions. We have based these forward-looking statements largely on our current expectations
and projections about future events and financial trends that we believe may affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Forward-
looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other important factors that may cause our actual results, performance or
achievements to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements.
We believe that these factors include, but are not limited to, the factors set forth under “Risk Factors.” Because forward-looking statements are inherently
subject to risks and uncertainties, some of which cannot be predicted or quantified, you should not rely on these forward-looking statements as predictions
of future events. The events and circumstances reflected in our forward-looking statements may not be achieved or occur and actual results could differ
materially from those projected in the forward-looking statements.

In addition, statements that “we believe” and similar statements reflect our beliefs and opinions on the relevant subject. These statements are based upon
information available to us as of the date of this report, and while we believe such information forms a reasonable basis for such statements, such
information may be limited or incomplete, and our statements should not be read to indicate that we have conducted an exhaustive inquiry into, or review
of, all potentially available relevant information. These statements are inherently uncertain and investors are cautioned not to unduly rely upon these
statements.

These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Except as required by applicable law, we do not plan to
publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements contained in this report after we distribute this Annual Report on Form 10-K, whether as a result
of any new information, future events or otherwise. We may not actually achieve the plans, intentions, or expectations disclosed in our forward-looking
statements, and you should not place undue reliance on our forward-looking statements. Our forward-looking statements do not reflect the potential
impact of any future acquisitions, mergers, dispositions, joint ventures, or investments.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH OUR BUSINESS

Our business is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties that you should be aware, including those described in the section entitled “Risk Factors.”
The risks include the following:

• We face significant competition from larger companies and third-party providers that may deploy their resources so they can develop their IP
solutions internally;

• We have a history of net losses, and we may not achieve or maintain profitability in the future;

• Because our IP solutions are components of end products, if semiconductor system producers and/or end product producer companies in the
automotive market, enterprise computing market, communications market, consumer electronics market, and industrial market do not incorporate
our solutions into their end products or if the end products of our customers do not achieve market acceptance, we may not be able to generate
adequate license sales and royalty income from our products;

• We depend on market acceptance of third-party semiconductor IP;

• The success of our business depends on sustaining or growing our licensing revenue, and the failure to achieve such revenue would lead to a
material decline in our results of operations;

• The nature of the design win process requires us to incur significant expenses without any guarantee that research and development and sales
efforts will generate revenue, which could adversely affect our financial results;

• Even if we succeed in securing design wins for our IP interconnect and other solutions and our System-on-Chip ( SoC) Integration Automation
software (SIA) (formerly IP deployment software) solutions, we may not generate timely or sufficient margins or margins from those wins and our
financial results could suffer;

• Claims by other companies that we infringe their intellectual property rights or that patents on which we rely are invalid could adversely affect our
business;

• We continually pursue new IP interconnect, SoC integration automation, and other technology initiatives, and if we fail to successfully carry out
these initiatives, our business could be harmed;

• We may have to invest more resources in research and development than anticipated, which could increase our operating expenses and
negatively affect our operating results;

• We are subject to government regulation, including import, export and economic sanctions laws and regulations that may expose us to liability and
increase our costs;

• Product errors or defects could expose us to liability and harm our reputation and we could lose market share;

• If we fail to offer high-quality support, our reputation could suffer;

• Our dependence on international customers and operations also subjects us to a range of other additional regulatory, operational, financial and
political risks that could adversely affect our financial results;

• If we are unable to protect our proprietary technology and inventions through patents and other IP rights, our ability to compete successfully and
our financial results could be adversely impacted;

• We face risks associated with doing business in China; and

• Litigation, including securities class action litigation, may impair our reputation and lead us to incur significant costs. For example, we are currently
involved in ongoing litigation related to patent infringement claims.

The summary risk factors described above should be read together with the text of the full risk factors below in the section entitled “Risk Factors” and the
other information set forth in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including our consolidated financial statements and the related notes, as well as in other
documents that we file with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission. The risks summarized above or described in full below are not the only risks
that we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not precisely known to us or that we currently deem to be immaterial may also materially adversely affect
our business, financial condition, results of operations, and future growth prospects.
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Part I

Item 1. Business

Overview

We are a leading provider of semiconductor system IP, including interconnect and other intellectual property, (collectively, System IP) technology. Our
System IP technology manages the on-chip communications and IP block deployments in System-on-Chip (SoC) semiconductors and systems of
chiplets. Our leading proprietary System IP solutions achieve this by connecting client IP blocks such as processors, memories, artificial
intelligence/machine learning (AI/ML) accelerators, graphics subsystems, safety and security, and other input/output subsystems (I/Os) via multiple
Network-on-Chips (NoCs) in order for our customers to experience faster SoC targeting, as well as, more efficient, and lower cost solutions. Growth for
our solutions is being driven by growing SoC sophistication and associated complexity, now extending into disaggregation of SoCs into systems which
implement the communication protocol aspects and partner with industry leading providers like Synopsys, Cadence, Alphawave and others to connect to
their die to die interfaces. The addition of more processors, channels of memory access, machine learning sections, additional I/Os interface standards,
and other subsystems within SoCs is driving the need for more advanced System IP, including NoC interconnect IP’s. The growth in the numbers of these
connected on-chip subsystems places an increasing premium on the interconnect IP capability to move data inside complex SoCs. We believe this
increase in SoC complexity has created a significant opportunity for sophisticated System IP solutions that incorporate NoC interconnect IP, SoC
Integration Automation software (SIA) (formerly IP deployment software) and NoC interface IP (consisting of peripheral data transport IP and control
plane networks connected to NoC interconnect IPs). Moreover, our technology can also provide more cost-effective solutions and reduce the risks of
building and maintaining in-house NoC teams, which we believe has positively contributed to our market segment share growth.

Founded in 2003, we are among the pioneers in the development of NoC IP technology for on-chip communication that addresses the growing
complexity, performance, and cost requirements of SoC semiconductors and as a result, we have emerged as a global leader. Over time, we have
expanded and scaled our interconnect IP and other IP businesses to provide hardware, software, documentation, support, and training under a license fee
and a royalty business model, to companies that design and produce semiconductors. In addition, we are also finding an increasing number of customers
further down the supply chain, such as system-level companies and automotive original equipment manufacturers (OEMs). Our SoC integration
automation capabilities were significantly enhanced by our acquisitions of Magillem in 2020 and Semifore in 2022, complementing our interconnect IP
solutions by helping automate the customer configuration of its NoC IPs, the process of integrating and assembling all the customer’s IP blocks into SoC
hardware, and ensuring correct hardware-software integration for software development. Products incorporating our IP are used to carry important data
inside today’s complex SoCs across a broad range of applications including automotive, enterprise computing, communications, consumer electronics,
and industrial markets. Our interconnect IP solutions can be found in multiple industry-standard designs supporting instruction set architectures such as
x86, Arm, RISC-V, CEVA, Synopsys ARC, Cadence Tensilica and MIPS, as well as memory controllers, UCIe, BoW, and XSR controllers, I/O and a
variety of IP subsystems, to enable customers to integrate such IP blocks with high levels of efficiency and performance. Our solutions enable customer
innovation because they are configurable for each customer’s design flow and SoC development projects and have wide applicability for many types of
SoCs. We estimate that our solutions have been incorporated into three and a half billion production SoCs since inception.

Traditional on-chip communication methods, including bus and crossbar interconnect IPs, are generally inadequate in handling modern semiconductor
communications, and even more so for sophisticated applications or more complex designs. Technological advancements have led to increasingly
complex SoCs that integrate numerous functions into a single semiconductor device. Massive amounts of wires, challenging timing closure, and routing
congestion lead to greater die area and chip cost. Increased transistor density and design frequencies create higher power consumption leading to heat
dissipation challenges and shorter battery life for electronic devices. These challenges have significantly complicated SoC innovation and contributed to
the increasing adoption of System IP, across the growing number of customer design starts coupled with the expanding number of NoC IPs used in
current SoC.
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We leveraged our extensive technical expertise to develop configurable IP for a new method for on-chip communication, the NoC, that has emerged over
the past couple of decades to address these critical semiconductor development challenges. We accomplished this by pioneering the use of proprietary
networking techniques for on-chip communications to remove the inherent architectural limitations of traditional on-chip communications, thereby
improving ease of integration, performance, silicon area, and power consumption. In doing so, we enable our customers to achieve their design goals
faster, more efficiently, and at lower costs. In addition, our SIA solutions enable easier IP integration of our interconnect IPs – among other IP blocks that
make up an SoC, across both hardware and software.

We work directly with our customers throughout the SoC development process and seek to develop long-term, sustainable relationships with them as our
technology becomes embedded in their products. Increasingly, we are also seeing system companies and even their customers becoming directly
involved in SoC and NoC specifications and design, further expanding our ability to partner in this growing market. We also leverage our long history in
interconnect IP designs and are able to serve a broad range of applications and deliver application and customer-specific features to our customers. For
example, we are a leader in the market of interconnect for advanced driver assistance systems (ADAS) SoCs, which we believe is a result of our quality,
reliability, and innovative technology targeted at that business application, and longstanding collaboration with automotive semiconductor companies, Tier
1 suppliers, and car manufacturing OEMs.

We provide solutions for the global SoC market and believe that market growth will be driven by an increasing number of SoC designs and growing
complexity, increasing average selling prices of interconnect IP and SIA, and the growing proliferation of the NoC interface IP market segment. More
specifically, we believe our growth will be driven by technology trends requiring more sophisticated on-chip processing in the automotive,
communications, enterprise computing, consumer electronics, and industrial markets. Also, the need for sophisticated system IP products is growing
rapidly in order to address the requirements of smaller die size, multi-die systems, lower power consumption, and higher operation frequency, as well as
management of critical net latency in a timely and cost-effective manner. As a result, we believe these trends have led to an increased economic benefit
of in-licensing commercial semiconductor design IP, a trend that we expect to continue.

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, we generated $53.7 million and $50.4 million in revenue, $15.7 million and $6.8 million in cash flows
used in operating activities, and $36.9 million and $27.4 million in net loss, respectively. We expect to incur further net losses in the short term as we
invest in our business. As of December 31, 2023, we had Annual Contract Value (ACV), which we define for an individual customer agreement as the
total fixed fees under the agreement divided by the number of years in the agreement term, of $50.9 million. ACV and trailing-twelve-months variable
royalties and other revenue reached $56.1 million as of December 31, 2023. Since our inception, our interconnect IP solutions have been used in over
760 unique SoC Design Starts. In 2023, we added 23 net new Active Customers. We define Active Customers as customers who have entered into a
license agreement with us that remains in effect.

Industry Background

Semiconductor complexity is increasing as the industry moves from integrated circuits (ICs) that process data to SoCs that make decisions, and now
extends to systems. Historically, a chip’s complexity was much lower as processors were connected to memories with relatively few peripheral IP block
functions. Once the industry moved to 40 nanometer (nm) and more advanced process geometries, it became possible to build more complex SoCs, such
as mobile phone application processors, which contained many more IP blocks and consequently required more sophisticated on-chip communications.
With the rise of machine learning algorithms and architectures, such as convolutional neural networks, and semiconductor process technologies reaching
3nm geometries, with roadmaps to go beyond these process technologies, it became possible to build complex decision-making SoCs for applications
such as automated driving and enterprise computing data center acceleration. Integration of processors, accelerators, machine learning subsystems,
sophisticated multi-channel memories, and an ever-larger number of interface standards have placed a premium on the ability to move data efficiently
inside the SoC and between SoC chiplets. These trends further highlight the growing importance of interconnect IP in today’s SoCs.

Increasing chip design complexity leads to rising costs. The slowing of Moore’s law and the need for more functionality and performance has necessitated
new architectural paradigms and accelerated the move to more advanced process nodes. This has resulted in the adoption of significantly more
expensive and complex chip design methods and manufacturing processes, creating a substantial rise in semiconductor design costs. Costs continue
trending upwards, as the design costs of an advanced SoC have risen five times from the 16nm technology node to the 5nm technology node, according
to the Semiconductor Industry Association, and are now extending to 3nm technology and beyond. This has placed increasing importance on the cost
efficiencies provided by System IP solutions.

6



Table of Contents

Increasing SoC complexity leads to increasing System IP value. It is common for today’s SoC to contain multiple types of data traffic in the same design,
with a hierarchy of NoCs connecting sub-systems and eventually the top-level of the design. In addition, the large number of IP blocks in complex SoCs
means that more data traffic must be successfully managed. Data must be brought to each of these IP blocks at a time where such data is required—
otherwise that IP block will be “starved” of data. As their size has grown, partially due to the incorporation of machine learning subsystems, SoCs are
being split into chiplets, which are smaller pieces of silicon packaged together into one unit. Communication between chiplets adds complexity, which
increases the value of interconnect IP. Another complexity factor is the increasing use of cache coherent traffic which makes multiple processors and/or
accelerators look like a single hardware programming space to the application software, simplifying software development. Many complex SoCs now use
cache coherent and non-coherent traffic in a single SoC, raising the volume and value of our System IP solutions.

Increasing SoC complexity puts pressure on IP block assembly and connectivity efforts. With potentially hundreds of IP blocks coming from a variety of
vendors and internal development groups, SoC teams need to manage the IP supply chains with increasingly capable SoC integration automation. These
teams and their electronic design software (EDA) groups also need to put in place increasingly capable SoC integration methodologies to improve SoC
development success. These developments have driven the semiconductor industry to use SoC integration automation standards such as IEEE 1685 IP-
XACT which are becoming increasingly sophisticated with each generation and require more sophisticated software to support them.

Increasing demand from emerging end markets and new market participants.  New applications in markets such as automotive, enterprise computing,
communications, consumer electronics, and industrial have increased the diversity and overall demand in the semiconductor market. These new
applications, often including an increasing level of AI/ML technology, safety, or complex hardware-software integrations, have led to an increase in the
number and complexity of SoC designs. Chips used for AI training and inference acceleration have increased in die size, further increasing design costs
with new design complexities and performance requirements. Also, new market participants, such as electronic system companies, internet hyperscalers,
and automotive OEMs, have begun internally developing their own chips. The increasing demand from current and new market entrants is increasing the
need for System IP solutions.

Shift to third-party IP for cost benefits, product differentiation, and accelerated time to market. It is difficult, time-consuming and expensive to
develop state-of-the-art SoC interconnect IP solutions. We believe this dynamic is accelerating the degree to which interconnect IP solutions are
outsourced to commercial vendors. Commercial interconnect vendors, such as Arteris, have the potential to accelerate time-to-market because they
engage with a greater variety of SoC applications and a greater variety of designs than the typical internal interconnect teams. Commercial vendors are
also able to spread interconnect and SoC development costs across a greater number of projects than internal interconnect and design teams.

System IP Market

SoC-type semiconductors consist of pre-made IP blocks that are either licensed from third parties by semiconductor and electronics companies or
developed in-house. These IP blocks must be assembled into SoCs as efficiently as possible to address semiconductor company and system OEM
customer requirements. Many of these IP blocks, including processors and other functional blocks, such as machine learning and vision subsystems,
perform processing functions and execute complex software stacks. These IP blocks can number in the hundreds on a single chip and generate and
consume commands and data, as well as work together as a unit. As SoCs become more complex, there has emerged a class of silicon IP and software
tools designed to assemble these IP blocks into a functioning SoC at target cost and performance. We call this the System IP market. The System IP
market consists of interconnect IP, NoC interface IP and SIA solutions. According to Informa PLC (Omdia), the semiconductor market is set to grow from
about $604 billion in 2022 to $734 billion in 2026. As SoC technology evolves, we believe that there is a significant opportunity for us to grow our value by
introducing additional functionality for our customers to integrate their SoCs efficiently using our System IP solutions.
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Omdia segments the aforementioned semiconductor and OEM markets into six industry segments: automotive, computing, consumer, industrial, wireless,
and wired communication. Our market penetration spans all of these segments and customer adoption is most pronounced in the automotive, enterprise
computing, consumer electronics, communications across wired and wireless, and industrial segments, driven by a higher rate of disruptive innovations.
While the key focus is in the SoC design itself, we greatly benefit from the verticalization trend in which traditional OEMs increase the control of their
design chain driving system requirements into semiconductor and IP companies, and often take on the semiconductor design themselves or with their
semiconductor company suppliers. These trends of specialization and OEMs controlling their own destiny in light of supply chain disruptions are amplified
by trends towards heterogeneous disaggregation of SoC design into multi-die systems and 3D-IC assembly. Overlaid over the industry vertical markets
mentioned above, the differentiation of semiconductor IP and tools is increasingly determined by the ability to address horizontal market aspects that
span across the industry verticals. For instance, we differentiate with our readiness for safety certification for mission-critical and automotive designs, our
ability to address specific requirements posed by AI/ML designs in enterprise computing data centers, automotive autonomous driving, and consumer and
industrial edge designs. Our support includes standard processor architectures and our experience with enabling our readiness to enable our customers
to optimize their System IP for specific semiconductor manufacturing technologies (such as TSMC, Samsung and Intel foundries).

Automotive Applications

The automotive market is undergoing technology disruption with the advent of automated driving, electrification, electronic control unit consolidation and
vehicle connectivity to the internet. Furthermore, cars are becoming increasingly connected to a large network of data centers, roadside and city
infrastructures, and other vehicles, creating the “Internet of Cars.”

The automotive semiconductor industry that is expected to drive the “Internet of Cars” is in a period of rapid growth. Omdia estimates that the automotive
SoC market will grow from nearly $7.0 billion in 2023 to over $13.1 billion in 2027, at a CAGR of over 17.1%.

As the electronically enabled car has continued to grow in sophistication and performance, complex SoCs must increasingly receive, process and
communicate data, further requiring advanced interconnect IP solutions.

The different levels of automated driving are defined as “Level 1” to “Level 5” with “Level 1” being sophisticated cruise control and “Level 5” being fully
automated without the need for human driving intervention. Informa Tech LLC estimates that over half of all light vehicles sold in 2027 will be equipped
with ADAS systems considered “Level 2” and above. Behind this leap in ADAS deployments is the growth in the number of ADAS-related
semiconductors. Omdia estimates that the annual volume shipments of ADAS semiconductors will double from 2023 to 2027.

Due to the complex requirements of electronically enabled vehicles and the high rate of innovation required to compete in the “Internet of Cars” revolution,
industry players are designing SoCs tailored to their sophisticated software and applications. This will result in more complex automotive-targeted SoCs,
which we expect will continue to grow demand for reliable, configurable, and proven interconnect technologies that accelerate a product’s time to market
while reducing overall costs.

The “Internet of Cars” revolution is disrupting the automotive supply chain. New business models such as ride-sharing, transportation subscriptions and
transportation as a service are being created. New potential entrants such as ride-sharing companies, large data center companies, and new automotive
startups are changing the automotive business landscape, while increasing demand for more sophisticated transportation-targeted semiconductors and
therefore System IP solutions. In addition, the traditional automotive supply chain is also restructuring, with semiconductor vendors, automotive “tier 1”
suppliers and automotive OEMs competing to own and control the electronic architecture of these cars. To compete, companies at all levels of the
automotive supply chain have started creating their own chips, thus increasing the number of SoCs in the automotive industry and increasing demand for
interconnect IP solutions.

The move toward the Internet of Cars may be non-linear and take longer than anticipated but since hardware decisions are often made between six and
seven years before deployment, we believe that over the next 20 to 30 years, the creation of the internet of cars represents one of the largest
semiconductor opportunities available.
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Enterprise Computing Applications

Large-scale cloud data centers are augmenting and replacing corporate data centers. This evolution expands the market size and value for enterprise
solid-state storage systems and the custom ASICs that control them, further strengthening demand for interconnect technologies that improve storage
performance and provide data integrity. In addition, enterprise hyperscale computing companies are now creating proprietary SoCs and accelerators for
their own products and data centers. We believe that these new entrants into semiconductor design will increasingly provide market opportunities for third-
party System IP solutions, including those from Arteris.

Some of the key areas for workload specific acceleration in data centers are in AI/ML, database processing, video/audio transcoding, and scientific
computing. AI/ML SoCs must be “trained” on large data sets that have to be collected from real-world data utilizing “training” SoCs. A different class of
AI/ML SoCs uses such data to match the training data against actual data collected by sensors of the system utilizing “inference” SoCs. In 2023, Gartner
estimated that the market for such AI-enabled applications processors will nearly triple from 2022 to 2027. AI/ML is deployed in cloud data centers for
applications such as personalized advertising and credit card fraud detection. AI/ML is also deployed at the edge of networks for applications such as
automated driving, cell phones and numerous other applications, and is as such considered a technology addressing various industry vertical business
segments.

Communications Applications

The wireless communications market is in the midst of disruption as it allows efficient machine-to-machine communications at a massive scope and scale.
5G technology allows the cost-efficient connections of massive numbers of embedded sensors and other devices into ultra-reliable, high-bandwidth, and
low-latency networks. In short, 5G enables smart devices utilizing sophisticated SoCs to communicate more information at faster speeds while using less
power. As 5G is adopted as the wireless market standard, it is expected to revolutionize markets, including cars and smart city vehicle infrastructure,
factory automation, logistics, and consumer and business broadband. For example, Ericsson estimated that there will be 9.2 billion global mobile
endpoints by 2028, with mobile traffic up to 21 exabytes per month, up from 6 exabytes in 2022. Further, in February 2023, Ericsson forecasted that 5G
will make up a growing part of this traffic, with 5G subscriptions growing from 1 billion subscribers in 2022 to nearly 5 billion in 2028. Already approaching
the next generation network infrastructure, the industry has started the development of a roadmap towards 6G technology to be rolled out towards the end
of this decade, with various 5G Advanced steps in-between.

We believe the transition to 5G and 6G will accelerate System IP market growth because the high complexity of 5G and 6G chips require more stringent
requirements for bandwidth, latency, and power consumption, making an easy-to-integrate, high performance and low power on-chip interconnect a
critical requirement.

Other Applications and Technologies

The consumer electronics and industrial markets are also expected to require increasingly complex chips primarily driven by the incorporation of AI/ML
processing, particularly at the edge, increased use of 5G communications, and more stringent safety and security requirements. In addition, the chip
market in these domains are sensitive to time-to-market pressures, which also generates the need for increased semiconductor design productivity and
faster implementation as enhanced by sophisticated interconnect IP solutions. Our low-power features are valuable for battery life and power consumption
in our targeted markets.

AI/ML semiconductor structures require multiple IP blocks that use peer-to-peer on-chip communications that have different data traffic characteristics
than other parts of the SoC and thus require special interconnect features. Such interconnect features require greater attention to challenges including
deadlock avoidance and mesh performance and the ability to transfer large amounts of data to memories.

Besides the AI/ML technology that is especially pronounced in high-performance enterprise computing and automotive application, as well as at the edge
that enter the industrial, consumer electronics, and communications applications, functional safety is a key technology horizontal driving our differentiation
and growth. We enable our customers to achieve ASIL-B and ASIL-D ISO 26262 certification with our products addressing the NoC Interconnect IP NoC
Interface IP markets. Further, critical tools in our SIA product portfolio have been “Tool Confidence Level” (TCL)-certified by the TUV SUD to confirm that
they are safe to use in automotive and mission-critical markets like aerospace & space as part of the industrial vertical.
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Both our NoC Interconnect IP and NoC Interface IP are used alongside processor architecture and eventually mapped into semiconductor manufacturing
technologies. Key processor architectures of note are the x86, Arm, and increasingly RISC-V processor architectures. We have entered into agreements
with Arm in 2022 for automotive electronics and are an integral part of the RISC-V ecosystem providing the core interconnect IP for the growing number
of SoCs deploying that processor architecture. Besides its safety aspects, we believe our NoC interconnect IP technology is differentiated through its
ability to optimize designs for the physical layout, therefore believe we are part of the ecosystem of Cadence, Synopsys, Siemens EDA, as well as
semiconductor manufacturing including TSMC, Samsung Foundry, GlobalFoundries, and Intel Foundry Services.

Industry Challenges

Interconnect IP development is a challenging, time-consuming, and expensive process. The need for robust, maintainable interconnect technology
becomes increasingly important as chip designs become more complex and larger in size, both driven by advances in semiconductor manufacturing
technology. As semiconductor manufacturing technology has advanced, it has increased the number of IP block functions that can be added to SoC type
semiconductors. However, as more IP block functions are added to a chip, the sheer number of physical connections required for communications
between the on-chip IP blocks grows massively. Therefore, the larger and more complex the SoC, the more important the on-chip interconnect for overall
chip performance, power consumption and cost. Interconnect and SoC integration automation technology is key to allowing SoC designers to design
these types of chips while meeting their technical and time-to-market requirements. The industry is challenged to meet these requirements by itself
because of the technical know-how to do so. Further, any failures due to quality issues are enormously expensive and industry standards for mission-
critical applications like automotive are costly to meet. All these technology trends combine to require a large initial investment and a long-time
commitment for a chip design team or commercial interconnect IP company to create semiconductor IP and software technologies that satisfy industry
needs.

■ Deep technical expertise and knowledge.  Interconnect development requires an interdisciplinary engineering team with expertise and skill
sets across a wide-range of engineering and scientific domains including hardware architecture, design, verification, EDA-class software
development, and SystemC modeling, as well as deep understanding of physical design, design methodologies and networking architectures.
The design process requires expertise in developing advanced hardware architectures to handle data coherency and consistency across the
interconnect to achieve a high-performance, low power implementation. Complex flows and methodologies as well as specialized languages to
generate configurable hardware and interconnect configuration software must also be designed, with hardware configurations defined using
thousands of parameters that need to be meticulously managed, with millions of combinations to be considered. The interconnect design
process also requires engineers to have an awareness of the physical implementation and floorplan of the target chip to generate an
architecture that meets SoC requirements in terms of timing, area, and power. Designers require an in-depth knowledge of graph theory,
common interface protocols, data models, and graphical user interfaces. In addition, they require the skills to develop design methodologies to
manage dependencies in project execution where the interconnect configuration software generates the hardware IP and associated data
evidence of product quality and compliance with industry standards.

■ High quality. Interconnect IP requires a systematic deployment of quality-oriented methodologies, as any customer-level problems in the
interconnect will result in SoC project delays or even project failures. Engineering teams creating interconnects must invest heavily not only in
skilled engineering resources to develop and verify, but also processes and methodologies that provide early indication of any potential quality
issues. The best interconnect engineering teams also leverage these methodologies to help automate design and verification tasks, which
helps improve time to market for the interconnect IP provider. If the interconnect has serious problems, the SoC will not be operational,
resulting in significant economic losses.

■ Safety standards. High reliability of the interconnect is a heightened requirement for mission-critical markets including automotive, industrial
robotics, medical and space. An in-depth knowledge of and adherence to standards, such as the ISO 26262 automotive functional safety
standards, further increases the challenge of developing a reliable interconnect targeted at these applications. 

■ Long time commitment and high investment cost.  We believe the engineering development cycle for each new interconnect and the market
development cycle to establish a significant market position for a customer or for a commercial vendor requires large teams, many years and
great expense. Additionally, we believe the investment required by a customer to internally create a configurable interconnect technology for a
new SoC can be very expensive compared to the cost of licensing from a proven interconnect IP provider.
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■ Breadth of System IP solutions. With needs to address cache coherent, non-coherent, machine learning and chiplet traffic, customers need
a System IP solution that works together across all these data traffic types. SoC integration automation technologies allow customers to
manage the deployment of the rest of the IP blocks in the SoC in order to ease SoC IP integration. Meeting such requirements requires
significant enterprise scale in engineering and customer support. Necessity for such combined technologies amounts to a significant barrier to
entry in terms of time, cost and customer adoption.

Given the above requirements and challenges, developing commercial interconnect IP and software tools require large engineering teams with advanced
skill sets, significant amounts of time, and substantial financial investment. By licensing commercial interconnect IP, companies can free up resources to
focus on developing new product capabilities and differentiators. Further, we believe the large investments needed to develop commercial interconnect IP
also create barriers to entry for potential commercial competitors.

Our Solutions and Competitive Strengths

We are a leading provider of interconnect and other IP technology that manages the on-chip communications in SoC semiconductor devices. We believe
our System IP is integral to our customers in the automotive, enterprise computing, consumer electronics, communications across wired and wireless,
and industrial markets. Our core strengths include:

■ We help accelerate our customers’ time to market.  Our interconnect IP software and SIA solutions help accelerate SoC development at
several different steps in the design cycle. For example, we offer design exploration and modeling capability for SoC architects to explore the
interconnect IP performance of their designs ahead of hardware description language generation to speed up SoC architecture definition. As
another example, we have automated test bench generation to accelerate the verification of our interconnect IP products. Still further, our
physical awareness capability allows the estimation of critical net latencies and estimates whether the interconnect IP will meet our customers’
required timing. Our System IP product lines are structured so that our customers can customize the interconnect for their needs, helping
accelerate interconnect IP customization for their particular SoC configurations. In addition to interconnect IP productivity features, we offer a
combination of automated interconnect configuration software, pre-verified interfaces to IP block protocols, pre-verified interfaces to EDA tools
and a pre-verified interconnect IP element library for rapid generation of customer-specific interconnect IP products. Our SIA solutions also help
accelerate SoC development by enabling the IP blocks making up an SoC to be packaged in a standard format called IP-XACT (Institute of
Electrical and Electronics Engineers—IEEE 1685), which provides a uniform IP block assembly and reuse methodology. Our SIA tool suite
includes numerous packages that allow the configuration of IP block exit port registers, establish high-level SoC connectivity and link
documentation to the IP-XACT design information.

■ Our products help improve the performance of our customers’ SoCs.  We believe that using our System IP solutions can result in
improved SoC metrics such as higher performance, lower power consumption and smaller die area. We have extensive low-power
management features such as three levels of clock gating and power domain features for low-power applications such as smartphone
application processors and other SoCs for hand-held applications. We enable customers to partition their designs into “frequency domains”,
allowing some domains to run at higher frequencies than others, in order to trade off performance against SoC power consumption.

■ We enable lower customer research and development and SoC unit costs.  We believe that we enable lower chip research and
development costs, lower SoC unit costs and reduce project risk as compared to solutions developed internally or licensed from another
vendor. We have targeted our interconnect IP to be area-efficient so that we can offer silicon area savings, and resulting chip cost savings,
compared to other interconnect IP alternatives. For example, the interconnect IP generally makes up a meaningful proportion of the overall SoC
area at the completed SoC stage, and savings of 1 square millimeter of area can potentially offer significant savings in terms of SoC unit costs.
We provide an integrated package of software, hardware, documentation, verification tools and pre-verified interfaces to major IP blocks and
EDA tools. We believe our IP and software can save our customers time and money and enable them to focus on product differentiation and
revenue generation.
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■ We believe we have grown our product portfolio through robust and focused research and development.  Developing commercial
interconnect IP and software tooling requires large and specialized engineering teams, significant amounts of time and extensive periods of
commercial productization. We believe we have been the pioneer of using networking technology for on-chip communications and have been
licensing such interconnect IP products since 2006. Our strategy is to deliver at least one new Interconnect IP or SIA product release per year,
and we have done so since 2013. As of December 31, 2023, we have 145 development engineers on staff covering IP hardware, software,
verification, testing and methodology development. Such a sizeable, multi-disciplinary engineering team allows us to undertake System IP
products of sizeable scale and permits us to work on multiple product development projects at the same time.

■ We have grown our solutions through targeted acquisitions.  We intend to continue to support a robust internal technology development
program that is complemented by synergistic acquisitions to increase customer productivity and to lower SoC development and production
costs. We believe we have the ability to complement our product development with selective acquisitions to strengthen our System IP product
portfolio. With our acquisition of Magillem in 2020 and Semifore in 2022, we added complementary technology that helps automate process of
integrating and assembling all the customers’ IP blocks into an SoC, and its hardware-software integration to accelerate end product system
development.

■ We are able to address mission critical application s. We believe we ar e positioned to take advantage of the rapid growth of semiconductor
content in cars. We have been focused on the automotive market segment since inception and have 140 automotive SoC design wins.
Additionally, we have established customer relationships with market leaders such as Mobileye/Intel, BMW, NXP, Bosch, and Dreamchip. In
addition to ADAS and autonomous driving control systems, our interconnect IP is used in radar, lidar, vision, communications, and
dashboard/driver management. As cars continue to grow in complexity and connectivity, we believe there will be significant growth in the
number of increasingly powerful SoCs that will need automotive grade on-chip interconnect IP. Our interconnect IP is designed to meet the
automotive safety integrity level D (ASIL D) of the ISO 26262 automotive functional safety standard, which is the highest level, helping to
position us as an ideal partner to innovative companies in the advanced automotive SoC market. We believe our solutions make it easier for
our automotive semiconductor “tier 1” and OEM customers to collaborate and meet functional safety standards by establishing traceability
between requirements, specifications, hardware and software implementation, verification and testing, and quality assurance. Because of this,
our SIA solutions are a complement to our interconnect IP in helping our customers meet their ISO 26262 functional safety requirements.
Recently, our System IP and its resilience features have also seen increasing adoption for space exploration related applications.

■ We have developed a “Connected by Arteris” ecosystem to provide a broad set of System IP solutions.  Interconnect IP is the data
transport backbone of the SoC, connecting IP blocks such as CPUs, GPUs and memory controllers. We work with suppliers who provide these
blocks, including IP companies such as Arm, SiFive, MIPS, Synopsys, Cadence Design Systems, Semidynamics, Andes, Codasip and
other RISC-V IP vendors to support their products and protocols working with our SIA and interconnect IP products. By offering an unbiased,
standards-based interconnect infrastructure to which other IP vendors can connect, and supporting a broad range of transaction protocols, we
believe we have simplified the industry’s development of heterogeneous SoCs while solidifying our role as a neutral, technology-agnostic
provider across the semiconductor industry. In addition to on-chip integrations with partners, we work with EDA companies such as Synopsys,
Cadence and Siemens to provide prepackaged interfaces to their EDA tools such as simulators, modeling systems, and logic and physical
synthesis tools. By working closely with semiconductor IP and EDA leaders, some of whom compete with each other, we believe we have
established credibility as a trusted enabler to integration of their products within our joint customers’ chips and design flows.
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■ We believe we benefit from distinct competitive advantages.  We believe our interconnect IP technology benefits from barriers to entry due
to our many years of experience and the strength of our proprietary solutions, as well as the significant technical expertise and research costs
required to develop a competitive product. We were founded in 2003 when we believe we helped pioneer the industry’s NoC interconnect IP
and have maintained our competitive position with our global team of 145 hardware and software engineers as of December 31, 2023.
Developing interconnect IP requires an interdisciplinary engineering team with expertise and skill sets across a wide range of sciences and
domains as well as a deep understanding of semiconductor physical design, design methodologies, and networking architectures. Building
such teams and keeping them together over long periods of time presents a challenge for many companies and we believe it provides a
competitive advantage to us. Additionally, strategic patience and focus are required to participate in the market. For example, we believe that
the customer acquisition process has a typical duration of two to nine months; following this, a customer’s chip design cycle is typically between
one to three years. Customers typically start shipping their products containing our interconnect IP solutions between one to five years following
completion of their product design, known as mass production at which point we start to receive royalties; this lasts for up to seven years or
longer depending on the market segment. We also leverage our long history of interconnect IP design to deliver customer-specific features,
further deepening our relationship and integration with the customer’s product. We are able to market such features to the rest of our customer
base, sharing the benefits of our research and development with them. With our System IP products embedded in our customers’ SoCs, there
are significant switching costs in moving to alternative solutions. We believe that our product quality and technical strength have enabled our
high customer retention rate.

■ We offer global support for our System IP customers.  Interconnect IP technology is complex, and our customer support is critical for the
successful deployment of our IP in our customers’ designs. We support customers utilizing our interconnect IP solutions on a global basis with
architectural reviews, training, implementation support, and tape-out support. We work directly with our customers throughout their design
processes to develop long-term sustainable relationships as our technology becomes embedded in their products. We have 38 corporate and
field application engineers in our global support organization. Many of our application engineers have advanced degrees, years of SoC design
experience and passion for helping our customers drive their SoC designs to production status. We believe our application engineers are
critical advisors to our customers’ design teams and offer competitive value to our customer’s SoC creation projects.

Our Growth Strategy

We believe that as SoCs become more numerous and complex, the value of System IP technology increases since it enables the efficient movement of
data within the ever-growing number SoCs. We also believe that, as SoCs become more complex, interconnect IP technology becomes more time-
consuming and riskier to develop internally within semiconductor and system companies, favoring System IP solutions provided by outside parties such
as Arteris. As a dedicated interconnect IP provider, we enable our customers to leverage the knowledge and deep expertise developed by us through
many years of focus on solutions for a variety of customers.

Our growth strategy includes the following:

■ Leverage our System IP technology leadership and focused research and development to provide solutions for the semiconductor
industry that designs and builds complex SoCs. We devote the majority of our operating expenses to research and development of
interconnect IP and SIA-related solutions and technologies to retain our System IP market position. We believe that the semiconductor industry
needs an independent interconnect IP infrastructure that various IP block companies can connect to without competitive bias. We intend to
remain neutral regarding the connection and integration of SoC IP blocks whether they are sourced from IP block vendors or are internally
developed. We intend to continue to compete vigorously in the interconnect IP segment and to support and minimize the risks of competing
with, our valued partners and customers developing non-interconnect IPs. We intend to remain focused on providing interconnect IP and
software technologies for the semiconductor industry and system companies that build SoCs.
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■ Address high-growth segments such as automotive, enterprise computing, consumer electronics, communications across wired and
wireless, and industrial segments. We are focused on fast-growing semiconductor market segments. We have been focused on the
automotive market segment since 2012 and have over 130 design wins in this sector. We intend to continue providing regular introductions of
interconnect IP products to enable the semiconductors that are connecting cars, roads, and the cloud resulting in the “Internet of Cars.” We are
also focused on the emerging edge and wireless communications markets, which are particularly sensitive to power consumption and idle
power, and we believe these market segments can continue to benefit greatly from our low-power interconnect IP solutions. In addition, we are
targeting emerging AI/ML-enabled applications that leverage massively multi-core architectures. As of December 31, 2023, we had 123
customers who have built or are building advanced AI/ML-enabled applications, which accounted for 205 of our customers’ Design Starts. We
intend to maintain our focus on automotive, enterprise computing, and consumer electronics, as well on technologies such as Safety, AI/ML
and others, while expanding further within communications and industrial markets.

■ Expand our customer base through ongoing System IP innovation. SoC evolution has continued at a rapid pace and with it the demand
for System IP solutions. New technologies and trends driving the need for System IP development include innovations such as cache
coherency outside of the processor subsystem, machine learning SoCs utilizing peer-to-peer data traffic, greater use of separate sets of dies,
or chiplets, inside SoCs, and the increasing emphasis on silicon functionality and safety. We believe that the complexity of these trends
necessitates ever-increasing sophisticated System IP solutions and represents a great opportunity for Arteris as a leading commercial company
focused exclusively on these solutions. Our goal is to deliver interconnect IP technology and deployment solutions ahead of when the SoC
industry requires them. We aim to deliver at least one new interconnect IP or SIA product every year, addressing new SoC technology needs.
We intend to expand the functionality of interconnect by adding NoC interface IP products that leverage SoC data moving through our
interconnect IP products. Such NoC interface IP products may include a variety of types of inter-chip links for seamless connectivity, which
make up larger system-in-package type SoCs and memory schedulers. These offer end-to-end quality of service (QoS) and error correction
code (ECC) as well as a variety of new last-level cache memory products giving our customers the choice to either keep data on-chip or move it
to off-chip dynamic random-access memory (DRAM). We believe such roadmap products can expand our market and offer an opportunity for
us to further expand the value of our System IP products. In addition, we plan to continue to work with customers to deliver product
enhancement releases for existing products. These requirements are identified in part by our global sales and application engineering
organization that is engaged in helping customers utilize our products and solutions.

■ Expand our customer base through increased investment in sales and marketing.  We plan to continue to expand our global sales and
application engineering organization, which has a strong presence in North America, Europe, the Middle East, China, South Korea, Japan, and
India. We hire local talent who are attuned to the key regional needs of local markets, customers and languages. While most of our customer
engagements are handled directly by our regional sales and application engineering forces, we utilize distributors in Israel and India for
interconnect IP, although this represented less than 5% of our worldwide revenue in each 2023 and 2022. O ur marketing is focused on helping
customers understand the value of our solutions and creating awareness of the latest developments in our markets. We believe a key measure
of our success is the number of successful SoCs produced by our customers utilizing our technology. To date, there have been over 380
production SoCs designed with our technology. We estimate that our solutions have been incorporated into three and a half billion production
SoCs since inception.
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■ Continue to pursue selective acquisitions and other strategic transactions, such as joint ventures, to acquire complementary
solutions and accelerate growth. We intend to continue to target acquisitions to achieve our objective of making our System IP solutions
critical to the next generation of SoC design and development. For example, we acquired the assets of Magillem in 2020 and Semifore in 2022
to deliver synergy between the network-on-chip IP and tooling for IP packaging, SoC assembly, and hardware-software integration for software
development teams. With these acquisitions, we added complementary technology to our portfolio that helps automate customer configuration,
integration, and assembly of the interconnect into an SoC. In addition, these SIA tools allow us to gain a deep understanding of the entire “bill of
materials” of the IP blocks integrated into an SoC, as the interconnect IP is the on-chip means to connect these blocks. We believe our planned
continued integration of these technologies can provide substantially increased efficiency in the effective development of SoCs. In addition, we
anticipate this integration can lead to added benefits such as automated documentation, traceability for quality processes and functional safety,
and software driver optimization to reduce defects, providing significant customer value. For example, we invested in Transchip, a joint venture
in China in the second quarter of 2022. In exchange for providing Transchip with a non-exclusive license (without standalone resale rights) to
utilize substantially all of our interconnect IP products and SIA solutions, we retained a minority, non-controlling interest in Transchip. The other
investors in this joint venture are principally Chinese-based venture capital entities and include one of our investors that holds less than 5% of
our outstanding common stock and contributed cash.

NoC Interface IP Growth Opportunity

NoC IP carries the majority of the data in an SoC. As a result, there is an opportunity to add additional customer value by developing additional data plane
and control plane capabilities that attach directly to our interconnect IPs and are implemented in SoCs by our IP software. Currently, we offer NoC
interface IP products such as a memory scheduler, last-level cache, SoC data visibility and SoC debug IPs. We see an opportunity to further expand our
product portfolio and market with additional control networks and subsystems that can accelerate our customers’ ability to deliver production SoCs to their
end markets. Such networks may include clocking, register management and interrupt networks. Control subsystems such as power management,
security, performance monitoring and debug may provide additional value to customers looking to lower the cost and risk of SoC development. With the
integration of interconnect IP and NoC interface IPs, we believe we would be able to provide end-to-end solutions for quality of service, system level
security and SoC resilience. NoC interface IP represents a natural expansion of our technical and business capabilities.

Our Solutions

We provide semiconductor interconnect IP and SIA solutions to serve our target end-markets, including automotive, enterprise computing, consumer
electronics, communications across wired and wireless, and industrial segments. We regularly release new products to address the rapid evolution of SoC
technology, across our two core product platforms:

a. Network-on-Chip IP Products
i. Non-coherent NoC IP, with FlexNoC and FlexWay
ii. Cache-coherent NoC IP, with Ncore
iii. Last-level cache, with CodaCache

b. SIA Solutions Products
i. IP and SoC software, with Magillem and CSRCompiler

In addition to historical annual introductions of new System IP solutions, we regularly develop and deliver updates that provide product enhancements to
our customers. We believe the combination of our solutions and the strategic neutrality that we offer to the semiconductor industry positions us well as a
reliable, trusted and innovative System IP solution for our customers.
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Network-on-Chip IP Products  

We believe we offer the semiconductor industry an industry-leading commercially available interconnect IP portfolio.

Our commercially available interconnect IP products are shipping in billions of devices worldwide. Innovative use of proprietary networking techniques for
on-chip communications has enabled our industry-proven solutions to deliver higher SoC performance with shorter design schedules, lower research,
and development costs, lower SoC unit costs, and reduced project risk when compared to customer-developed internal solutions. Select offerings of our
semiconductor IP product portfolio include:

■ FlexNoC and FlexWay: Silicon-proven, interconnect IP products that have been integrated into hundreds of chip designs. The underlying NoC
technology converts on-chip communication signals between IP blocks, such as reads from and writes to memory, into digital packets.
Packetizing on-chip communications allow the interconnect to be configured for enhanced performance and simplifies the connections of on-
chip IP blocks, similar to how the internet eases the simultaneous connectivity of large numbers of computing devices. FlexWay is targeted at
simpler SoC while FlexNoC targets the mainstream application. We also provide optional add-on packages for FlexNoC and FlexWay, such as
the resilience package, which provide on-chip data protection that enables customers to meet the ISO 26262 and IEC functional safety
standards for markets like automotive, and a large design performance package that addresses highly scalable peer-to-peer on-chip
communications required by large SoCs such as those which include machine learning neural networks. FlexNoC and FlexWay started
shipping in 2011 and we estimate that our solutions have been incorporated into three and a half billion production SoCs since inception.

■ Ncore: Silicon-proven, cache coherent interconnect IP product that provides scalable, configurable, and area-efficient features for use across
multiple end markets. In an SoC, cache coherency is a special data traffic class that requires a corresponding coherent interconnect IP to
manage it. In a multiprocessor system using shared memory, each processor has a local cache memory for efficiency, however, it is possible to
end up with many copies of shared data in the system. One copy of the data may be in the main memory, whilst other copies may exist in one
or more of the processor cache memories. When one of the copies of data is changed, the rest must also reflect that change. Ncore assists the
timely propagation of data changes across the SoC in order to maintain cache coherency. Ncore is also more scalable and area-efficient than
mesh-based interconnects and is optimized for heterogeneous cache coherent systems and offers multiple configurable snoop filters, multiple
configurable proxy caches, and a modular, distributed architecture to provide system architects with the most advanced technology and more
degrees of freedom to innovate. Since the initial shipment in 2016, we have launched multiple releases of Ncore which have been designed into
various production SoCs for automotive, consumer electronics, industrial, and communications applications. In 2022 we also entered into an
Arm automotive agreement, with Arm as the processor IP provider and Arteris as interconnect IP provider for automotive microcontrollers
(MCU) and SoCs to service growing customer needs. In 2023 Ncore achieved ISO 26262 certification up to ASIL-D, the most stringent level of
functional automotive safety.

■ CodaCache: CodaCache is a silicon-proven, last-level cache (or local memory) semiconductor IP product, used anywhere in the network-on-
chip, for minimization of SoC data latency or improvement of performance. Frequent DRAM accesses waste clock cycles and causes
performance to drop. CodaCache keeps data closer to the access point and lowers costs in certain SoC architectures. Design teams and
architects can easily configure CodaCache based on area, timing, and other requirements. CodaCache provides the most flexibility of any
commercial on-chip last-level cache IP, from setting associativity up to 16 ways, to configuring cache sizes and multiple target ports.

SIA Solutions

We provide a suite of SIA solutions that enables the packaging, reuse and integration of most types of IP blocks using the IP-XACT (IEEE 1685)
standard. This SIA suite of products from Magillem and Semifore acquisition s provides a design environment to any semiconductor and system company
from the architecture of the SoC through the delivery of a fully documented and traceable chip design. This software suite manages the assembly of
multiple IP blocks into SoC devices, registers configurations of IP blocks, and links design parameters and metadata to documentation. Our SIA solutions
are designed to shorten our customers’ design schedules and improve SoC engineers’ productivity across architects, logic designers, software/firmware
developers, verification teams, and documentation teams. Arteris products  provide a broad suite of software front-end design capabilities that can
accelerate SoC development by providing highly configurable and scalable solutions. Our solutions address packaging, connectivity, register
configuration, embedded software, and design software flows and we believe we provide best-in-class front-end design environments based on worldwide
IEEE 1685 IP-XACT extensible markup language (XML) standard and SystemRDL language through our ready-made design solutions.
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We believe the combination of SIA solutions and SoC interconnect hardware provides our customers with more comprehensive SoC integration
capabilities. Our SIA technology suite across Magillem and CSRCompiler products cover the following key capabilities for SoC integration automation and
overall SoC development acceleration:

■ Magillem Connectivity: The Magillem connectivity product shortens and streamlines the system-on-chip (SoC) integration process. Magillem
Connectivity allows users to build very complex, correct-by-construction SoC designs. IPs are packaged by the tool using the widely supported
IP-XACT standard and can be configured and instantiated to create an SoC design in a single environment whilst ensuring design-data
consistency. Magillem Connectivity uses built-in checkers to help automate time-consuming tasks, resulting in efficient and safe design updates
or even restructuring of large sections of the design.

■ Magillem Registers and CSRCompiler:  The combination of Magillem and CSRCompiler products addresses hardware-software integration
challenges for SoCs, where complex software algorithms control a growing array of specialized processors and hardware accelerators to
deliver a robust semiconductor. The hardware/software interface (HSI) provides the technology for software to control this SoC hardware and it
forms the foundation of the entire SoC design project. The Magillem Register product and CSRCompiler products automate the creation of this
SoC foundation.

As mentioned above, critical tools in our SIA product portfolio have been “Tool Confidence Level” (TCL)-certified by the TUV Sud to confirm that they are
safe to use in automotive and mission-critical markets like aerospace & space as part of the industrial vertical.

Customers

We license our products to a global and diverse customer base, including semiconductor manufacturers, OEMs, hyperscale system houses,
semiconductor design houses and other producers of electronic systems. We work directly with our customers throughout their design processes and
seek to develop long-term, sustainable relationships with them as our technology becomes embedded in their products. As a result, we believe we are
well positioned to continue to attract and retain customers, and to continue developing next-generation System IP solutions for their future products. We
added 23 net new Active Customers during the year ended December 31, 2023.

In 2023, we had one customer that represented more than 10% of our revenue. Our key customers include Intel, Samsung, NXP, STMicroelectronics, and
Socionext.

During the fiscal year 2023 , our net new Active Customers were geographically distributed as follows:

■ 8 net new Active Customers based in the Americas;

■ 2 net new Active Customers based in Europe and the Middle East; and

■ 13 net new Active Customers based in the Asia Pacific region.

During the fiscal year 2023, our revenue by geographic area based on customer location was as follows:

■ 35.9% of our revenue was derived from customers based in the Americas;

■ 12.0% of our revenue was derived from customers based in Europe and the Middle East; and

■ 52.1% of our revenue was derived from customers based in the Asia Pacific region.

Sales and Marketing

We work closely with our customers throughout the SoC design lifecycle to help them use our System IP solutions to meet their specific needs. It is
important to our success that we engage our customers early and collaborate throughout the design cycle. Our support organization is able to
communicate the best practices in SoC design practices and receive early insight into customer requirements. This insight often results in new and
innovative product features.

System IP sales cycles range from two to nine months or longer. For repeat customers, our sales cycle length is generally shorter.
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As of December 31, 2023, we maintained sales offices, sales personnel, or sales representatives in the United States, China, France, South Korea,
Japan, and Israel. As of December 31, 2023, our sales management had an average of 25 years of sales experience. As of December 31, 2023, we had
38 corporate and field application engineers. Corporate and field application engineers work closely with our customers in both presales and support
roles, providing expert advice to our SoC architect and engineering users on how best to use our IP and software to design and implement their SoCs. As
a result of these close relationships and detailed information sharing, our application engineers gather early knowledge of future expected customer needs
including potential new sales opportunities within the customer and requirements for new capabilities for our products. Therefore, we believe our close
relationships and technical credibility with our customers provide a competitive advantage.

Our marketing strategy emphasizes thought leadership and educates potential customers about how our products can address their System IP
challenges. We use technical papers, and in-person and online events, to highlight our capabilities.

Research and Development

We devote the most of our operating expenses to research and development of interconnect IP and SIA solutions. The development of interconnect IPs
for complex SoCs is a challenging task that requires multiple competencies and close contact with customers in order to deliver sophisticated solutions.
The development and maintenance of these solutions require:

■ Management of an interdisciplinary engineering team with expertise and skill set across a wide range of sciences and domains such as
architecture, design, design verification, EDA-class software development, and SystemC modeling, as well as deep understanding of physical
design, design methodologies and networking architectures;

■ Advanced SoC architectures for handling data coherency and consistency that result in a high-performance implementation with low power;

■ Complex design flows and methodologies, as well as specialized languages for generating configurable interconnect IP. The designs require
configuration using thousands of parameters that must be meticulously managed with millions of combinations;

■ Capability to understand the physical implementation and floorplan of the target SoC in order to generate a design that meets physical
implementation requirements in terms of timing, area and power;

■ Sophisticated design verification methodologies to ensure the quality of configurable interconnect IP across millions of possible combinations,
as well as complex test benches for simulation and emulation;

■ In-depth knowledge of common interface protocols, graph theory, data models and graphical user interfaces;

■ In-depth knowledge of safety standards including ISO 26262 ASIL B/D for automotive, IEEE 1685 IP-XACT IP standard for IP and SoC
packaging, IEEE 1800 UVM verification standard; and

■ Support a broad ecosystem of processors suppliers, other IP vendors, SoC design tool software providers, semiconductor foundries, and
others.

SoC integration automation development is similarly challenging as it requires broad support of the IP packaging standard, IEEE 1685 IP-XACT, and the
ability to deliver features and enhancements required as customers deploy ever-changing IP block libraries for their SoC projects, address hardware-
software integrations. Our SIA solutions have to conform not only to industry standards, but also to ever-evolving SoC integration methodologies.

Once interconnect IP is designed into customer SoC projects, there are significant switching costs to adopting different interconnect IP and SIA solutions,
especially in the automotive sector where switching interconnect IP solutions may involve product functional safety re-certification.

Our research and development strategy includes offering customers several product enhancement releases per year, complemented with a planned
introduction of at least one new interconnect IP or SIA product every year.

We believe we have assembled one of the premier engineering teams for interconnect IP development and SIA in the world. As of December 31, 2023,
we had 89 engineers devoted to interconnect IP development and 56 engineers devoted to SIA solutions totaling 145 employees. In 2023, we spent $45.1
million on research and development, which represented 84% of our revenue.
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Competition

For interconnect IP, we primarily compete with interconnect solutions developed internally by our SoC customers and potential customers. Many of the
largest semiconductor companies have their own interconnect IP development teams which make customer penetration relatively difficult, time-
consuming, and expensive. However, we believe that over time the expense and difficulty of developing a broad suite of interconnect IP and SoC
integration automation has the potential to expand the use of commercial SoC integration solutions. In addition, we also compete with third-party
providers, including Arm and several smaller companies. While we do compete with Arm in the interconnect IP market, we believe our solutions are
complementary to Arm’s processor portfolio and protocol deployment and are actively collaborating on joint automotive solutions. We often execute the
integration of Arm processors in heterogeneous environments, which can accelerate the deployment of Arm processors. While smaller companies are
developing interconnect solutions, we believe that our extensive investment in research and development over many years creates a barrier to entry.
Developing interconnect IP solutions that are robust, configurable, and capable of handling multiple functionalities requires deep technology expertise and
large research and development investments. We compete based on die area reduction, lower idle power consumption, improved data movement
performance such as frequency, latency, and bandwidth, as well as faster time to market. We believe we compete favorably with respect to these factors.

Based on management’s experience, we believe that in order to develop a new interconnect IP product, it would take a new entrant in the interconnect IP
market three to four years to develop a mature product, two to four years of market development and five to seven years to build a royalty generating
customer base.

Our SIA solutions similarly compete mainly against internally developed solutions. Commercial competitors consist of smaller companies that generally
provide point products rather than complete solutions.

Intellectual Property and Proprietary Rights

We rely on a combination of intellectual property rights, including patents, trade secrets, copyrights and trademarks, and contractual protections, to protect
our core technology and intellectual property. As of December 31, 2023, we had 154 total allowed or issued patents, pending patent applications and non-
expired provisional patent applications worldwide. Of these, we had 73 allowed or issued patents, 64 are U.S. allowed or issued patents, five are allowed
or issued China patents, two are South Korea issued patents, one is a U.K. issued patent, and one is a Japan issued patent. The 73 allowed or issued
patents generally expire between July 2035 and December 2041. As of December 31, 2023, we had 81 pending non-provisional and provisional patent
application filings, 36 in the United States, 21 in Europe, 16 in China, five in South Korea and three in Japan. In addition, we have a trademark program
covering, where feasible and in accordance with local laws, our products as well as our corporate names and logos.

Our progress in developing our technology and products, and our ability to compete worldwide, is a direct result of our commitment to develop and
maintain leadership of our proprietary products and to develop and file to protect our intellectual property. We rely on a combination of patent, trademark,
trade secret, and copyright laws, as well as contractual and licensing restrictions to protect the proprietary aspects of our technology. We also take steps
to protect against misuse of our licensed products, for example with license keys that limit the time allowed for our licensee customers to use
configuration tools to generate hardware description source code that is used in their semiconductor hardware products.

We routinely use non-disclosure agreements, limited evaluation agreements, and substantive license agreements with procedures to assist customer
usage while limiting wrongful disclosure or misuse of our intellectual property. In addition, we are committed to developing products not only in the U.S.
but in France and other countries, where the country of origin may favorably impact the ability to license our IP solutions and technology in accordance
with applicable export laws and regulations. Technological change and customer needs for emerging feature needs in our solutions inspire and motivate
our personnel to update and enhance our offerings periodically.

We focus on patent protection beyond the United States in countries and jurisdictions where we determine that such filings will assist the strategic reach
and value of our patent portfolio. Patents and other legal IP protections arise when we have conceived or developed novel and valuable new or improved
technology relating to our IP solutions, that may affect our customer and our own licensing business outside the U.S. Certain countries in which our IP
solutions are or may be developed, manufactured or sold may not have or enforce laws that protect our technology and intellectual property rights to the
same extent as under U.S. law.
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Material Agreements

Qualcomm Agreements

In connection with an Asset Purchase Agreement by and among Qualcomm Technologies, Inc. and Qualcomm France SARL (collectively, Qualcomm)
and us and certain of our subsidiaries dated as of October 9, 2013, pursuant to which we sold to Qualcomm certain assets and intellectual property related
to our FlexNoC product (the Purchase Agreement), we and our affiliates retained a non-exclusive, worldwide, perpetual right under patents acquired
under the Purchase Agreement to, among other things, manufacture, license and distribute certain FlexNoC products and certain modifications thereto
(the Retained Rights). In addition, we and Qualcomm Technologies, Inc. entered into a License Agreement dated October 11, 2013 (the License
Agreement) pursuant to which we and our affiliates obtained a license to, among other things, reproduce, use, license, and distribute certain FlexNoC-
related works of authorship and technology that were acquired or owned by Qualcomm in connection with the Purchase Agreement for the purpose of
enabling us to continue to offer and support FlexNoC products and certain modifications thereto (the Licensed Rights). There is no charge under the
Purchase Agreement for our use of the Retained Rights or the Licensed Rights. Our rights in the Retained Rights continue until the last to expire of the
relevant patents, and the License Agreement continues in perpetuity, in each case unless terminated as described below.

Qualcomm may terminate the Retained Rights in the event (i) we or our subsidiaries that are party to the Purchase Agreement breach any material terms
of the Purchase Agreement applicable to the Retained Rights or any material terms of the License Agreement and fail to cure any such breach within 90
days after notice of such breach from Qualcomm, or (ii) we or any of our affiliates initiate a claim of patent infringement against Qualcomm or its affiliates
(excluding such claims that are counterclaims in proceedings initiated by Qualcomm or its affiliates) and does not withdraw such claim within 30 days after
Qualcomm’s written request to do so. Qualcomm may terminate the License Agreement in the event we breach any material terms of the License
Agreement or any material terms of the Purchase Agreement applicable to the Retained Rights and fail to cure such breach within 90 days after notice of
such breach from Qualcomm. Qualcomm may also terminate rights granted under the License Agreement to a certain development environment used in
connection with our FlexNoC product (which could effectively preclude us from continuing to enhance our FlexNoC product and adversely affect our
FlexNoC business) in the event of a change of control of our company (as defined in the License Agreement) which would effectively include, in a
transaction or series of related transactions, a sale of our company, or the sales of securities by us or our stockholders that would result in the
stockholders and option holders of our company as of the date of the License Agreement not retaining beneficial ownership of more than 50% of our
company. We believe that, as we have and continue to deliver new products since the date of the License Agreement, such as our range of SIA solutions,
Ncore cache coherent interconnect, CodaCache last-level cache, and CSRCompiler physical awareness capabilities, the importance to our business and
product portfolio of the FlexNoC development environment will decrease over time.

We may not assign the License Agreement without Qualcomm’s written consent (and a change of control of our company shall be considered an
assignment for the purposes of such prohibition) except that we may assign the License Agreement to an acquirer of our business that consists of
licensing certain FlexNoC products, and we may only assign the Retained Rights to an entity to whom we have assigned the License Agreement.

Governmental Regulation

We are subject to regulation by various governmental agencies in the United States and other jurisdictions in which we operate. These laws and
regulations (and the government entities, regulators, and agencies responsible for their enforcement) in the United States cover among other things: radio
frequency emission regulatory activities (Federal Communications Commission); anti-trust regulatory activities (Federal Trade Commission and
Department of Justice); insider trading, anti-bribery, and anti-corruption (Department of Justice), consumer protection (Federal Trade Commission);
import/export regulatory activities (Department of Commerce and Department of Treasury); product safety regulatory activities (Consumer Products Safety
Commission); worker safety (Occupational Safety and Health Administration); environmental protection (Environmental Protection Agency and similar
state and local agencies); employment matters (Equal Employment Opportunity Commission); and federal and state tax and other regulations by a variety
of regulatory authorities in each of the areas in which we conduct business. Our operations are also subject to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of
1977, as amended (the FCPA), the U.S. domestic bribery statute contained in 18 U.S.C. § 201, the U.S. Travel Act, the USA PATRIOT Act, as well as the
anti-corruption, anti-bribery, and anti-money laundering laws in the U.S. and other countries where we conduct business.
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In addition, certain of our products, including our IP interconnect and other solutions and technology, are subject to U.S. export controls, including the
U.S. Department of Commerce’s Export Administration Regulations (EAR) and economic and trade sanctions regulations administered by the U.S.
Treasury Department’s Office of Foreign Assets Controls (OFAC). Other products are subject to French export controls. These regulations may limit the
export of our products and technology, and the provision of our services outside of the United States and/or France, or may require export authorizations,
including by license, a license exception, or other appropriate government authorizations and conditions, including annual or semi-annual reporting.
Export control and economic sanctions laws may also include prohibitions on the sale or supply of certain of our products to embargoed or sanctioned
countries, regions, governments, persons, and entities. The export and re-export of our products and technology and the provision of services, including
by our partners, must comply with these laws, or else we may be adversely affected through reputational harm, government investigations, penalties, and
a denial or curtailment of our ability to export our products and technology. In July 2021, we submitted a voluntary self-disclosure (VSD) to the Bureau of
Industry and Security (BIS), noting potential violations of the EAR. On April 28, 2022, the Office of Export Enforcement of the U.S. Department of
Commerce's Bureau of Industry and Security closed the matter with the issuance of a warning letter. With respect to government authorizations, we have
no pending export license requests to BIS or any other government agency, and no export licenses are currently required to export our products from the
United States or other countries to countries where we do business.

Complying with export control and sanctions laws may be time-consuming and may result in the delay or loss of sales opportunities. Although we take
precautions to prevent our products and technology from being provided in violation of such laws, our products and technology have previously been, and
could in the future be, provided inadvertently in violation of such laws, despite the precautions we take. If we are found to be in violation of U.S. sanctions
or export control laws, it could result in substantial fines and penalties for us and the individuals working for us. Changes in export or import laws or
sanctions policies may adversely impact our operations, delay the introduction and sale of our products in international markets, or, in some cases,
prevent the export or import of our products and technology to certain countries, regions, governments, persons, or entities altogether, which could harm
our business.

From time to time, we have adopted and will continue to adopt remedial measures in response to government regulation. For example, we have adopted
several remedial measures prior to, in connection with and following the initial notification of voluntary self-disclosure we submitted to BIS. These
compliance enhancements were developed and implemented in consultation with outside counsel specializing in U.S. trade compliance. These steps
have included annual basic export compliance training within our company, updating our written export control policies and procedures, and adopting a
revised export compliance manual in 2021. We have provided export awareness training for relevant personnel including in 2023 and 2022. We
previously provided our sales employees worldwide with training in basic export compliance. We engaged third-party vendor software to assist us with an
ongoing screening of new and existing customers, third-party agents or representatives, suppliers, and other vendors against U.S., France and several
other jurisdictions’ prohibited or restricted party lists. We screen all customers against applicable lists of denied or restricted parties, including the Entity
List administered by BIS as well as the list of Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons, administered by the Treasury Department’s Office of
Foreign Assets Control.

For a discussion of the various risks we face from regulation and compliance matters, see “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Business and Industry—
We are subject to data protection, privacy and security laws, regulations, standards and other requirements across different markets where we conduct
our business. Our actual or perceived failure to comply with such obligations could harm our business,” “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Legal,
Regulatory, Accounting and Tax Matters—Our failure to comply with the large body of laws and regulations to which we are subject could materially harm
our business,” “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Legal, Regulatory, Accounting and Tax Matters—Our failure to comply with the Foreign Corrupt Practices
Act, other applicable anti-corruption and anti-bribery laws, and applicable anti-money laundering laws could subject us to penalties and other adverse
consequences,” “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Legal, Regulatory, Accounting and Tax Matters—We are subject to government regulation, including
import, export and economic sanctions laws and regulations that may expose us to liability and increase our costs,” “Risk Factors—Risks Related to
Legal, Regulatory, Accounting and Tax Matters—We will lose sales if we are unable to obtain government authorization to export certain of our products
and services, and we will be subject to legal and regulatory consequences if we do not comply with applicable export control laws and regulations or if
such laws and regulations were to change.”
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Human Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2023, we had 243 employees as follows:

Number

Function

Research and development 145

Sales and marketing 57

Administration 41

Geographic Distribution

United States 96

France 122

China 13

South Korea 5

Japan 5

Elsewhere 2

We consider relations with our employees to be good and have never experienced a work stoppage. None of our employees are either represented by a
labor union, although our employees in France are subject to a collective bargaining agreement.

Our human capital resources objectives include, as applicable, identifying, recruiting, retaining, incentivizing and integrating our existing and additional
employees. The principal purposes of our equity incentive plans are to attract, retain and motivate selected employees, consultants and directors through
the granting of stock-based compensation awards and cash-based performance bonus awards.

Corporation Information

We were incorporated in the State of Delaware in April 2004. Our principal executive offices are located at 900 E. Hamilton Ave. Suite 300 Campbell, CA
95008. Our telephone number is (408) 470-7300, and our website address is www.arteris.com. The information contained on, or that can be accessed
through, our website is not incorporated by reference in this report and does not form a part of this report. You should not consider the information
contained on our website to be part of this report in deciding whether to purchase shares of our common stock. Our common stock is traded on the
Nasdaq Stock Market under the symbol “AIP”.

Available Information

Our website address is www.arteris.com. Information found on, or accessible through, our website is not a part of, and is not incorporated into, this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. We file electronically with the SEC our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on
Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act. We make available on our website
at www.arteris.com, free of charge, copies of these reports and other information as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such
material with, or furnish it to, the SEC.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. Before making your decision to invest in shares of our common stock, you should carefully
consider and read carefully all of the risks described below, together with the other information contained in this report, including our financial statements
and the related notes and the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in this report. We
cannot assure you that any of the events discussed below will not occur. These events could have a material and adverse impact on our business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects. Unless otherwise indicated, references to our business being harmed in these risk factors will
include harm to our business, reputation, financial condition, results of operations, revenue and future prospects. In such event, the trading price of our
common stock could decline, and you could lose all or part of your investment. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or not believed
by us to be material may also negatively impact us.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

We face significant competition from larger companies and third-party providers that may deploy their resources so they can develop their IP
solutions internally.

We are engaged in a competitive segment of the global semiconductor industry. Our competitive landscape is characterized by competition from
companies that have greater resources than us. A variety of factors could adversely impact our ability to compete, including rapid technological change in
product design and manufacturing, customers that make purchase decisions based on a mix of factors of varying importance and continuous declines in
average selling prices (ASPs). We compete principally on the basis of technology, product quality and features, license, royalty and usage terms, post-
contract customer support, interoperability among products, and price and payment terms.

We operate in industries characterized by rapidly changing technologies as well as technological obsolescence. The appearance of new competitors,
introduction of new products by our competitors or our failure to timely develop new or enhanced products or technologies in response to changing market
demand, whether due to technological shifts or otherwise, could result in the loss of customers and decreased revenue and have an adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Often, we compete against larger companies that possess substantial financial, technical, research and development and engineering resources that can
be deployed so they can develop their IP solutions internally. In addition, we compete against other third-party providers of IP integration solutions, such
as Arm Limited, EXTOLL GmbH, Openedges Technologies Inc., Sdn. Bhd, Signature IP, SkyeChip, and TrueChip that similarly possess substantial
financial, technical, research and development and engineering resources. In certain cases, competitive companies may be supported by local or
international government funding and similar resources. Varying combinations of these resources provide advantages to these competitors that enable
them to influence industry trends and the pace at which they adapt to these trends. A strong competitive response from one or more of our competitors to
our marketplace efforts, or a shift in customer preferences to competitors’ products, could result in increased pressure to lower our prices more rapidly
than anticipated, increased sales and marketing expense, and/or market share loss. The consolidation of our competitors or collaboration among our
competitors to deliver more comprehensive offerings than they could individually, may also impact our ability to compete effectively. To the extent our
revenue is negatively impacted by competitive pressures and reduced pricing, our business could be harmed.

Our ability to compete in our market is subject to a variety of factors, many of which are beyond our control. The occurrence of any of the below could
adversely affect our ability to compete and harm our business:

■ Our ability to anticipate and lead critical product development cycles and technological shifts as driven by our target markets, to innovate rapidly
and efficiently and to improve our existing solutions.

■ Whether any competitor substantially increases its engineering and marketing resources to compete with us in the semiconductor IP
interconnect and SIA software technology arena.

■ Whether a new entrant with substantially greater resources and/or supported by governmental resources decides to enter the markets in which
we compete.

■ Whether any existing or new competitor bundles its technologies into one package at a discounted price that would make it uneconomical for
our customers to license our products separately.

■ The challenges of developing, or acquiring externally developed, technology solutions that are adequate and competitive in meeting the rapidly
evolving requirements of next-generation design challenges.

■ Our ability to compete on the basis of payment, pricing, features and/or terms.
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■ Decisions by semiconductor companies, system companies, device or other end product producers, and/or OEMs to develop IP development
internally, rather than license IP from outside vendors due to budget constraints or excess engineering capacity.

■ Actions by regulators or governmental entities to impose license requirements, limit product availability, limit trade and exportability of our
products, the features or contractual terms that either we or our customers can apply to product and service offerings, or to affect monetary
policy.

■ Actions by regulators or governmental entities to modify or augment tax treatment of our product and service offerings.

■ The impact of global and regional inflation on ours and our customers’ profitability and expansion plans due to among other effects of inflation,
increases in wages, availability of capital, salaries, operating expenses, and costs of insurance, benefits and medical coverage.

■ The potential effects of geopolitical conflicts, such as the military conflict between Russia and Ukraine and the conflict in Israel, including
retaliatory, military and regulatory actions, on our customers’ engineering resources, design schedules, purchasing, development, sales and
innovation responses and trends in response to such conflicts.

■ Competition, embargoes, sanctions, boycotts and/or social unrest.

■ Local or international economic headwind trends that may lead to recessions, economic slowdowns or sudden changes in economic needs of
regions and consumers.

■ Silicon chip supply chain and shipment volume restrictions on our customers and their end customers that will impact the amount of royalties
payable to us.

We may be unable to reduce the cost of our products sufficiently to compete effectively against our competitors. Our cost reduction efforts may not allow
us to keep pace with competitive pricing pressures and/or other economic factors including inflation and customer and end market supply chain
constraints which could adversely affect our gross margins and ability to meet customer demand. To the extent we are unable to reduce the prices of our
products and remain competitive, our revenue will likely decline, resulting in further pressure on our gross margins, which could harm our business. Many
other companies in the IP interconnect space have not been able to continue as a going concern due to intense competition and low margins. See
“Business—Competition”.

We have a history of net losses, and we may not achieve or maintain profitability in the future.

We have incurred net losses in certain periods historically. We incurred a net loss of $36.9 million and $27.4 million in 2023 and 2022, respectively. As of
December 31, 2023, we had an accumulated deficit of $103.2 million. We have spent significant funds on organizational and start-up activities, to recruit
engineers and other employees and to support our research and development. The net losses we incur may fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter
and may increase as a result of geopolitical and market fluctuations, inflation, economic slowdown and/or recessionary pressures, COVID-19 or any future
pandemic and other global economic factors.

Our long-term success is dependent upon our ability to successfully market our interconnect IP and SIA solutions, develop new interconnect IP and SIA
solutions, earn revenue, obtain additional capital when needed and, ultimately, to maintain profitable operations. We will need to generate significant
additional revenue to achieve profitability. It is possible that we will not achieve profitability or that, even if we do achieve profitability, we may not maintain
or increase profitability in the future. Our failure to achieve or maintain profitability could negatively impact the value of our common stock.
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Because our IP solutions are components of end products, if semiconductor, system producers and/or end product producer companies in the
automotive market, enterprise computing market, communications market, consumer electronics market, and industrial market do not
incorporate our solutions into their end products or if the end products of our customers do not achieve market acceptance, we may not be
able to generate adequate license sales and royalty income from our products.

Our IP solutions include technology that manages on-chip communications in SoC semiconductor devices. We do not license our IP solutions and
deployment tools directly to end-users; we license our technology primarily to companies in the automotive market, enterprise computing market,
communications market, consumer electronics market, and industrial market, who then incorporate our technology into the products they sell. As a result,
we rely on our customers to incorporate our technology into their end products at the design stage. Once a company incorporates a competitor’s
technology or develops the technology internally and incorporates it into its end product, it becomes significantly more difficult for us to sell our technology
to that company because changing suppliers involves significant cost, time, effort and risk for the company. As a result, we may not achieve targeted
customer acceptance despite incurring significant expenditures to develop new technology.

Moreover, even after customers agree to incorporate our technology into their end products, the design cycle is long and may be delayed due to factors
beyond our control, which may result in our customers’ product not reaching the market until long after our initial design win, which we define as winning
the competitive bid selection process. From initial product design-in to volume production, many factors could impact the timing and/or amount of sales
actually realized from the design-in. These factors include, but are not limited to, changes in the competitive position of our customers’ product, our
customers’ financial stability, and our customers’ ability to ship products under our customers’ original schedule. Moreover, several external factors affect
our customers’ ability and willingness to start their own new product designs and to manufacture and ship their products, including target product market
conditions, our customers’ financial stability, our customers’ competitive positioning and external economic conditions (such as, but not, limited to inflation,
recessions, customer and end market supply chain constraints, geopolitical conflict, sanctions, and competition) that may prolong the customers’
decision-making process and design cycle.

Further, we do not control the business practices of our customers and we do not influence the degree to which they promote, market or set their product
pricing. We therefore cannot assure you that our customers will devote satisfactory efforts to promote their end products, which incorporate our IP
technology and deployment solutions.

We depend on growth and economic stability in the end markets that use our products. Any slowdown in the growth and economic stability of
these end markets could harm our business.

Our continued success will depend in large part on general economic growth and stability, and growth and stability within our target markets in the
automotive market, enterprise computing market, communications market, consumer electronics market, and industrial market. Factors affecting these
markets could seriously harm our customers and/or end customers and, as a result, harm us, examples of which include:

■ Reduced sales of our customers’ and/or end customers’ products.

■ The effects of catastrophic and other disruptive events at our customers’ and/or end customers’ offices or facilities including, but not limited to,
natural disasters, telecommunications failures, cyber-attacks, terrorist attacks, regional conflicts, pandemics, epidemics or other outbreaks of
infectious disease, including the recent COVID-19 pandemic, breaches of security or loss of critical data.

■ Increased costs associated with potential disruptions to our customers’ and/or end markets’ supply chain and other manufacturing and
production operations.

■ The deterioration of our customers’ and/or end customers’ financial condition.

■ Delays and project cancellations as a result of design flaws in the products developed by our customers and/or end customers.

■ The inability of our customers and/or end customers to expand or dedicate the resources necessary to promote and commercialize their
products.

■ The inability of our customers and/or end customers to adapt to changing technological demands resulting in their products becoming obsolete.

■ The failure of our customers’ and/or end customers’ products to achieve market success and gain broad market acceptance.

25



Table of Contents

■ Disruption and uncertainty caused by new developments in export and related regulations.

■ Regional and global effect of inflation or other adverse economic conditions, such as rising interest rates, recessions or economic slowdowns,
resulting in delays or cancellations of new product design starts.

■ Adverse impact of multiple interest rate increases implemented and forecasted by the U.S. Federal Reserve.

Any slowdown in the growth of these end markets, or the emergence of economic instability in these end markets, could harm our business. For example,
a significant element of our growth strategy depends on the increasing adoption of vehicles with more sophisticated automated driving, which will likely
require more complex SoCs. If anticipated demand in the end market for these vehicles does not materialize, whether due to consumer demand not
materializing, regulatory interventions delaying the deployment of automated driving, or the emergence of economic instability in end markets arising from
factors such as inflationary trends, deteriorating purchasing power, trade or supply chain disruptions and regional and/or worldwide chip shortages or
excess supply, demand fluctuations, unemployment spikes, labor shortages or end market reactions to regional or global geopolitical uncertainties or
conflicts, or other factors beyond our control, it would adversely affect demand for our products from customers and royalty revenue and impact our ability
to execute our growth strategy.

We depend on market acceptance of third-party semiconductor IP.

The semiconductor IP industry is a relatively small and emerging industry. Our future growth will depend on the level of market acceptance of our third-
party licensable IP model, the variety of IP offerings available on the market and the shift in customer preference away from in-house development of
semiconductor IP technologies and SIA. Furthermore, the third-party licensable IP model is highly dependent on the market adoption of new services and
products, including in the automotive market, enterprise computing market, communications market, consumer electronics market, and industrial market.
Such market adoption is important because the increased cost associated with ownership and maintenance of the more complex architectures in SoCs
needed for the advanced services and products and time to market pressures on our customers may motivate companies to license third-party IP rather
than design them in-house.

The trends that would enable our growth are largely beyond our control. Semiconductor customers also may choose to adopt a multi-chip, off-the-
shelf chip solution versus licensing or using highly-integrated chipsets that embed our technologies or use our deployment software. If these market shifts
do not materialize or third-party semiconductor IP does not achieve market acceptance, our business could be harmed.

The success of our business depends on sustaining or growing our licensing revenue, and the failure to achieve such revenue would lead to a
material decline in our results of operations.

Our revenue consists largely of technology license fees and other fees and royalties paid for access to our patented technologies, existing technology and
other development and support services we provide to our customers. Our ability to secure and renew the licenses from which our revenue is derived
depends on our customers adopting our technology and using it in the products they sell. Once secured, royalty revenue may be negatively affected by
factors within and outside our control, including reductions in our customers’ sales prices, sales volumes, our failure to timely complete engineering
deliverables and the customers’ negotiated contract terms.

In addition, our customer acquisition cycle for new licenses and license renewals for existing licensees can be lengthy, typically between two to nine
months, and can also be costly and unpredictable. Given the length of the sales cycle, we may incur costs in any particular financial period before any
associated revenue stream begins, if at all. We cannot provide any assurance that we will be successful in signing new license agreements or renewing
existing license agreements on equal or favorable terms or at all. If we do not achieve our revenue goals, our results of operations could decline.
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The nature of the design win process requires us to incur significant expenses without any guarantee that research and development and
sales efforts will generate revenue, which could adversely affect our financial results.

We focus on winning competitive bid selection processes, called “design wins,” to incorporate our IP interconnect and other solutions in our customers’
products. These lengthy technical and commercial selection processes may require us to incur significant expenditures and dedicate valued engineering
resources to the development or enhancement of our IP interconnect and other solutions without any assurance that our bids will be selected as the
design wins. If we incur such expenditures and fail to be selected in the bid selection process, our operating and financial results may be adversely
affected. Further, because of the significant costs associated with qualifying new suppliers, customers are likely to use the same or an enhanced version
of semiconductor IP from existing suppliers across a number of similar and successor products for a lengthy period of time. As a result, if we fail to secure
an initial design win for any of IP interconnect and other solutions to any particular customer, we may lose the opportunity to make future sales of those
solutions to that customer for a significant period of time, or at all, and we may experience an associated decline in revenue relating to those products.
Because we expect the ASPs of our products may decline over time, we consider design wins to be critical to our future success and anticipate that for
our newer products, we are and will remain highly dependent on revenue from newer design wins. Failure to achieve initial design wins may also weaken
our position in future competitive selection processes because we may not be perceived as an industry leader.

Further, a significant portion of our revenue in any period may depend on a single product design win with a large customer. As a result, the loss of any
key design win or any significant delay in the ramp of volume production of the customer’s products into which our product is designed could harm our
business. We may not be able to maintain sales to our key customers or continue to secure key design wins for a variety of reasons, and our customers
can stop incorporating our products into their product offerings with limited notice to us and suffer little or no penalty.

The loss of a key customer or design win, a reduction in sales to any key customer, a significant delay or negative development in our customers’ product
development plans, or our inability to attract new significant customers or secure new key design wins could harm our business.

Even if we succeed in securing design wins for our IP interconnect and other solutions and our SIA solutions, we may not generate timely or
sufficient margins or margins from those wins and our financial results could suffer.

After incurring significant design and development expenditures and dedicating engineering resources to achieve a single initial design win for an IP
interconnect or other solution, a substantial period of time generally elapses before we generate meaningful revenue from royalties relating to such
solution, if at all. The reasons for this delay include, among other things, the following:

■ Changing customer requirements, resulting in an extended development cycle for the product.

■ Delay in the ramp-up of volume production of the customer’s products into which our solutions are designed.

■ Delay or cancellation of the customer’s product development plans.

■ Market or competitive pressures to reduce the selling price of the customer’s end-product.

■ The discovery of design flaws, defects, errors or bugs in the products, whether or not those defects, errors or bugs are related to our IP
interconnect and other solutions that delay the customer from finishing the product in which our IP solution is incorporated.

■ Lower than expected acceptance of the customers’ end-products.

Moreover, as noted above, even if a customer selects our IP interconnect and other solutions, we cannot guarantee that this will result in any royalty or
future licensing revenue, as the customer may ultimately change or cancel its product plans, or the customer’s efforts to market and sell its product may
not be successful.
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We continually pursue new IP interconnect, SoC integration automation, and other technology initiatives, and if we fail to successfully carry
out these initiatives, our business could be harmed.

As part of the evolution of our business, we have made substantial investments to develop IP interconnect, SoC integration automation solutions, other
technology initiatives, and enhancements to existing technologies we license through our acquisitions and research and development efforts. Continuing
to meet the requirements of smaller die size, lower power consumption, a higher frequency of operation and management of critical net latency in a timely
and cost-effective manner for chips used in the automotive market, enterprise computing market, communications market, consumer electronics market,
and industrial market have resulted in increased SoC design complexity for chips used in these markets. If we are unable to meet these demands for
increased SoC design complexity, if we are unable to anticipate technological changes in our industry by introducing new or enhanced IP interconnect and
other solutions and/or SIA solutions in a timely and cost-effective manner, or if we fail to introduce new technologies that meet market demand, we may
lose our competitive position, our products may become obsolete, and our business could be harmed.

Moreover, new technologies and products may not be profitable, and even if they are profitable, operating margins for new products and businesses may
not be as high as the margins we have experienced historically or originally anticipated.

Additionally, from time to time, we invest in expansion into adjacent markets, including the acquisition of Magillem and Semifore, and our growth into the
IP interconnect and SIA solutions market. Although we believe these solutions are complementary to our IP interconnect solutions, we have less
experience and a more limited operating history in offering software that, among other things, manages register configurations of IP blocks, assembles
multiple IP blocks into SoC platforms and links design parameters and metadata to documentation, and our ongoing efforts in this area may not be
successful. Our success in these product areas depend on a variety of factors, including the following:

■ Our ability to continue to attract new customers in industries in which we have less experience.

■ Our successful development of sales and marketing strategies that meet customer requirements.

■ Our ability to accurately predict, prepare for, and promptly respond to technological developments in existing and new fields.

■ Our ability to compete with new and existing competitors, many of which may have more financial resources, industry experience, brand
recognition, relevant intellectual property rights, and/or more established customer relationships than we currently do, and they could include
free and open-source solutions that provide similar SIA solutions.

■ Our ability to continually balance our investment in adjacent markets with investment in our existing products and services.

■ Our ability to attract and retain employees with expertise in new or emerging fields affecting our business.

Difficulties in any of our new product development efforts or our efforts to enter adjacent markets, including delays or disruptions due to factors outside of
our control such as any adverse impact resulting from changing macroeconomic and geopolitical environments, market and inflationary pressures, export
and trade controls, and COVID-19 or other pandemic, could harm our business.

A fundamental shift in technologies, the regulatory climate or demand patterns and preferences in our existing product markets or the product markets of
our customers or end-users could make our current products obsolete, prevent or delay the introduction of new products or enhancements to our existing
products or render our products irrelevant to our customers’ needs. If our new product development efforts fail to align with the needs of our customers,
including due to circumstances outside of our control like a fundamental shift in the product markets of our customers and end users or regulatory
changes, our business could be harmed.

Further, we design our IP interconnect solutions to function optimally with various industry-standard core IP transaction protocols including AMBA, ACE,
CHI and AXI. Should developers limit access to their IP protocol information or cease cooperation with us for any reason, our ability to support certain
processors and IP protocols would be delayed, which could harm our business.
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We may have to invest more resources in research and development than anticipated, which could increase our operating expenses and
negatively affect our operating results.

We currently devote substantial resources to the research and development of new and enhanced interconnect IP and SIA solutions. However, we may
be required to devote more resources than anticipated to address design requirements for specific target markets, new competitors, technological
advances in the semiconductor industry or by competitors, our acquisitions, our entry into new markets, or other competitive factors. If we are required to
invest significantly greater resources than anticipated without a corresponding increase in revenue, our operating results could decline. Additionally, our
periodic research and development expenses may be independent of our level of revenue, which could negatively impact our financial results. We expect
these expenses to be significant and increase in the foreseeable future as our technology development efforts continue, and there can be no guarantee
that our research and development investments will result in products that create additional revenue.

We may also decide to increase our research and development investment to seize customer or market opportunities, which could negatively impact our
financial results.

We continue to experience hiring challenges, including for engineering resources.

Product errors or defects could expose us to liability and harm our reputation and we could lose market share.

Software products frequently contain errors or defects, especially when first introduced, when new versions are released, or when integrated with
technologies developed by acquired companies. Product errors, including those resulting from third-party suppliers, could negatively affect the
performance or interoperability of our IP interconnect and SIA solutions, could delay the development or release of new solutions or new versions and
could adversely affect market acceptance or perception of our technology. In addition, any allegations of manufacturability issues resulting from use of our
IP interconnect and other solutions or semiconductor design efficiency issues resulting from our SIA solutions could, even if untrue, adversely affect our
reputation and our customers’ willingness to license our technology. Any such errors or delays in releasing new products or new versions of products or
allegations of unsatisfactory performance could cause us to lose customers, increase our service costs, subject us to liability for damages and divert our
resources from other tasks, any one of which could harm our business and operating results.

If we fail to offer high-quality support, our reputation could suffer.

Interconnect IP and SIA technology is complex, and our customer support is critical for the successful deployment of our IP in our customers’ designs, and
we maintain a team of corporate and field application engineers in our global support organization. High-quality support is important for customer
retention, and the importance of our support function will increase as we expand our business and pursue new customers. If we do not help our customers
quickly resolve issues and provide effective ongoing support, our ability to maintain and expand our offerings to existing and new customers could suffer,
and our reputation with existing or potential customers could suffer.

Our dependence on international customers and operations also subjects us to a range of other additional regulatory, operational, financial,
and political risks that could adversely affect our financial results.

We derived 65.4% and 59.3% of our revenue for 2023 and 2022, respectively, from sales to customers outside of the United States. In particular, we
derived 31.1% and 28.8% of our revenue in 2023 and 2022, respectively, from customers located in China. We expect our revenue from China to
decrease due to the applicable U.S. government trade restrictions. As a result, the economic, political, legal and social conditions in China could harm our
business. In addition, we have offices globally with our sales and research and development being conducted in offices located in the San Francisco Bay
Area, Texas, France, China, South Korea, and Japan. Moreover, conducting business outside the United States subjects us to a number of additional
risks and challenges, including:

■ Changes in a specific country’s or region’s political, regulatory or economic conditions.

■ Imposition of significant new export control regulations targeting the Chinese semiconductor industry and technical support of the Chinese
semiconductor industry, tariffs and other barriers, restrictions and regional stability measures, including as between U.S.-China.

■ A pandemic, epidemic or other outbreak of an infectious disease, including the recent COVID-19 pandemic, which may cause us or our
distributors, vendors and/or customers to temporarily suspend our or their respective operations in the affected city or country or completely.
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■ Compliance with a wide variety of domestic and foreign laws and regulations (including those of municipalities or provinces where we have
operations) and unexpected changes in those laws, export and trade controls, and regulatory requirements, including uncertainties regarding
taxes, social insurance contributions and other payroll taxes and fees to governmental entities, tariffs, quotas, export controls, export licenses
and other trade barriers.

■ Unanticipated restrictions on our ability to sell to foreign customers where sales of products and the provision of services may require export
licenses or are prohibited by government action, unfavorable foreign exchange controls and currency exchange rates.

■ Potential for substantial penalties and litigation related to violations of a wide variety of laws, treaties and regulations, including labor
regulations, export control and anti-corruption regulations (including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and the U.K. Bribery Act).

■ Difficulties and costs of staffing and managing international operations across different geographic areas, time zones and cultures.

■ Changes in diplomatic and trade relationships.

■ Potential political, legal and economic instability, armed conflict, and civil unrest in the countries in which we and our customers are located.

■ Difficulty and costs of maintaining effective data security.

■ Inadequate protection of our intellectual property.

■ Nationalization and expropriation.

■ Restrictions on the transfer of funds to and from foreign countries, including withholding taxes and other potentially negative tax consequences.

■ Unfavorable and/or changing foreign tax treaties and policies.

■ Increased exposure to general market and economic conditions inside and outside of the United States.

■ Currency exchange rate fluctuations and the resulting effect on our revenue and expenses, and the cost and risk of entering into hedging
transactions if we chose to do so in the future.

■ Increased regulatory uncertainties with respect to our wholly foreign-owned enterprise operating in China and any joint ventures we may form
or contribute IP or other resources to in the future.

■ Trends such as global and regional inflation, supply shortages and supply chain disruptions, geopolitical conflicts and retaliatory actions and
regulations affecting or relating to regions such as but not limited to Ukraine, Russia, Eastern Europe or in the Greater China region, may lead
to the deterioration of our immediate customers’ and/or end market customers’ ability and/or willingness to purchase, use, develop, market or
sell products or solutions that incorporate or are made while using our products.

These factors, individually or in combination, could impair our ability to effectively operate one or more of our foreign facilities or deliver our semiconductor
IP or SIA solutions, result in unexpected and material expenses, or cause an unexpected decline in the demand for our products in certain countries or
regions. Our failure to manage the risks and challenges associated with our international business and operations could harm our business.

Downturns or volatility in general economic conditions, including as a result of geopolitical and macroeconomic conditions in the countries in
which we conduct business, the recent COVID-19 pandemic or any other outbreak of an infectious disease, could harm our business.

Our revenue, gross margin, and ability to achieve and maintain profitability depend significantly on general economic conditions and the demand for
products in the markets in which our customers compete. Weaknesses in the global economy and financial markets, including the current weaknesses
resulting from the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, and any adverse changes in general domestic and global economic conditions that may occur in the
future, including any recession, economic slowdown or disruption of credit markets, may lead to, lower demand for products that incorporate our solutions,
including in the automotive market, enterprise computing market, communications market, consumer electronics market, and industrial market. A decline
in end-user demand can affect our customers’ demand for our products, the ability of our customers to obtain credit and otherwise meet their payment
obligations and the likelihood of customers canceling or deferring existing orders. Our business could be harmed by such actions.
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Because we conduct business, have offices in and derive revenue from customers in China, our business performance may be affected by increased
political tensions and changes in China’s political, social and economic environment. For example, political instability resulting from changes in the
relationship between the United States and China could negatively impact our business. Any significant armed conflict related to this matter is expected to
materially and adversely damage our business. Moreover, the role of the Chinese government in the Chinese economy is significant. Chinese policies
toward economic liberalization, and laws and policies affecting technology companies, foreign investment, currency exchange rates, taxes and other
matters could change, resulting in greater restrictions on our ability and our suppliers’ ability to do business and operate facilities in China. If any of these
changes were to occur, our business could be harmed and our stock price could decline.

Any disruption in the credit markets, including as a result of the recent COVID-19 pandemic, could also impede our access to capital. If we have limited
access to additional financing sources, we may be required to defer capital expenditures or seek other sources of liquidity, which may not be available to
us on acceptable terms or at all. All of these factors related to global economic conditions, which are beyond our control, could harm our business. For a
more detailed discussion of the COVID-19 pandemic and its recent and potential impact on our business, see “—Our business has been, and may
continue to be, adversely affected by health epidemics, pandemics and other outbreaks of infectious disease, including the recent COVID-19 pandemic.”

We maintain the majority of our cash and cash equivalents in accounts with major U.S. and multi-national financial institutions, and our deposits at certain
of these institutions exceed insured limits. Market conditions can impact the viability of these institutions. In the event of failure of any of the financial
institutions where we maintain our cash and cash equivalents, there can be no assurance that we would be able to access uninsured funds in a timely
manner or at all. Any inability to access or delay in accessing these funds could adversely affect our business and financial position.

The cyclical nature of the semiconductor industry, including significant supply chain disruption, may limit our ability to maintain or improve
our revenue.

The semiconductor industry is highly cyclical and is prone to significant downturns from time to time. Cyclical downturns can result from a variety of
market forces including constant and rapid technological change, rapid product obsolescence, price erosion, evolving standards, short product life cycles
and wide fluctuations in product supply and demand, all of which can result in significant declines in semiconductor demand. We have experienced
downturns in the past and may experience such downturns in the future. For example, the industry experienced a significant downturn in connection with
the most recent global recession in 2008, and further experienced downturns in 2020 and 2022, which may be prolonged as a result of the economic
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. These downturns have been characterized by diminished product demand, production overcapacity, high inventory
levels and accelerated erosion of average selling prices. Recently, downturns in the semiconductor industry have been attributed to a variety of factors,
including the recent COVID-19 pandemic, ongoing trade disputes among the United States and China, weakness in demand and pricing for
semiconductors across applications and excess inventory.

Economic downturns have directly impacted our business, as has been the case with many other companies, suppliers, distributors and customers in the
semiconductor industry and other industries around the world, and any prolonged or significant future downturns in the semiconductor industry could harm
our business. Conversely, significant upturns may suppress customer shipments of royalty-bearing products incorporating our IP solutions due to our
customers having limited access to third-party foundry and assembly capacity. In the event of such an upturn, we may not be able to expand our
workforce and operations in a sufficiently timely manner, procure adequate resources, or locate suitable third-party suppliers or other third-party
subcontractors to respond effectively to changes in demand for our existing products or to the demand for new products requested by our customers, and
our business could be harmed.

The semiconductor industry has also faced significant global supply chain issues as a result of the impact both on demand for devices to enable wireless
connectivity and remote environments and on supply from the related imposition of government restrictions on staffing and facility operations due to the
recent COVID-19 pandemic as well as other trends such as the increasing demand for semiconductors in automobiles, which together have resulted in
the inability of fabrication plants to produce sufficient quantities of chips to meet demand, supply chain shortages and other disruptions. Numerous factors,
including any further trade tensions between the U.S. and China, such as the revisions to the U.S. regulations governing the export of certain
semiconductor related hardware and software to China announced by the U.S. Department of Commerce’s Bureau of Industry and Security on October 7,
2022, and or any military conflict between China and Taiwan may prolong or deepen these challenges faced by the industry.
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Our revenue has been concentrated among a small number of licensees and customers, and if we lose any of these customers and fail to
replace them, our revenue may decrease substantially.

A significant amount of our revenue is derived from a limited number of customers. We expect that a relatively small number of customers will continue to
account for a substantial portion of our revenue for the foreseeable future.

As a result of this revenue concentration, our results of operations could be adversely affected by the decision of a single key licensee or customer to
cease using our technology or products or by a decline in the number of products that incorporate our technology that are sold by a single licensee or
customer or by a small group of licensees or customers. We must continue to obtain new significant licensees and to increase our revenue and grow our
business.

Failure to effectively expand our sales and marketing capabilities could harm our ability to increase our customer base and achieve broader
market acceptance of our products.

Our ability to increase our customer base and achieve broader market acceptance of our products and platform capabilities will depend to a significant
extent on our ability to expand our global sales and application engineering organization. We plan to continue expanding our sales force, both
domestically and internationally. We also plan to dedicate significant resources to sales and marketing programs. All of these efforts will require us to
invest significant financial and other resources. Our business will be harmed if our sales and marketing efforts do not generate significant increases in
revenue or increases in revenue are smaller than anticipated. We may not achieve anticipated revenue growth from expanding our sales force if we are
unable to hire, develop, integrate and retain talented and effective sales personnel, if our new and existing sales personnel, on the whole, are unable to
achieve desired productivity levels in a reasonable period of time, or if our sales and marketing programs are not effective.

We experience a strong seasonality in sales in the fourth calendar quarter of the year. As a result, our results of operations are subject to
substantial quarterly fluctuations, which may seriously harm our business.

We have experienced, and expect to continue to experience, seasonal fluctuations in sales due to the spending patterns of semiconductor customers who
license our products. Typically, the number of total new license agreements we enter into have generally been lowest in the first and second calendar
quarters. We expect these seasonality trends to continue. As a result, revenue recognized from our total new license agreements are subject to seasonal
fluctuations, which may seriously harm our business.

Substantial portions of our sales are made, and we anticipate will be made, to automotive, enterprise computing, communications, consumer
electronics, and industrial suppliers. Any downturn in any of these markets could significantly harm our business.

Each of these sectors is subject to specific market risks. The consumer sector, for example, is subject to changes in end consumer spending patterns,
technology developments and general economic conditions.

We are also exposed to the risks associated with the automotive market. For example, our anticipated future growth is highly dependent on the adoption
of autonomous driving technologies, which are expected to have increased sensor and power product content. A downturn in the automotive market could
delay automakers’ plans to introduce new vehicles with these features, which would negatively impact the demand for our products and our ability to grow
our business.

Several industries in which companies incorporate our technology, including the automotive industry and others, may undergo consolidation and
reorganization and, in some cases, their suppliers may or have entered bankruptcy. Although we have not experienced any lost business or material bad
debt write-offs as a result of such consolidation, such trends could harm our business.

Moreover, as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and the associated responses by governments of various countries to respond and to prevent its spread,
the automotive industry, including manufacturers, dealers, distributors, and third-party suppliers have been adversely impacted. For example, many
automotive manufacturers were forced to suspend manufacturing operations and may be required to do so again. In addition, government-imposed
restrictions on businesses, operations and travel and the related economic uncertainty have impacted demand in many global markets. While demand in
the automotive industry is dependent on a number of factors, automotive manufacturers expect the impact of COVID-19 was highly dependent on its
duration and severity. The foregoing impacts and other adverse effects on the automotive industry could harm our business, as well as our ability to
execute our growth strategy.
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Our business has been, and may continue to be, adversely affected by health epidemics, pandemics and other outbreaks of infectious
disease, including the recent COVID-19 or any similar pandemic.

Public health threats, such as COVID-19, influenza and other highly communicable diseases or viruses, outbreaks of which have from time to time
occurred in various parts of the world in which we operate could adversely impact our operations, as well as the operations of our customers, end users of
our products, and our and their respective vendors, suppliers and other business partners. Any of these public health threats and related consequences
could adversely affect our financial results and could reduce our ability to access capital.

The ultimate extent of the impact of any epidemic, pandemic, or other health crisis on our business will depend on multiple factors that are highly
uncertain and cannot be predicted, including its severity, location and duration, and actions taken to contain or prevent further its spread. Additionally,
such crises could increase the magnitude of many of the other risks described in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and may have other material adverse
effects on our operations that we are not currently able to predict. If our business and the markets in which we operate experience a prolonged occurrence
of adverse public health conditions, it could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We received a Paycheck Protection Program loan, and our application for the PPP Loan could in the future be determined to have been
impermissible or could result in damage to our reputation.

In April 2020, we applied for and received an unsecured $1.6 million loan under the Paycheck Protection Program (the PPP Loan). In December 2020,
the PPP Loan was forgiven in full. The Paycheck Protection Program was established under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the
CARES Act), and is administered by the U.S. Small Business Administration (the SBA).  In addition, in May 2020, Semifore, Inc., a company that we
recently acquired, was a recipient of $0.1 million of proceeds from a note payable issued under the Paycheck Protection Program (PPP) under section
7(a)(36) of the Small Business Act. The note was repaid in full in December 2020.

Our receipt of the PPP Loan or the forgiveness of the PPP Loan could result in adverse publicity. In addition, if we are later determined to have been
ineligible to receive the PPP Loan or loan forgiveness, we may be subject to significant penalties, including significant civil, criminal and administrative
penalties, we could be required to repay the PPP Loan in its entirety, and our reputation could suffer. A review or audit by the SBA or other government
entity or claims under the U.S. False Claims Act could consume significant financial and management resources.

A significant portion of our revenue comes from licensing fees, which may vary period to period.

License agreements for our interconnect IP are generally treated as ratable revenue, with revenue being recognized evenly over the license term. In
recent periods we have made and will continue to make certain changes to SIA agreements that result in ratable recognition of the related license
revenue over the contract term. Still, significant portions of our anticipated future revenue depend upon our success in attracting new customers, or
continuing or expanding our relationships with existing customers, and revenue recognized from licensing arrangements varies from period to period,
depending on the number and size of deals closed during a quarter, and is difficult to predict. In addition, as we expand our business into new markets,
our licensing deals may be smaller in volume but greater in value in volume, which may further fluctuate our licensing revenue quarter to quarter. Our
ability to succeed in our licensing efforts will depend on a variety of factors, including the market positioning, performance, delivery, quality, breadth and
depth of our current and future IP interconnect and other solutions as well as our sales and marketing skills. Our failure to obtain future licensing
customers would impede our future revenue growth and could materially harm our business.

As a result of these and other factors, you should not rely on the results of any prior quarterly or annual periods, or any historical trends reflected in such
results, as indications of our future revenue or operating performance. Fluctuations in our revenue and operating results could cause our stock price to
decline and, as a result, you may lose some or all of your investment.
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Royalty rates could decrease for existing and future license agreements, which could materially adversely affect our operating results.

Royalty payments to us under existing and future license agreements could be lower than currently anticipated for a variety of reasons. Average selling
prices for semiconductor products generally decrease over time during the lifespan of a product. Our gross margins and financial results will suffer if we
are unable to offset reductions in our average selling prices by reducing our costs, developing new or enhanced products or solutions on a timely basis
with higher selling prices or gross margins, or increasing our sales volumes. In addition, there is significant pressure to maintain low royalty rates in certain
markets where the end product may have a low average sales price, such as many consumer electronics products. In addition, there is increasing
downward pricing pressures in the semiconductor industry on end products incorporating our technology, especially end products for consumer
electronics markets. As a result, notwithstanding the existence of a license agreement, our customers may demand that royalty rates for our products on
future or renewal agreements be lower than our historic royalty rates. Furthermore, our competitors may lower the royalty rates for their comparable
products to win market share which may force us to lower our royalty rates on future or renewal agreements as well. As a consequence of the above
referenced factors, as well as unforeseen factors in the future, the royalty rates we receive for use of our technology could decrease with new or renewed
customers, thereby decreasing future anticipated revenue and cash flow. Variable royalty revenue was 9.6% of our revenue for the year ended December
31, 2023. Therefore, a significant decrease in our royalty revenue could materially adversely affect our operating results.

Moreover, royalty rates may be negatively affected by macroeconomic and geopolitical trends, including from global semiconductor supply chain issues
(including from shortages in the availability of the supply of chips in several semiconductor sectors and applications), the recent COVID-19 or any future
pandemic and its world effects and changes in products mix. Furthermore, consolidation among our customers may increase the leverage of our existing
customers to extract concessions from us in royalty rates.

Changing currency exchange rates could harm our business.

We have operations and assets in the U.S. as well as foreign jurisdictions, and we prepare our consolidated financial statements in U.S. dollars, but a
portion of our earnings and expenditures are denominated in other currencies. We therefore must translate our foreign assets, liabilities, revenue and
expenses into U.S. dollars at applicable exchange rates. Consequently, fluctuations in the value of foreign currencies relative to the U.S. dollar may
negatively affect the value of these items in our financial statements. In addition, since many of our sales in foreign jurisdictions are denominated in U.S.
dollars, fluctuations in the value of foreign currencies relative to the U.S. dollar may effectively increase the price of our products in the currency of the
jurisdiction in which the sale took place and may result in our products becoming too expensive for non-U.S. customers who do not conduct their business
in U.S. dollars. Furthermore, currency exchange rates have been especially volatile in the recent past, and these currency fluctuations may make it
difficult for us to predict our results of operations. If the volume of our international operations increases and foreign currency exchange rates change, the
impact to our consolidated statements of operations could be significant and may affect the comparability of operating results. The impact from foreign
currency exchange for the the year ended December 31, 2023  was immaterial. We do not believe a 10% increase or decrease in foreign exchange rates
would have resulted in a material impact to our operating results. To the extent we fail to manage our foreign currency exposure adequately, we may
suffer losses in the value of our net foreign currency investment, and our business may be harmed.

In particular, in light of the military conflict between Russia and Ukraine, and Israel conflict, and the tensions between the European Union, other
European countries, as well as the United States, with Russia, any resulting material change to the valuation of the Euro or other currency relative to the
U.S. dollar could adversely impact our operating results.
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We have made acquisitions and, in the future expect to pursue acquisitions of and investments in new businesses, products or technologies,
joint ventures and other strategic transactions that involve numerous risks and could disrupt and harm our business.

As part of our business strategy, we make acquisitions of and investments in new businesses, such as our acquisitions of Magillem and Semifore, Inc.,
products and technologies and enter into joint ventures and other strategic relationships in the ordinary course. Our ability to grow our revenue, earnings
and cash flow at or above our historic rates depends in part upon our ability to identify and successfully acquire and integrate businesses at acceptable
prices, realize anticipated synergies and make appropriate investments that support our long-term strategy. We may not be able to consummate
acquisitions at rates similar to the past, which could adversely impact our growth rate and the trading price of our common stock. Promising acquisitions
and investments are difficult to identify and complete for a number of reasons, including high valuations, competition among prospective buyers, the
availability of affordable funding in the capital markets and the need to satisfy applicable closing conditions and obtain applicable antitrust and other
regulatory approvals on a timely basis and on acceptable terms. In addition, competition for acquisitions and investment may result in higher purchase
prices. Changes in accounting or regulatory requirements or instability in the credit markets could also adversely impact our ability to consummate
acquisitions and investments on acceptable terms or at all.

In addition, even if we are able to consummate acquisitions and enter into joint ventures and other strategic relationships, these transactions and
relationships present a number of potential risks and challenges that could, if not met, disrupt our business operations, increase our operating costs,
negatively affect our growth rate and the trading price of our common stock, and may harm our business. In addition, our Magillem and Semifore, Inc.
acquisitions along with our Transchip investment as well as any acquisition, investment, joint venture or other strategic transaction that we may enter into
in the future, involve a number of additional financial, accounting, managerial, operational, legal, regulatory and other risks, which may include, among
others:

■ Any business, technology, service or product that we acquire or invest in could under-perform relative to our expectations and the price that we
paid or not perform in accordance with our anticipated timetable, or we could fail to operate any such business profitably.

■ We may incur or assume significant debt in connection with our acquisitions, joint ventures and other strategic relationships, which could also
cause a deterioration of our credit ratings, result in increased borrowing costs and interest expense and diminish our future access to the capital
markets. Alternatively, we may issue additional equity securities, which could dilute your ownership and voting power.

■ We expect to incur integration and startup costs.

■ Acquisitions, joint ventures and other strategic relationships could cause our financial results to differ from our own or the investment
community’s expectations in any given period, or over the long-term challenges associated with integrating employees from the acquired
company into our organization.

■ Pre-closing and post-closing earnings charges could adversely impact operating results in any given period, and the impact may be
substantially different from period to period.

■ Acquisitions, joint ventures and other strategic relationships could create demands on our management, operational resources and financial
and internal control systems that we are unable to effectively address.

■ We could experience difficulty in integrating personnel, operations and financial and other controls and systems and retaining key employees
and customers.

■ We may be unable to achieve cost savings or other synergies anticipated in connection with an acquisition, joint venture or other strategic
relationship.

■ We may assume unknown liabilities, known contingent liabilities that become realized, known liabilities that prove greater than anticipated,
internal control deficiencies or exposure to regulatory sanctions resulting from the acquired company’s or investee’s activities and the
realization of any of these liabilities or deficiencies may increase our expenses, adversely affect our financial position and/or cause us to fail to
meet our public financial reporting obligations.

■ In connection with acquisitions and joint ventures, we often enter into post-closing financial arrangements such as purchase price adjustments,
earn-out obligations and indemnification obligations, which may have unpredictable financial results.
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■ As a result of our acquisitions, we have recorded significant goodwill and other assets on our consolidated balance sheet and if we are not able
to realize the value of these assets, or if the fair value of our investments declines, we may be required to incur impairment charges.

■ We may have interests that diverge from those of our joint venture partners or other strategic partners and we may not be able to direct the
management and operations of the joint venture or other strategic relationship in the manner we believe is most appropriate, exposing us to
additional risk.

■ Investing in or making loans to early-stage companies often entails a high degree of risk, and we may not achieve the strategic, technological,
financial or commercial benefits we anticipate; we may lose our investment or fail to recoup our loan; or our investment may be illiquid for a
greater-than-expected period of time.

Furthermore, potential acquisitions, investments, divestitures, joint ventures and other strategic transactions, whether or not consummated, may divert our
management’s attention and require considerable cash outlays at the expense of our existing operations. This, and any of the risks set forth above, could
harm our business.

Our ability to raise capital in the future may be limited and could prevent us from executing our growth strategy.

Our ability to operate and expand our business depends on the availability of adequate capital, which in turn depends on cash flow generated by our
business and equity or other applicable financing arrangements. We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments and cash
provided by sales of our products will satisfy our anticipated cash requirements for at least the next 12 months. However, we have based this estimate on
our current operating plans and expectations, which are subject to change, and cannot assure you that that our existing resources will be sufficient to
meet our future liquidity needs. We may require additional capital to respond to business opportunities, challenges, acquisitions or other strategic
transactions and/or unforeseen circumstances. The timing and amount of our working capital and capital expenditure requirements may vary significantly
depending on numerous factors, including:

■ market acceptance of our semiconductor IP and other solutions, and our SIA solutions;

■ the need to adapt to changing technologies and technical requirements;

■ the existence of opportunities for expansion; and

■ access to and availability of sufficient management, technical, marketing and financial personnel.

If our capital resources are insufficient to satisfy our liquidity requirements, we may seek to sell additional equity securities or debt securities or obtain
additional debt financing. The sale of additional equity securities or convertible debt securities would result in additional dilution to our stockholders.
Additional debt would result in increased expenses and could result in covenants that would restrict our operations and our ability to incur additional debt
or engage in other capital-raising activities. We have not made arrangements to obtain additional financing and there is no assurance that financing, if
required, will be available in amounts or on terms acceptable to us, if at all. If we are unable to obtain adequate financing or financing on terms
satisfactory to us, when we require it, our ability to continue to grow and support our business and respond to business opportunities and challenges
could be significantly limited.

We may not be able to effectively manage our growth, and we may need to incur significant expenditures to address the additional operational
and control requirements of our growth, either of which could harm our business and operating results.

In order to succeed in executing our business plan, we will need to manage our growth effectively as we make significant investments in research and
development and sales and marketing and expand our operations and infrastructure both domestically and internationally. In addition, in connection with
operating as a public company, we will incur additional significant legal, accounting and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company. If our
revenue does not increase to offset these increases in our expenses, we may not achieve or maintain profitability in future periods.
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To continue to grow and to meet our ongoing obligations as a public company, we must continue to expand our operational, engineering, accounting and
financial systems, procedures, controls and other internal management systems. This may require substantial managerial and financial resources, and our
efforts in this regard may not be successful. Our current systems, procedures and controls may not be adequate to support our future operations and we
may be unable to meet reporting obligation deadlines under the Exchange Act. Unless our growth results in an increase in our revenue that is
proportionate to the increase in our costs associated with this growth, our operating margins will be adversely affected. If we fail to adequately manage
our growth, improve our operational, financial and management information systems, or effectively motivate and manage our new and future employees, it
could harm our business.

We depend on key and highly skilled personnel to operate our business, and if we are unable to retain our current personnel and hire
additional personnel, our ability to develop and market our products could be harmed, which in turn could adversely affect our financial
results.

Our success depends to a large extent upon the continued services of our executive officers, managers and skilled personnel, including our development
engineers. In particular, we are highly dependent on the services of K. Charles Janac, our President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman, who has
been critical in the development and growth of our business and strategic direction, and we do not have key person insurance. From time to time, there
may be changes in our executive management team or other key personnel, which could disrupt our business. Generally, our employees are not bound
by obligations that require them to continue to work for us for any specified period and, therefore, they could terminate their employment with us at any
time. Moreover, our employees are generally not subject to non-competition agreements. Given these limitations, we may not be able to continue to
attract, retain and motivate qualified personnel necessary for our business.

In addition, we recruit from a limited pool of engineers with expertise in SoC design and the competition for such personnel can be intense. The loss of
one or more of our executive officers or other key personnel, the loss of access to certain jurisdictions in the event of geopolitical conflict or changes in
regulatory frameworks, or our inability to locate suitable or qualified replacements could be significantly detrimental to our product development efforts and
could harm our business. In addition, we must attract and retain highly qualified personnel, including certain foreign nationals who are not U.S. citizens or
permanent residents, many of whom are highly skilled and constitute an important part of our U.S. workforce, particularly in the areas of engineering and
product development. Our ability to hire and retain these employees and their ability to remain and work in the U.S. are impacted by laws and regulations,
as well as by procedures and enforcement practices of various government agencies. Changes in immigration laws, regulations or procedures may
adversely affect our ability to hire or retain such workers, increase our operating expenses and negatively impact our ability to deliver our products and
services, any of which would harm our business.

Volatility in, or lack of performance of, our stock price may also affect our ability to attract and retain key personnel. Employees may be more likely to
terminate their employment with us if the shares they own or the shares underlying their vested options or restricted stock units have significantly
depreciated or otherwise expressed volatility in value relative to the original purchase prices of the shares or the exercise prices of the options, or,
conversely, if the exercise prices of the options that they hold are significantly above the trading price of our common stock. If we are unable to retain our
employees, our business could be harmed.

Our management team has limited experience managing a public company.

Many members of our management team have limited experience managing a publicly-traded company, interacting with public company investors and
complying with the increasingly complex laws pertaining to public companies. Our management team may not successfully or efficiently manage us as a
public company subject to significant regulatory oversight and reporting obligations under the federal securities laws and the continuous scrutiny of
securities analysts and investors. These new obligations and constituents require significant attention from our senior management and could divert their
attention away from the day-to-day management of our business, which could harm our business.

Catastrophic events may disrupt our business.

Our corporate headquarters are located in an area that is an active earthquake zone. In the event of a major earthquake, hurricane or other forms of
catastrophic event such as fire, power loss, telecommunications failure, cyber-attack, war, terrorist attack or disease outbreak, we may be unable to
continue our operations and may endure system interruptions, reputational harm, delays in our product development, breaches of data security, or loss of
critical data, any of which could have an adverse effect on our future results of operations.
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If our counterparties are unable to fulfill their financial and other obligations to us, our business and results of operations may be affected
adversely.

Any downturn in economic conditions, geopolitical events or other business factors could threaten the financial health of our counterparties, including
companies with which we have entered into licensing agreements, and their ability to fulfill their financial and other obligations to us. Such financial
pressures on our counterparties may eventually lead to bankruptcy proceedings or other attempts to avoid financial obligations that are due to us.
Because bankruptcy courts have the power to modify or cancel contracts of the petitioner which remain subject to future performance and alter or
discharge payment obligations related to pre-petition debts, we may receive less than all of the payments that we would otherwise be entitled to receive
from any such counterparty as a result of bankruptcy proceedings.

Risks Related to Intellectual Property, Information Technology and Data Security and Privacy

If we are unable to protect our proprietary technology and inventions through patents and other intellectual property rights, our ability to
compete successfully and our financial results could be adversely impacted.

We seek to protect our proprietary technology and innovations, particularly those relating to the design of our products, through patents, trade secrets and
other intellectual property rights. As of December 31, 2023, we had 154 total allowed or issued patents, pending patent applications and non-expired
provisional patent applications worldwide. Of these, we had 73 allowed or issued patents, 64 are U.S. allowed or issued patents, five are allowed or
issued China patents, two are South Korea issued patents, one is a U.K. issued patent, and one is a Japan issued patent. The 73 allowed or issued
patents generally expire between July 2035 and December 2041. As of December 31, 2023, we had 81 pending non-provisional and provisional patent
application filings, including 36 in the United States, 21 in Europe, 16 in China, five in South Korea and three in Japan. Maintenance of patent portfolios,
particularly outside of the United States, is expensive, and the process of seeking patent protection is lengthy and costly. While we intend to maintain our
current portfolio of patents and to continue to prosecute our currently pending patent applications and file future patent applications when appropriate, the
value of these actions may not exceed their expense. Existing patents and those that may be issued from any pending or future applications may be
subject to challenges, invalidation or circumvention, and the rights granted under our patents may not provide us with meaningful protection or any
commercial advantage. In addition, the protection afforded under the patent laws of one country may not be the same as that in other countries. This
means, for example, that our right to exclusively commercialize a product in those countries where we have patent rights for that product can vary on
a country-by-country basis. We also may not have the same scope of patent protection in every country where we do business.

Additionally, it is difficult to predict the impact of generative artificial intelligence (AI) on our intellectual property rights risk portfolio and costly to monitor
the use of our intellectual property. It may be the case that our intellectual property is already being infringed and infringement may occur in the future
without our knowledge. Litigation may be necessary to enforce our intellectual property rights. While it is our policy to protect and defend our rights to our
IP, we cannot predict whether steps taken by us to enforce and protect our intellectual property rights will be adequate to prevent infringement,
misappropriation, or other violations of our intellectual property rights. Any inability to meaningfully enforce our intellectual property rights could harm our
ability to compete. Moreover, in any lawsuit we bring to enforce our intellectual property rights, a court may refuse to stop the other party from using the
technology at issue on grounds that our intellectual property rights do not cover the technology in question. Further, in such proceedings, the defendant
could counterclaim that our intellectual property is invalid or unenforceable and the court may agree, in which case we could lose valuable intellectual
property rights. Any litigation of this nature, regardless of outcome or merit, could materially harm our business and hurt our competitive advantage.
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If we are unable to protect our proprietary technology and inventions through trade secrets, our competitive position and financial results
could be adversely affected.

As noted above, we seek to protect our proprietary technology and innovations, particularly those relating to our products, as patents, trade secrets and
other forms of intellectual property. Additionally, while software and other forms of our proprietary works may be protected under copyright law, in some
cases we have chosen not to register any copyrights in these works, and instead, primarily rely on protecting our software as a trade secret. In the United
States, trade secrets are protected under the federal Economic Espionage Act of 1996 and the Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016 (the Defend Trade
Secrets Act), and under state law, with many states having adopted the Uniform Trade Secrets Act (the UTSA) and several of which that have not. In
addition to these federal and state laws inside the United States, under the World Trade Organization’s Trade Related-Aspects of IP Rights Agreement
(the TRIPS Agreement), trade secrets are to be protected by World Trade Organization member states as “confidential information.” Under the UTSA and
other trade secret laws, protection of our proprietary information as trade secrets requires us to take steps to prevent unauthorized disclosure to third
parties or misappropriation by third parties. In addition, the full benefit of the remedies available under the Defend Trade Secrets Act requires specific
language and notice requirements present in the relevant agreements, which may not be present in all of our agreements. While we require our officers,
employees, consultants, distributors, and existing and prospective customers and collaborators to sign confidentiality agreements and take various
security measures to protect unauthorized disclosure and misappropriation of our trade secrets, we cannot assure or predict that these measures will be
sufficient. The semiconductor industry is generally subject to high turnover of employees, so the risk of trade secret misappropriation may be amplified. If
any of our trade secrets are subject to unauthorized disclosure or are otherwise misappropriated by third parties, our competitive position may be
materially and adversely affected.

Our ability to compete successfully depends in part on our ability to commercialize our IP solutions without infringing the patent, trade secret
or other intellectual property rights of others.

To the same extent that we seek to protect our technology and inventions with patents, trade secrets and other intellectual property rights, our competitors
and other third parties do the same for their technology and inventions. We have no means of knowing the content of patent applications filed by third
parties until they are published. It is also difficult and costly to continuously monitor the intellectual property portfolios of our competitors to ensure our
technologies do not violate the intellectual property rights of any third parties.

Claims by other companies that we infringe their intellectual property rights or that patents on which we rely are invalid could adversely affect
our business.

The semiconductor industry is rife with patent assertion entities and is characterized by frequent litigation regarding patent and other intellectual property
rights. From time to time, we receive communications from or are sued by third parties that allege that our products or technologies infringe their patent or
other intellectual property rights. As a public company with an increased profile and visibility, we may receive similar communications in the future.
Lawsuits or other proceedings resulting from allegations of infringement could subject us to significant liability for damages, invalidate our proprietary
rights and harm our business. We may not prevail in lawsuits alleging patent infringement given the complex technical issues and inherent uncertainties in
intellectual property litigation. If any of our products, technologies or services from which we derive or expect to derive a substantial portion of our
revenues, were found to infringe on another company’s intellectual property rights, we could be subject to damages, an injunction and/or other equitable
relief that would force the removal of such product from the market or we could be required to redesign such product, or take a license to the third-party
technology, which could be costly. We could also be ordered to pay damages or other compensation, including punitive damages and attorneys’ fees to
such other company. A negative outcome in any such litigation could also severely disrupt the sales of our marketed products to our customers or their
customers, which in turn could harm our relationships with our customers, our market share and our product revenues. Even if we are ultimately
successful in defending any intellectual property litigation, such litigation is expensive and time consuming, will divert our management’s attention from
our business and may harm our reputation.

In the event that any third-party succeeds in asserting a valid claim against us or any of our customers, we could be forced to do one or more of the
following:

■ discontinue selling access to certain technologies that contain the allegedly infringing intellectual property which would result in a decline in our
revenue and could result in breach of contract claim by our affected customers and damage to our reputation;

■ stop receiving payment from a customer that can no longer sell the end-product if it contains allegedly infringing intellectual property;
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■ seek to develop non-infringing technologies, which may not be feasible;

■ incur significant legal expenses;

■ pay substantial monetary damages to the party whose intellectual property rights we may be found to be infringing; and/or

■ we or our customers could be required to seek licenses to the infringed technology that may not be available on commercially reasonable
terms, if at all.

If a third-party causes us to discontinue the use of any of our technologies, we could be required to design around those technologies. This could be
costly and time consuming and could have an adverse impact on our financial results. Any significant impairments of our intellectual property rights from
any litigation we face could harm our business and our ability to compete in our industry.

We may not be able to continue to obtain licenses to third-party software and intellectual property on reasonable terms or at all, which may
disrupt our business and harm our financial results.

We license third-party software and other intellectual property for use in product research and development and, in several instances, for inclusion in our
products such as our license with Qualcomm for FlexNoC. We also license third-party software, including the software of our competitors, to test the
interoperability of our products with other industry products and in connection with our professional services. Our third-party licenses typically limit our use
of IP to specific uses and for specific time periods, and include other contractual obligations with which we must comply. Moreover, certain intellectual
property rights may be licensed to us on a non-exclusive basis, and accordingly, the owners of such intellectual property rights are free to license such
rights to third parties, including our competitors, on terms that may be superior to those offered to us, which could place us at a competitive disadvantage.
These licenses may need to be renegotiated or renewed from time to time, or we may need to obtain new licenses in the future. For example, we may be
required to renegotiate or seek a waiver to or consent under our license with Qualcomm with respect to our FlexNoC product in the event of certain
changes of control (as defined in our agreements with Qualcomm) and there can be no guarantee we would be successful in such endeavor. Such
provision could prevent us from pursuing a robust sales process in the event of a sale of the company if Qualcomm refuses to provide consent or waive
such change in control provision. In such an event, a change in control could cause us to lose our license with Qualcomm and our valuation could be
adversely affected. See “Business—Material Agreement—Qualcomm Agreements” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information. Third
parties may stop adequately supporting or maintaining their technology, or they or their technology may be acquired by our competitors. If we are unable
to obtain licenses to these third-party software and intellectual property rights on reasonable terms or at all, we may not be able to sell or support the
affected products, our customers’ use of the products may be interrupted, and/or our product development processes and professional services offerings
may be disrupted, which could in turn harm our financial results, our customers, and our reputation. Further, if we or our third-party licensors were to
breach any material term of a license, such a breach could, among other things, prompt costly litigation, result in the license being terminated or result in
fines and other damages. If any of the following were to occur, it could harm our business and our reputation.

We also cannot be certain that our licensors are not infringing the intellectual property rights of others or that our licensors have sufficient rights to the
intellectual property to grant us the applicable licenses. Although we seek to mitigate this risk contractually, we may not be able to sufficiently limit our
potential liability. If we are unable to obtain or maintain rights to any of this intellectual property because of intellectual property rights infringement claims
brought by third parties against our licensors or against us, our ability to develop, maintain and support our products and technology incorporating that
intellectual property could be severely limited and our business could be harmed. Furthermore, regardless of outcome, infringement claims may require us
to use significant resources and may divert management’s attention.

Some of our products and technology, including those we acquire, may include software licensed under open-source licenses. Use and distribution of
open-source software, where applicable, may entail greater risks than use of third-party commercial software, as open-source licensors generally do not
provide support, warranties, indemnification, or other contractual protections regarding infringement claims or the quality of the code. To the extent that
our technology may in the future depend upon the successful operation of open-source software, any undetected errors or defects in this open-source
software could prevent the deployment or impair the functionality of such technologies and injure our reputation.
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Moreover, some open-source software licenses require users who distribute that open-source software as part of their proprietary software to publicly
disclose all or part of the source code to such software and make available any derivative works or modifications of the open-source code on unfavorable
terms or at no cost. If we were to combine our proprietary software with such open-source software in a certain manner, we could, under certain
circumstances, be required to comply with such license terms. Although we have tools and processes to monitor and restrict our use of open-source
software, the risks associated with open-source usage cannot be eliminated and may, if not properly addressed, result in unanticipated obligations that
could harm our business.

Any dispute regarding our intellectual property may require us to indemnify certain customers, the cost of which could severely harm our
business.

In any potential dispute involving our patents or other intellectual property, our customers could also become the target of litigation.  Some of our
agreements, including those with key customers like Texas Instruments Incorporated and Samsung Electronics Co., Ltd., provide for indemnification, and
some require us to provide technical support and information to a customer that is involved in litigation involving use of our technology. In addition, we
may be exposed to indemnification obligations, risks and liabilities that were unknown at the time that we acquired assets or businesses for our
operations. Any of these indemnification and support obligations could result in substantial and material expenses. In addition to the time and expense
required for us to indemnify or supply such support to our customers, a customer’s development, marketing and sales of licensed semiconductors, mobile
communications and data security technologies could be severely disrupted or shut down as a result of litigation, which in turn could severely harm our
business as a result of lower or no royalty payments.

Cybersecurity threats continue to increase in frequency and sophistication; a successful cybersecurity attack could interrupt or disrupt our
information technology systems, or those of our third-party service providers, or cause the loss of confidential or protected data which could
disrupt our business, force us to incur excessive costs or cause reputational harm.

Security breaches, computer malware and computer hacking attacks have become more prevalent across industries and may occur on our systems or
those of our third-party service providers or partners. The size and complexity of our information systems make such systems potentially vulnerable to
service interruptions or to security breaches from inadvertent or intentional actions by our employees or vendors, or from attacks by malicious third
parties. Such attacks are increasing in their frequency, levels of persistence, levels of sophistication and intensity, and are being conducted by
sophisticated and organized groups and individuals with a wide range of motives and expertise. As a result of the recent COVID-19 or any future
pandemic, we may face increased cybersecurity risks due to our reliance on internet technology and the number of our employees who are working
remotely, which may create additional opportunities for cybercriminals to exploit vulnerabilities. In addition to unauthorized access to or acquisition of
personal data, confidential information, intellectual property or other sensitive information, such attacks could include the deployment of harmful malware
and ransomware, and may use a variety of methods, including denial-of-service attacks, phishing, social engineering and other means, to attain such
unauthorized access or acquisition or otherwise affect service reliability and threaten the confidentiality, integrity and availability of information. Like many
other companies, we experience attempted cybersecurity actions on a frequent basis, and the frequency of such attempts could increase in the future.
While we have invested in the protection of data and information technology, there can be no assurance that our efforts will prevent or quickly identify
service interruptions or security breaches. For example, in 2019 a customer paid an invoice to a fraudulent third-party and such amount could not be
recovered. The techniques used by cybercriminals to obtain unauthorized access to systems or sabotage systems, or disable or degrade services,
change frequently, may not be recognized until launched against a target and can originate from a wide variety of sources, including outside groups such
as external service providers, organized crime affiliates, terrorist organizations or hostile foreign governments or agencies. We cannot assure that our
data protection efforts and our investment in information technology will prevent significant breakdowns, data leakages or breaches in our systems or
those of our third-party services providers or partners. Any such interruption or breach of our systems could adversely affect our business operations
and/or result in the loss of critical or sensitive confidential information or intellectual property, and could result in financial, legal, business and reputational
harm to us.
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Data security breaches could also expose us to liability under various laws and regulations across jurisdictions and increase the risk of litigation and
governmental or regulatory investigation. For example, the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018 as amended by the California Privacy Rights Act,
collectively the CCPA, imposes a private right of action for security breaches that could lead to some form of remedy including regulatory scrutiny, fines,
private right of action settlements, and other consequences. Where a security incident involves a breach of security leading to the accidental or unlawful
destruction, loss, alternation, unauthorized disclosure of, or access to, personal data in respect of which we are a controller or processor under the GDPR
or U.K. GDPR (as defined below), this could result in fines of up to €20.0 million or 4% of annual global turnover under the GDPR or £17.5 million and 4%
of total annual revenue in the case of the U.K. GDPR. Due to concerns about data security and integrity, a growing number of legislative and regulatory
bodies have adopted breach notification and other requirements in the event that information subject to such laws is accessed by unauthorized persons
and additional regulations regarding security of such data are possible. We may be required to notify such breaches to regulators and/or individuals which
may result in us incurring additional costs. Moreover, any such compromise of our information security or that of our third parties could result in the
misappropriation or unauthorized publication or other exploitation of our confidential business or proprietary information or personal information or that of
other parties with which we do business, an interruption in our operations, the unauthorized transfer of cash or other assets, the unauthorized release of
customer or employee data or a violation of privacy or other laws. In addition, computer programmers and hackers also may be able to develop and
deploy viruses, worms and other malicious software programs that attack our products, or that otherwise exploit any security vulnerabilities, and any such
attack, if successful, could expose us to liability to customer claims. Any of the foregoing could irreparably damage our reputation and business, which
could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, cause us to incur significant costs, including legal expenses and remediation costs.

We maintain cyber liability insurance; however, this insurance may not be sufficient to cover the financial, legal, business or reputational losses that may
result from an interruption or breach of our systems.

We are subject to data protection, privacy and security laws, regulations, standards and other requirements across different markets where we
conduct our business. Our actual or perceived failure to comply with such obligations could harm our business.

The global data protection landscape is rapidly evolving, and we are or may become subject to numerous state, federal and foreign laws, regulations,
legal requirements, contractual obligations and industry standards regarding security, data protection and privacy and any actual or perceived failure to
comply with these requirements, obligations or standards could harm our reputation and business. If we are found to have breached any such laws or
regulations in any such jurisdiction, we may be subject to enforcement actions that require us to change our business practices in a manner which may
negatively impact our revenue, as well as expose us to litigation, fines, civil and/or criminal penalties and adverse publicity that could cause our customers
to lose trust in us, negatively impacting our reputation and business in a manner that harms our financial position. Implementation standards and
enforcement practices are likely to remain uncertain for the foreseeable future, and we cannot yet determine the impact future laws, regulations,
standards, or perception of their requirements may have on our business. This evolution may create uncertainty in our business, affect our ability to
operate in certain jurisdictions or to collect, store, transfer use and share personal information, necessitate the acceptance of more onerous obligations in
our contracts, result in liability or impose additional costs on us. The cost of compliance with these laws, regulations and standards is high and is likely to
increase in the future.
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As part of our business, we collect personal data, and other potentially sensitive and/or regulated data from our customers. In the U.S., numerous federal
and state laws and regulations, including data breach notification laws data privacy and security laws and consumer protection laws and regulations
govern the collection, use, disclosure protection and other processing of personal information. For example, the CCPA requires covered companies to,
among other things, provide certain disclosures to California consumers about use of personal information, and affords such consumers new privacy
rights such as the ability to opt-out of certain sales of personal information and expanded rights to access and require deletion of their personal
information, opt out of certain personal information sharing, and receive detailed information about how their personal information is collected, used and
shared. The CCPA provides for civil penalties for violations, as well as a private right of action for security breaches that may increase security breach
litigation. The California Privacy Rights Act (CPRA) passed in California significantly amends the CCPA and imposes additional data protection obligations
on covered businesses, including additional consumer rights processes, limitations on data uses, new audit requirements for higher risk data, and opt outs
for certain uses of sensitive data. As part of CPRA, a new California data protection agency is authorized to issue substantive regulations and could result
in increased privacy and information security enforcement. The majority of the provisions went into effect on January 1, 2023, and additional compliance
investment and potential business process changes may be required. Further, Virginia enacted the Virginia Consumer Data Protection Act, another
comprehensive state privacy law, effective January 1, 2023. Colorado also enacted the Colorado Privacy Act, effective July 1, 2023, Connecticut enacted
the Connecticut Data Privacy Act, effective July 1, 2023, Texas enacted the Texas Data Privacy Act, effective July 1, 2024, and Utah enacted the Utah
Consumer Privacy Act, effective December 31, 2023. These state privacy laws may increase our compliance costs and potential liability, particularly in
the event of a data breach, and could harm our business, including how we use personal information. A number of other proposals exist for new federal
and state privacy legislation that, if passed, could increase our potential liability, increase our compliance costs and harm our business.

Our operations abroad may also be subject to increased scrutiny or attention from data protection authorities. For example, the EU General Data
Protection Regulation (EU GDPR) and the U.K. General Data Protection Regulation and the U.K. Data Protection Act 2018 (UK GDPR) (collectively, the
GDPR) imposes comprehensive data privacy compliance obligations on our collection, processing, sharing, disclosure, transfer and other use of data
relating to an identifiable living individual or “personal data”. The EU and U.K. regimes also include laws which, among other things, require European
Economic Area (EEA) member states and the U.K. to regulate marketing by electronic means and the use of cookies and similar technologies. The GDPR
has resulted in, and will continue to result in, significant compliance burdens and costs for companies with customers and/or operations in the EEA and
the U.K. The GDPR, and national implementing legislation in each member state, imposes a strict data protection compliance regime including: (i)
providing detailed disclosures about how personal data is collected and processed; (ii) demonstrating that an appropriate legal basis is in place or
otherwise exists to justify data processing activities; (iii) granting certain rights for data subjects in regard to their personal data (including transparency,
the right to be “forgotten,” right to data portability, right of access, and right to rectification); (iv) obligation to notify data protection regulators or supervisory
authorities (and in certain cases, affected individuals) of significant data breaches; (v) imposing limitations on retention of personal data; (vi) maintaining a
record of data processing; and (vii) complying with the principal of accountability and the obligation to demonstrate compliance through policies,
procedures, training and audit. If our privacy or data security measures fail to comply with applicable current or future laws and regulations, we may be
subject to litigation, regulatory investigations, and enforcement notices requiring us to change the way we use personal data or our marketing practices.
For example, under the GDPR we may be subject to fines of up to €20 million / £17.5 million or up to 4% of the total worldwide annual group turnover of
the preceding financial year (whichever is higher) for major violations. In addition to the foregoing, a breach of the GDPR could result in regulatory
investigations, reputational damage, orders to cease/ change our processing of our data, enforcement notices, and/ or assessment notices (for a
compulsory audit). We may also face civil claims including representative actions and other class action type litigation (where individuals have suffered
harm), potentially amounting to significant compensation or damages liabilities, as well as associated costs, diversion of internal resources, reputational
harm and a potential loss of business.
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We are also subject to European Union rules with respect to cross-border transfers of personal data out of the EEA and the U.K. Recent legal
developments in Europe have created complexity and uncertainty regarding transfers of personal data from the EEA and the U.K. to the United States. In
July 2020, the Court of Justice of the EU (CJEU) limited how organizations could lawfully transfer personal data from the EU/EEA to the United States by
invalidating the Privacy Shield for purposes of international transfers and imposing further restrictions on the use of standard contractual clauses (SCCs).
In March 2022, the US and EU announced a new regulatory regime intended to replace the invalidated regulations called the EU-US Data Privacy
Framework (DPF). On July 10, 2023, the EU adopted an adequacy decision for the EU-U.S. DPF after determining that the additional safeguards
included in Executive Order 14086 signed by President Biden on October 7, 2022, provide an adequate level of protection for personal data transferred
from the European Union. The adequacy decision allows the EU-U.S. DPF to facilitate the transfer of data from Europe to the United States, benefiting
companies and individuals on both sides of the Atlantic. We currently rely on the SCCs to transfer personal data outside the EEA and the U.K., including
to the U.S., with respect to both intragroup and third-party transfers. We will be required to implement the revised applicable SCCs within the relevant
time frames. In addition, the UK’s Information Commissioner’s Office has published new data transfer standard contracts for transfers from the UK under
the UK GDPR. This new documentation will be mandatory for relevant data transfers from September 21, 2022; existing SCCs arrangements must be
migrated to the new documentation by March 21, 2024. We will be required to implement the latest U.K. data transfer documentation for data transfers
subject to the UK GDPR, within the relevant time frames. These recent developments may require us to review and amend the legal mechanisms by
which we make and/ or receive personal data transfers to in the U.S. As supervisory authorities issue further guidance on personal data export
mechanisms, including circumstances where the standard contractual clauses cannot be used, and/or start taking enforcement action, we could suffer
additional costs, complaints and/or regulatory investigations or fines.

Further, the exit of the U.K. from the EU, often referred to as Brexit, has created uncertainty with regard to data protection regulation in the U.K. The
European Commission has adopted an adequacy decision in favor of the U.K., enabling data transfers from EU member states to the U.K. without
additional safeguards. However, the U.K. adequacy decision will automatically expire in June 2025 unless the European Commission re-assesses and
renews/ extends that decision, and remains under review by the Commission during this period. In September 2021, the U.K. government launched a
consultation on its proposals for wide-ranging reform of UK data protection laws following Brexit. There is a risk that any material changes which are
made to the U.K. data protection regime could result in the Commission reviewing the U.K. adequacy decision, and the U.K. losing its adequacy decision
if the Commission deems the U.K. to no longer provide adequate protection for personal data. The relationship between the U.K. and the EU in relation to
certain aspects of data protection law remains unclear, and it is unclear how U.K. data protection laws and regulations will develop in the medium to
longer term, and how data transfers to and from the U.K. will be regulated in the long term. These changes will lead to additional costs and increase our
overall risk exposure.

Restrictions on the collection, use, sharing or disclosure of personal information or additional requirements and liability for security and data integrity could
require us to modify our solutions and features, possibly in a material manner, could limit our ability to develop new products and features and could
subject us to increased compliance obligations and regulatory scrutiny, such as with respect to Article 38 of the China Personal Information Protection
Law (PIPL) Measures for Standard Contract on Outbound Transfer of Personal Information.

Although we make reasonable efforts to comply with all applicable data protection laws and regulations, our interpretations and such measures may have
been or may prove to be insufficient or incorrect. Any failure to comply with any data protection laws and/or regulations that results in a data security
breach could require notifications to data subjects and/or owners under federal, state and/or international data breach notification laws and regulations.
The effects of any applicable U.S. state, federal and international laws and regulations that are currently in effect or that may go into effect in the future,
are significant and may require us to modify our data processing practices and policies and to incur substantial costs and potential liability in an effort to
comply with such laws and regulations. Allegations of non-compliance, whether or not true, could be costly, time consuming, distracting to management,
and cause reputational harm. In addition to government regulation, privacy advocates and industry groups may propose new and different self-regulatory
standards. Because the interpretation and application of privacy and data protection laws are still uncertain, it is possible that these laws may be
interpreted and applied in a manner that is inconsistent with one another or inconsistent with our existing data management practices or the features of
our products and services. Any actual or perceived failure to comply with these and other data protection and privacy laws and regulations could result in
regulatory scrutiny and increased exposure to the risk of litigation or the imposition of consent orders, resolution agreements, requirements to take
particular actions with respect to training, policies or other activities, and civil and criminal penalties, including fines, which could harm our business. In
addition, we or our third-party service providers could be required to fundamentally change our business activities and practices or modify our products
and services, which could harm our or our third-party service providers’ business. Any of the foregoing could result in additional cost and liability to us,
damage our reputation, inhibit sales, and harm our business.
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Risks Related to Legal, Regulatory, Accounting and Tax Matters

Our failure to comply with the large body of laws and regulations to which we are subject could materially harm our business.

We are subject to regulation by various governmental agencies in the United States and other jurisdictions in which we operate. These laws and
regulations (and the government agency responsible for their enforcement in the United States) cover: radio frequency emission regulatory activities
(Federal Communications Commission); anti-trust regulatory activities (Federal Trade Commission and Department of Justice); consumer protection laws
(Federal Trade Commission); import/export regulatory activities (Department of Commerce); product safety regulatory activities (Consumer Products
Safety Commission); worker safety (Occupational Safety and Health Administration); environmental protection (Environmental Protection Agency and
similar state and local agencies); employment matters (Equal Employment Opportunity Commission); and tax and other regulations by a variety of
regulatory authorities in each of the areas in which we conduct business. In certain jurisdictions, regulatory requirements in one or more of these areas
may be more stringent than in the United States.

In the area of employment matters, we are subject to a variety of federal, state and foreign employment and labor laws and regulations, including the
Americans with Disabilities Act, the Federal Fair Labor Standards Act, the WARN Act and other regulations related to working conditions, wage and hour
pay, overtime pay, employee benefits, anti-discrimination, and termination of employment. We are subject to local employment statutes and regulations in
other jurisdictions. Noncompliance with any of these applicable regulations or requirements could subject us to investigations, sanctions, enforcement
actions, fines, damages, penalties, or injunctions. In certain instances, former employees have brought claims against us and we expect that we will
encounter similar actions against us in the future. An adverse outcome in any such litigation could require us to pay damages, attorneys’ fees and costs.
These enforcement actions could harm our reputation and business. If any governmental sanctions are imposed, or if we do not prevail in any possible
civil or criminal litigation, our business could be harmed. In addition, responding to any action will likely result in a significant diversion of management’s
attention and resources and an increase in professional fees.

Our failure to comply with the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, other applicable anti-corruption and anti-bribery laws, and applicable anti-money
laundering laws could subject us to penalties and other adverse consequences.

We have extensive international operations and a substantial portion of our business is conducted outside of the United States. Our operations are subject
to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended (the FCPA), the U.S. domestic bribery statute contained in 18 U.S.C. § 201, the U.S.
Travel Act, the USA PATRIOT Act, as well as the anti-corruption, anti-bribery, and anti-money laundering laws in the countries where we do business.
Anti-corruption laws are interpreted broadly and prohibit companies and their employees and agents from promising, authorizing, making, or offering,
soliciting, or accepting, directly or indirectly, improper payments or other benefits to or from any person whether in the public or private sector. The FCPA
also requires publicly traded companies to maintain records that accurately and fairly represent their transactions, and to have an adequate system of
internal accounting controls. As we increase our international sales and business, our risks under these laws may increase.

Though we maintain policies, internal controls and other measures reasonably designed to promote compliance with applicable anti-corruption, anti-
bribery laws, and anti-money laundering laws and regulations, our employees or agents may nevertheless engage in improper conduct for which we might
be held responsible. Any violations of these laws, or even allegations of such violations, can lead to an investigation and/or enforcement action, which
could disrupt our operations, involve significant management distraction, and lead to significant costs and expenses, including legal fees. If we, or our
employees or agents acting on our behalf, are found to have engaged in practices that violate these laws and regulations, we could suffer severe fines
and penalties, profit disgorgement, injunctions on future conduct, securities litigation, bans on transacting government business, delisting from securities
exchanges and other consequences that may harm our business. In addition, our reputation, our revenue or our stock price could be adversely affected if
we become the subject of any negative publicity related to actual or potential violations of any of these laws and regulations.
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We are subject to government regulation, including import, export and economic sanctions laws and regulations that may expose us to liability
and increase our costs.

Certain of our products, including our IP interconnect and other solutions and technology are subject to U.S. export controls, including the U.S.
Department of Commerce’s EAR and economic and trade sanctions regulations administered by the U.S. Treasury Department’s Office of Foreign Assets
Controls. These regulations may limit the export of our products and technology, and provision of our services outside of the United States, or may require
export authorizations, including by license, a license exception, or other appropriate government authorizations and conditions, including annual or semi-
annual reporting. Export control and economic sanctions laws may also include prohibitions on the sale or supply of certain of our products to embargoed
or sanctioned countries, regions, governments, persons, and entities. In addition, various countries regulate the importation of certain products, through
import permitting and licensing requirements, and have enacted laws that could limit our ability to distribute our products. The exportation, re-
exportation, and importation of our products and technology and the provision of services, including by our partners, must comply with these laws or else
we may be adversely affected through reputational harm, government investigations, penalties, and a denial or curtailment of our ability to export our
products and technology. Complying with export control and sanctions laws may be time-consuming and may result in the delay or loss of sales
opportunities. Although we take precautions to prevent our products and technology from being provided in violation of such laws, our products and
technology have previously been, and could in the future be, provided inadvertently in violation of such laws, despite the precautions we take. If we are
found to be in violation of U.S. sanctions or export control laws, it could result in substantial fines and penalties for us and for the individuals working for
us. Changes in export or import laws or sanctions policies may adversely impact our operations, delay the introduction and sale of our products in
international markets, or, in some cases, prevent the export or import of our products and technology to certain countries, regions, governments, persons,
or entities altogether, which could harm our business.

We will lose sales if we are unable to obtain government authorization to export certain of our products and services, and we will be subject to
legal and regulatory consequences if we do not comply with applicable export control laws and regulations or if such laws and regulations
were to change.

Exports of certain of our IP interconnect and other solutions are subject to export controls imposed by the U.S. government and administered by the U.S.
Departments of State and Commerce. In certain instances, these regulations may require pre-shipment authorization from the administering department.
For products subject to the EAR, administered by the U.S. Department of Commerce’s Bureau of Industry and Security (BIS), the requirement for a
license is dependent on the type and end use of the product, the final destination, the identity of the end user and whether a license exception might
apply. Certain of our solutions are subject to EAR. Obtaining export licenses can be difficult, costly and time-consuming and we may not always be
successful in obtaining necessary export licenses, and our failure to obtain required import or export approval for our products or limitations on our ability
to export or sell our products imposed by these laws may harm our international and domestic revenue. Noncompliance with these laws could have
negative consequences, including government investigations, penalties and reputational harm. The absence of comparable restrictions on competitors in
other countries may adversely affect our competitive position.

In addition, in October 2022 and October 2023, the U.S. federal government modified certain of its regulations affecting the export of semiconductor
products and equipment, with particular focus on export to China. We must continue to comply with such regulations and take additional review and
precautions as required when such export regulations are updated or changed by the U.S. federal government.

We derive revenue from products that are not subject to the EAR from parties that are subject to the Entity List of the EAR (a list of entities to which the
transfer of EAR-controlled technology or software requires a U.S. export license). Current and future business with these entities may be limited in scope
or suspended entirely if regulations pertaining to such non-EAR products change, and our revenue could be adversely impacted. Regulatory changes
concerning the export classification of our products, changes to the applicability of the EAR to certain product offerings, or the addition of new entities to
the Entity List or other restricted party lists can further increase the scope of export restrictions applicable to our business. Failure to obtain export licenses
for our products or having one or more of our customers be restricted from receiving exports from us could significantly reduce our revenue and harm our
business.

The U.S. federal government has increased its Entity List materially and expanded its regulatory scope with respect to semiconductors in recent years,
which affects the range and number of customers, including Chinese customers available to license our products and technology. This raises an
additional risk that China and/or other jurisdictions may enact retaliatory legislation or regulations that may raise similar adverse risks. As reflected in other
Risk Factors, such risks may increase if additional Chinese entities are placed on the Entity List due, among other things, to their business with Russia in
light of China’s stance and actions taken relating to Russia-Ukraine tensions and hostilities.
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In July 2021, we submitted a voluntary self-disclosure (VSD) to the U.S. Department of Commerce's Bureau of Industry and Security, noting potential
violations of the EAR. On April 28, 2022, the Office of Export Enforcement of the U.S. Department of Commerce's Bureau of Industry and Security closed
the matter with the issuance of a warning letter. In our VSD submission, we had identified discrete transactions with two customers, Bada and HiSilicon.
We do not provide either customer with products or ongoing support. We have taken and continue to take remedial measures to help prevent similar
situations from occurring in the future.

We face risks associated with doing business in China.

For the year ended December 31, 2023 , we derived 31.1% of our revenue from customers located in China. As a result, the economic, political, legal and
social conditions in China could harm our business. In recent years, the Chinese economy has experienced periods of rapid expansion and high rates of
inflation. These factors have led to the adoption by the Chinese government, from time to time, of various corrective measures designed to restrict the
availability of credit or regulate growth and contain inflation. Various factors may in the future cause the Chinese government to impose controls on credit
or prices, or to take other action, which could inhibit economic activity in China, and thereby harm the market for our products. In addition, the legal
system in China has inherent uncertainties that may limit the legal protections available in the event of any claims or disputes that we have with third
parties, including our ability to protect the IP we develop in China or elsewhere. As China’s legal system is still evolving, the interpretation of many laws,
regulations and rules is not always uniform and enforcement of these laws, regulations and rules involve uncertainties, which may limit the remedies
available in the event of any claims or disputes with third parties. In addition, any litigation in China may be protracted and result in substantial costs and
diversion of resources and management attention. We have observed sustained reports of intellectual property theft and misappropriation in China. Some
of the other risks related to doing business in China include:

■ The Chinese government exerts substantial influence over the manner in which we must conduct our business activities.

■ Restrictions on currency exchange may limit our ability to receive, transfer and use our cash effectively.

■ Increased uncertainties related to the protection and enforcement of intellectual property rights, including risk of theft or misappropriation of our
products and intellectual property in China, as well as any intellectual property rights that we may license to a Chinese (or other emerging
jurisdiction) entity, including any joint ventures we may form.

■ Increased uncertainties relating to Chinese regulation of exports of products and technology to and from China.

■ Increased and rapidly changing export and related trade regulations and restrictions imposed by U.S. and Chinese legislation, executive actions
and regulations.

■ Difficulty of travel to and from China (and to and from United States) arising from or related to the COVID-19 pandemic or any future pandemic.

■ The Chinese government may favor its local businesses and make it more difficult for foreign businesses to operate in China on an equal
footing or create generally difficult conditions for foreign headquartered businesses to operate.

■ Increased uncertainties related to the enforcement of contracts with certain parties.

■ More restrictive rules on foreign investment could adversely affect our ability to expand our operations in China.

■ Geopolitical tensions between China on the one hand and the United States and/or the European Union on the other hand, may increase and
may lead to increased export sanctions with Chinese entities and sanctions made against China.
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Political instability, changes in government or destabilizing political developments in or around the major countries and jurisdictions in which we do
business have created challenges and an adverse business environment which in turn has impacted our business and financial condition. Worldwide and
regional geopolitical tensions and conflicts, including but not limited to China, Hong Kong, Israel, Korea and Taiwan where our customers are located,
have resulted in changing regulatory requirements or other disruptions that have and could continue to impact our international operations and operating
strategies, global product demand and sales, access to global markets, hiring, and profitability. If a disaster, war or catastrophic event affects our ability to
work with customers in any of these countries, including China, our business could be harmed by a decline in sales, increased contract expense, and
substantial time spent on alternative demand generation. As a result of our growing operations in China, these risks could harm our business.

Further, on June 3, 2021, the President issued Executive Order 14032 (Addressing the Threat from Securities Investments that Finance Certain
Companies of the People’s Republic of China) targeting entities that are deemed part of the Chinese military-industrial complex. The executive order, and
the subsequent Office of Foreign Assets Control additions to its Non-SDN Chinese Military-Industrial Complex Companies List, include one or more
entities that have indirectly invested in us. Among other things, this executive order prohibits the purchase or sale of any publicly traded securities of a
designated entity. We do not expect that this executive order will impact us; however, further government escalation of restrictions related to Chinese
investors and dealings in securities could harm certain shareholders.

Additionally, on October 7, 2022, the U.S. Department of Commerce's Bureau of Industry and Security issued export controls related to the Chinese
semiconductor manufacturing, advanced computing, and supercomputer industries. These export controls impose broad end-use and other restrictions on
facilities in China that develop or produce semiconductor chips or manufacturing equipment, and may impact our ability to license or support our products
to entities in or doing business with certain advanced AI or “supercomputer” design companies, foundries and manufacturers of assemblies and
components in China. On October 17, 2023, U.S. Department of Commerce's Bureau of Industry and Security issued regulations amending the October
7, 2022 export controls governing the export of certain semiconductor-related hardware and software to China. These restrictions, which are effective on
November 17, 2023, and any subsequent restrictions, may have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations, or financial condition and we
may no longer be able to license or support our products to certain companies in China. Furthermore, increased restrictions on China exports may lead to
regulatory retaliation by the Chinese government and possibly further escalate geopolitical tensions, and any such scenarios may adversely impact our
business. The prospect of future export controls that are implemented in a similar manner may continue to have an ongoing impact on our business,
results of operation, or financial conditions.

On August 9, 2023, President Biden signed an “Executive Order 14105 entitled Executive Order on Addressing United States Investments in Certain
National Security Technologies and Products in Countries of Concern” that will impact certain investments by U.S. persons and companies in China. This
new regulatory regime, which will not likely take effect until implementing regulations are issued by the U.S. Department of the Treasury in early 2024, will
require notification to the Treasury Department of certain investments by U.S. persons and companies involving certain sectors and technologies in China
and will prohibit other types of investments in China.
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We anticipate conducting certain of our operations through joint venture arrangements with Chinese entities. If the Chinese government
determines that these arrangements do not comply with applicable regulations, our business could be adversely affected. If the PRC
regulatory agencies determine that the agreements that establish the structure and relationship for our operations in China do not comply with
PRC regulatory restrictions on foreign investment, we could be subject to severe penalties. In addition, changes in such Chinese laws and
regulations may materially and adversely affect our business.

There are uncertainties regarding the interpretation and application of PRC laws, rules and regulations, including, but not limited to, the laws, rules and
regulations governing the validity and enforcement of the joint venture arrangement such as the one we are contemplating entering into with certain
Chinese entities, including one of our shareholders who holds less than 5% of our outstanding common stock. Because many laws and regulations are
relatively new, the interpretations of many laws, regulations and rules are not always uniform. Moreover, the interpretation of statutes and regulations may
be subject to government policies reflecting domestic political agendas. Enforcement of existing laws or contracts based on existing law may be uncertain
and sporadic. Although we believe, based on our understanding of the current PRC laws, rules and regulations, the structure for our current and
contemplated operations based in China complies with all applicable PRC laws, rules and regulations and does not violate, breach, contravene or
otherwise conflict with any applicable PRC laws, rules or regulations, we cannot assure you that the PRC regulatory authorities will not determine that
such joint venture arrangements do not violate PRC laws, rules or regulations. If the PRC regulatory authorities determine that any joint ventures, we may
enter into are in violation of applicable PRC laws, rules or regulations, such joint venture arrangements may become invalid or unenforceable, which will
substantially affect our operations adversely.

The Chinese government has broad discretion in dealing with violations of laws and regulations, including levying fines, revoking business and other
licenses and requiring actions necessary for compliance. In particular, licenses and permits issued or granted by relevant governmental agencies may be
revoked at a later time by other regulatory agencies. We cannot predict the effect of the interpretation of existing or new Chinese laws or regulations on
our business. Any of these or similar actions could significantly disrupt our operations or restrict us from conducting a substantial portion of our operations,
which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. There can be no assurance that the U.S.
government will refrain from imposing additional restrictions or constraints on dealings or investments in China, including our investment in Transchip or
any future joint venture arrangements.

Joint ventures or similar investments are subject to a number of risks, the occurrence of which could adversely impact any of our current or
future joint ventures or similar investments, which in turn could harm our business.

Joint ventures or similar investments such as the investment in Transchip as discussed elsewhere in this report, and other joint ventures or similar
investments we may form in the future are subject to a number of risks, including but not limited to:

■ Our joint venture or investment partners may not commit sufficient resources to market and distribute our products or to otherwise support the
joint venture and its intended operations.

■ Our joint venture or investment partners may have economic or business interests or goals that are different from ours.

■ Our joint venture or investment partners may infringe the IP we assign to such joint venture, or the IP of other parties, which may expose us to
litigation and other potential liabilities.

■ Disputes may arise among us and our joint venture or investment partners that result in the delay or termination of activities contemplated by
such joint venture or investment or that could result in costly litigation or arbitration that diverts management attention and resources.

■ Our joint venture or investment partners may not provide us with timely and accurate information regarding the status or activities of the joint
venture or investment which could, among other things, impact our ability to accurately forecast financial results or provide timely information to
our shareholders.

■ Risks associated with additional capital requirements.

■ Any of the risks related to doing business in China or having a Chinese joint venture or investment that are discussed elsewhere in these risk
factors.

The occurrence of one or more of the above risks, or any other negative events, could adversely impact our joint ventures or similar investments and
could in turn harm our business.
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Social and environmental responsibility regulations, policies and provisions, as well as customer and investor demands, may make our supply
chain more complex and may adversely affect our relationships with customers and investors.

There is an increasing focus on corporate social and environmental responsibility in the semiconductor industry. A number of our customers have
adopted, or may adopt, procurement policies that include social and environmental responsibility provisions or requirements that their suppliers should
comply with, or they may seek to include such provisions or requirements in their procurement terms and conditions. An increasing number of investors
are also requiring companies to disclose corporate social and environmental policies, practices and metrics. Legal and regulatory requirements, as well as
investor expectations, on corporate social responsibility practices and disclosure, are subject to change, can be unpredictable, and may be difficult and
expensive for us to comply with, given the complexity of our supply. If we are unable to comply, or are unable to cause our suppliers to comply, with such
policies or provisions or meet the requirements of our customers and our investors, a customer may stop purchasing products from us or an investor may
sell their shares, and may take legal action against us, which could harm our reputation, revenue and results of operations.

We could be subject to changes in tax rates or the adoption of new tax legislation, whether in or out of the United States, or could otherwise
have exposure to additional tax liabilities, which could harm our business.

As a multinational business, we are subject to income and other taxes in both the United States and various foreign jurisdictions. Changes to tax laws or
regulations in the jurisdictions in which we operate, or in the interpretation of such laws or regulations, could, significantly increase our effective tax rate
and reduce our cash flow from operating activities, and otherwise have a material adverse effect on our financial condition. In addition, other factors or
events, including business combinations and investment transactions, changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets and liabilities, adjustments to
taxes upon finalization of various tax returns or as a result of deficiencies asserted by taxing authorities, increases in expenses not deductible for tax
purposes, changes in available tax credits, changes in transfer pricing methodologies, other changes in the apportionment of our income and other
activities among tax jurisdictions, and changes in tax rates, could also increase our effective tax rate.

Our tax filings are subject to review or audit by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (the IRS) and state, local and foreign taxing authorities. We may also be
liable for taxes in connection with businesses we acquire. Our determinations are not binding on the IRS or any other taxing authorities, and accordingly
the final determination in an audit or other proceeding may be materially different than the treatment reflected in our tax provisions, accruals and returns.
An assessment of additional taxes because of an audit could harm our business.

Further changes in the tax laws of foreign jurisdictions could arise, in particular, as a result of the base erosion and profit shifting project that was
undertaken by the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (the OECD). The OECD, which represents a coalition of member countries,
recommended changes to numerous long-standing tax principles. These changes, if adopted, could increase tax uncertainty and may adversely affect our
provision for income taxes and increase our tax liabilities.

Our ability to use net operating losses to offset future taxable income may be subject to certain limitations.

We have incurred cumulative losses historically and it is possible that we will not achieve profitability in the future. Realization of our existing net operating
loss (NOL) carryforwards and other tax attributes (such as research tax credits) depends on future taxable income, and there is a risk that our NOL
carryforwards and other tax attributes could expire unused before we achieve profitability and be unavailable to offset future taxable income, which could
materially and adversely affect our operating results.

In general, under Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the Code), if a corporation undergoes an “ownership
change,” generally defined as a cumulative change of more than 50 percentage points (by value) in its equity ownership by certain stockholders over a
three-year period, the corporation’s ability to use its pre-change NOL carryforwards and other pre-change tax attributes (such as research tax credits) to
offset its post-change income or taxes may be limited. We may have experienced ownership changes in the past and may experience additional
ownership changes in the future, including as a result of subsequent changes in our stock ownership, some of which are outside our control. Accordingly,
we may not be able to utilize a material portion of our NOL carryforwards, even if we achieve profitability.
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The requirements of being a public company require significant resources and management attention and affect our ability to attract and
retain executive management and qualified board members.

As a public company, we incur increased legal, accounting, compliance and other expenses that we did not previously incur as a private company. We
are subject to the Exchange Act, including the reporting requirements thereunder, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and
Consumer Protection Act, the rules and other applicable securities rules and regulations. These rules and regulations impose various requirements on
public companies, including establishment and maintenance of effective disclosure and financial controls and corporate governance practices. Our
management and other personnel need to devote a substantial amount of time to these compliance initiatives, which divert their attention away from our
core business operations and revenue-producing activities. Moreover, compliance with these rules and regulations increases our legal and financial
compliance costs, makes some activities more difficult, time-consuming or costly and increases demand on our systems and resources, particularly after
we are no longer an ‘‘emerging growth company.’’ Further, we expect that these rules and regulations may make it more difficult and more expensive for
us to obtain directors’ and officers’ liability insurance, which in turn could require us to incur substantially higher costs to obtain the same or similar
coverage or accept reduced policy limits and coverage, which, if we accept such reduced policy limits and coverage, could make it more difficult for us to
attract and retain qualified individuals to serve on our board of directors and as our executive officers. In addition, prior to our initial public offering, we
were not required to comply with SEC requirements to have our financial statements completed and reviewed or audited within a specified time and, as
such, we may experience difficulty in meeting the applicable reporting requirements under the Exchange Act. Any failure by us to file our periodic reports
with the SEC in a timely manner could harm our reputation and reduce the trading price of our common stock.

We continue to evaluate these rules and regulations and cannot predict or estimate the amount of additional costs we may incur or the timing of such
costs. These rules and regulations are often subject to varying interpretations, in many cases due to their lack of specificity, and, as a result, their
application in practice may evolve over time as new guidance is provided by regulatory and governing bodies. This could result in continuing uncertainty
regarding compliance matters and higher costs necessitated by ongoing revisions to disclosure and governance practices. In addition, if we fail to comply
with these rules and regulations, we could be subject to a number of penalties, including the delisting of our common stock, fines, sanctions or other
regulatory action or civil litigation.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting, our ability to produce timely and
accurate financial statements or comply with applicable regulations could be impaired.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial
reporting. Our disclosure controls and other procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file
with the SEC is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms and that information required to
be disclosed in reports under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our principal executive and financial officers, and we continue to
evaluate how to improve controls. We are also continuing to improve our internal control over financial reporting. In order to maintain and improve the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting, we have expended, and anticipate that we will
continue to expend, significant resources, including accounting-related costs and significant management oversight.

Our current controls and any new controls that we develop may become inadequate because of changes in conditions in our business. Further,
weaknesses in our disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting may be discovered in the future. Any failure to develop or maintain
effective controls or any difficulties encountered in their implementation or improvement could harm our business or cause us to fail to meet our reporting
obligations and may result in a restatement of our financial statements for prior periods. Any failure to implement and maintain effective internal control
over financial reporting also could adversely affect the results of periodic management evaluations and annual independent registered public accounting
firm attestation reports regarding the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting that we are required to include in our periodic reports that
will be filed with the SEC. Ineffective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting could also cause investors to lose
confidence in our reported financial and other information, which would likely have a negative effect on the trading price of our common stock. In addition,
if we are unable to continue to meet these requirements, we may not be able to remain listed. As a public company, we are required to provide an annual
management report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting.
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Our independent registered public accounting firm is not required to formally attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting until
after we are no longer an “emerging growth company” as defined in the JOBS Act. At such time, our independent registered public accounting firm may
issue a report that is adverse in the event it is not satisfied with the level at which our internal control over financial reporting is documented, designed or
operating. Any failure to maintain effective disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting could harm our business and could cause a
decline in the trading price of our common stock.

We are an “emerging growth company,” and we cannot be certain if the reduced disclosure requirements applicable to emerging growth
companies will make our common stock less attractive to investors.

We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the JOBS Act, and we could remain an emerging growth company until the last day of our fiscal
year following the fifth anniversary of the closing of our initial public offering. For as long as we continue to be an emerging growth company, we may
choose to take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging
growth companies, including, but not limited to:

■ not being required to engage an auditor to report on our internal controls over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act;

■ not being required to comply with any requirement that may be adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding
mandatory audit firm rotation or a supplement to the auditor’s report providing additional information about the audit and the financial
statements (i.e., an auditor discussion and analysis);

■ not being required to submit certain executive compensation matters to stockholder advisory votes, such as “say-on-pay,” “say-on-
frequency,” and “say-on-golden-parachutes”; and

■ not being required to disclose certain executive compensation related items such as the correlation between executive compensation and
performance and comparisons of the chief executive officer’s compensation to median employee compensation.

In addition, as an emerging growth company, we are only permitted to provide two years of audited financial statements and two years of selected
financial data (in addition to any required interim financial statements and selected financial data) in this report, and to present correspondingly reduced
disclosure in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

We have elected to take advantage of this reduced disclosure obligation and certain of the other exemptions described above and may elect to take
advantage of these and other reduced reporting requirements in the future. As a result, the information that we provide to our stockholders may be
different than the information you might receive from other public reporting companies in which you hold equity interests. In addition, the JOBS Act
permits emerging growth companies to delay adopting new or revised accounting standards until such time as those standards apply to private
companies. We have elected to use this extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards until the earlier of the date we
(i) are no longer an emerging growth company; or (ii) affirmatively and irrevocably opt out of the extended transition period provided in the JOBS Act. As
a result, our consolidated financial statements and the reported results of operations contained therein may not be directly comparable to those of other
public companies. We cannot predict whether investors will find our common stock less attractive because of our reliance on these exemptions. If some
investors do find our common stock less attractive, there may be a less active trading market for our common stock and our stock price may be reduced
or become more volatile.

We will remain an emerging growth company, and will be able to take advantage of the foregoing exemptions, until the last day of our fiscal year following
the fifth anniversary of the closing of our initial public offering or such earlier time that we otherwise cease to be an emerging growth company, which will
occur upon the earliest of (i) the last day of the first fiscal year in which our annual gross revenue is $1.235 billion or more; (ii) the date on which we have,
during the previous three-year period, issued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt securities; and (iii) the date that we become a “large
accelerated filer” as defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act, which will occur as of the end of any fiscal year in which (x) the market value of our
common equity held by non-affiliates is $700 million or more as of the last business day of our most recently completed second fiscal quarter, (y) we have
been required to file annual and quarterly reports under the Exchange Act for a period of at least 12 months and (z) we have filed at least one annual
report pursuant to the Exchange Act.
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Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock

An active and liquid trading market for our common stock may not be sustained.

Our common stock is currently listed on the Nasdaq Stock Market under the symbol “AIP”. The price for our common stock may vary and an active or
liquid market in our common stock may not be sustained. The lack of an active market may impair the value of your shares, your ability to sell your shares
at the time you wish to sell them and the prices that you may obtain for your shares. An inactive market may also impair our ability to raise further capital
by selling additional shares of our common stock and our ability to acquire other companies, products or technologies by using our common stock as
consideration. Furthermore, there can be no guarantee that we will continue to satisfy the continued listing standards of Nasdaq. If we fail to satisfy the
continued listing standards, we could be de-listed, which would negatively impact the value and liquidity of your investment.

Our stock price may be volatile, and investors in our common stock may not be able to resell shares of our common stock at or above the
price paid, or at all.

The trading price of our common stock could be volatile and subject to wide fluctuations in response to various factors, many of which are beyond our
control, including, but not limited to:

■ variations in our actual or anticipated annual or quarterly operating results or those of others in our industry;

■ the potential effects arising if U.S. inflationary and/or currency devaluation trends appear or increase;

■ results of operations that otherwise fail to meet the expectations of securities analysts and investors;

■ changes in earnings estimates or recommendations by securities analysts, or other changes in investor perceptions of the investment
opportunity associated with our common stock relative to other investment alternatives;

■ market conditions in the semiconductor industry;

■ failure to meet our publicly announced guidance or other expectations about our business;

■ publications, reports or other media exposure of our products or those of others in our industry, or of our industry generally;

■ announcements by us or others in our industry, or by our or their respective suppliers, distributors or other business partners, regarding, among
other things, significant contracts, price reductions, capital commitments or other business developments, the entry into or termination of
strategic transactions or relationships, securities offerings or other financing initiatives, and public reaction thereto;

■ additions or departures of key management personnel;

■ regulatory actions involving us or others in our industry, or actual or anticipated changes in applicable government regulations or enforcement
thereof;

■ the development and sustainability of an active trading market for our common stock;

■ sales, or anticipated sales, of large blocks of our common stock, such as any sales that may occur following the expiration of the lockups
entered into in connection with our initial public offering or any sales to cover tax obligations or exercise costs in connection with the vesting of
restricted stock units or the exercise of options, respectively;

■ general economic and securities market conditions, including rising interest rates; and

■ other factors discussed in this “Risk Factors” section and elsewhere in this report.

53



Table of Contents

Furthermore, the stock market in general has experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the
operating performance of particular companies. Broad market and industry factors may significantly affect the market price of our common stock,
regardless of our actual operating performance. These and other factors may cause the market price and demand for our common stock to fluctuate
significantly, which may limit or prevent investors from readily selling their shares of common stock and may otherwise negatively affect the liquidity of our
common stock. In addition, in the past, when the market price of a stock has been volatile, holders of that stock have sometimes instituted securities class
action litigation against the company that issued the stock. If any of our stockholders were to bring a lawsuit against us, we could incur substantial costs
defending the lawsuit. Such a lawsuit could also divert the time and attention of our management from our core business operations.

Since our stock price may be volatile, investors in our common stock may not be able to resell shares of our common stock at or above the price paid, or
at all.

We may fail to meet our publicly announced guidance or other expectations about our business, which could cause our stock price to decline.

We provide guidance regarding our expected financial and business performance including our anticipated future revenues, operating expenses and other
financial metrics. Correctly identifying the key factors affecting business conditions and predicting future events is inherently uncertain. Any guidance that
we provide may not always be accurate or may vary from actual results due to our inability to correctly identify risks and uncertainties and to quantify their
impact on our financial performance. We provide no assurances that such guidance will ultimately be accurate, and any such guidance should be treated
with appropriate caution. If we fail to meet our guidance or if we find it necessary to revise such guidance, even if seemingly insignificant, investors and
analysts may lose confidence in us and the market value of our common stock could be materially adversely affected.

If equity research analysts or industry analysts do not publish research or reports about our business, or if they change their
recommendations regarding our stock adversely, our stock price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock is influenced by the research and reports that industry or equity research analysts publish about us or our
business. As a newly public company, we may be slow to attract research coverage and the analysts who publish information about our common stock
will have had relatively little experience with us, which could affect their ability to accurately forecast our results and could make it more likely that we fail
to meet their estimates. If only a few securities or industry analysts commence coverage of us, the trading price for our common stock will be negatively
impacted. When we obtain industry or equity research analyst coverage, we will not have any control over the analysts’ content and opinions included in
their reports. If any of the analysts who cover us issue an adverse or misleading opinion regarding us, our business model, financial performance, stock
price or otherwise, our stock price would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts ceases coverage of our company or fails to regularly publish
reports on us, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in turn could cause our stock price or trading volume to decline and result in the loss
of all or a part of your investment in us.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market could cause our stock price to fall.

If our existing stockholders, including current or former employees sell, or indicate an intention to sell, substantial amounts of our common stock in the
public market, the market price of our common stock could decline. As of December 31, 2023, we had approximately 37.5 million shares of common stock
outstanding.

Shares of common stock that are either subject to outstanding options or reserved for future issuance pursuant to restricted stock unit grants, in each
case, under our equity incentive plans are eligible for sale in the public market to the extent permitted by the provisions of various vesting schedules and
Rule 144 and Rule 701 under the Securities Act. If these additional shares of common stock are sold, or if it is perceived that they will be sold, in the
public market, the market price of our common stock could decline.

In addition, certain of our executive officers, directors and stockholders affiliated with our directors have entered or may enter into Rule 10b5-1 plans
providing for sales of shares of our common stock from time to time. Under a Rule 10b5-1 plan, a broker executes trades pursuant to parameters
established by the executive officer, director or affiliated stockholder when entering into the plan, without further direction from the executive officer,
director or affiliated stockholder. A Rule 10b5-1 plan may be amended or terminated in some circumstances.

Our executive officers, directors and stockholders affiliated with our directors also may buy or sell additional shares outside of a Rule 10b5-1 plan when
they are not in possession of material, nonpublic information.
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K. Charles Janac, our President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman, beneficially owns a significant percentage of our stock and will be able
to exert significant control over matters subject to stockholder approval.

As of December 31, 2023, K. Charles Janac, our President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman, held voting power over approximately 27.9% of our
outstanding voting stock. Therefore, this stockholder will have the ability to influence us through this ownership position. For example, this stockholder
may be able to exercise significant influence over elections of directors, amendments of our organizational documents, or approval of any merger, sale of
assets, or other major corporate transaction. This may prevent or discourage unsolicited acquisition proposals or offers for our common stock that you
may feel are in your best interest as one of our stockholders.

Our issuance of additional capital stock in connection with financings, acquisitions, investments, our stock incentive plans or otherwise could
dilute the ownership and voting power of our other stockholders.

We have 300,000,000 shares of common stock authorized as of December 31, 2023. In addition, our Certificate of Incorporation authorizes us to issue up
to 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock with such rights and preferences as may be determined by our board of directors. Our Certificate of Incorporation
authorizes us to issue shares of common stock or other securities convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for shares of our common stock from
time to time, for the consideration and on the terms and conditions established by our board of directors in its sole discretion, whether in connection with a
financing, an acquisition, an investment, our stock incentive plans or otherwise. Such additional shares of our common stock or such other securities may
be issued at a discount to the market price of our common stock at the time of issuance. Our preferred stock could be issued with voting, liquidation,
dividend and other rights superior to the rights of our common stock. As discussed below, the potential issuance of preferred stock may delay or prevent a
change in control of us, discourage bids for our common stock at a premium to the market price, and materially and adversely affect the market price and
the voting and other rights of the holders of our common stock. Any issuance of such securities could result in substantial dilution to our existing
stockholders and cause the market price of shares of our common stock to decline.

We do not expect to declare or pay any dividends on our common stock for the foreseeable future.

We do not intend to pay cash dividends on our common stock for the foreseeable future. Consequently, investors must rely on sales of their shares of our
common stock after price appreciation, which may never occur, as the only way to realize any future gains on their investment. Investors seeking
dividends should not purchase shares of our common stock. Any future determination to pay dividends will be at the discretion of our board of directors
and subject to, among other things, our compliance with applicable law, and depending on, among other things, our business prospects, financial
condition, results of operations, cash requirements and availability, debt repayment obligations, capital expenditure needs, the terms of any preferred
equity securities we may issue in the future, covenants in the agreements governing our current and future indebtedness, other contractual restrictions,
industry trends, the provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law (the DGCL) affecting the payment of dividends and distributions to stockholders
and any other factors or considerations our board of directors may regard as relevant. Furthermore, because we are a holding company, our ability to pay
dividends on our common stock will depend on our receipt of cash distributions and dividends from our direct and indirect wholly owned subsidiaries,
which may be similarly impacted by, among other things, the terms of any preferred equity securities these subsidiaries may issue in the future, debt
agreements, other contractual restrictions and provisions of applicable law. See “Dividend Policy” for additional information.

Management may apply our net proceeds from our initial public offering to uses that do not increase our market value or improve our
operating results.

Our management has broad discretion in the application of the net proceeds from our initial public offering and could use these proceeds in ways that do
not improve our results of operations or enhance the value of our common stock. We intend to use these proceeds for general corporate purposes. We
may also use a portion of our net proceeds to acquire or invest in complementary businesses, products, services or technologies, though we do not have
any agreements or commitments for any significant acquisitions or investments at this time. We have not reserved or allocated our net proceeds for any
specific purpose, and we cannot state with certainty how our management will use our net proceeds. Accordingly, our management will have considerable
discretion in applying our net proceeds, and you will not have the opportunity, as part of your investment decision, to assess whether we are using our net
proceeds appropriately. We may use our net proceeds for purposes that do not result in any improvement in our results of operations or increase the
market value of our common stock. The failure by our management to apply the net proceeds from our initial public offering effectively could impair our
growth prospects and result in financial losses that could harm our business and cause the price of our common stock to decline. Until the net proceeds
we receive are used, they may be placed in investments that do not produce income or that lose value.
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Provisions in our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws and under the DGCL contain antitakeover provisions that could prevent or
discourage a takeover.

Provisions in our Certificate of Incorporation and our Bylaws may discourage, delay or prevent a merger, acquisition or other change in control of our
company that stockholders may consider favorable, including transactions in which you might otherwise receive a premium for your shares. These
provisions could also limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock, thereby depressing the market
price of our common stock. In addition, because our board of directors is responsible for appointing the members of our management team, these
provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management by making it more difficult for
stockholders to replace members of our board of directors. Among other things, these provisions include those establishing:

■ a classified board of directors with three-year staggered terms, which may have the effect of deferring, delaying or discouraging hostile takeovers,
or changes in control of us or our management;

■ no cumulative voting in the election of directors, which limits the ability of minority stockholders to elect director candidates;

■ the exclusive right of our board of directors to elect a director to fill a vacancy created by the expansion of the board of directors or the
resignation, death or removal of a director, which prevents stockholders from filling vacancies on our board of directors;

■ the ability of our board of directors to authorize the issuance of shares of preferred stock and to determine the terms of those shares, including
preferences and voting rights, without stockholder approval, which could be used to significantly dilute the ownership of a hostile acquirer;

■ the ability of our board of directors to alter our bylaws without obtaining stockholder approval;

■ the required approval of the holders of at least two-thirds of the shares entitled to vote at an election of directors to amend or repeal our bylaws or
amend the provisions of our Certificate of Incorporation regarding the election and removal of directors;

■ a prohibition on stockholder action by written consent, which forces stockholder action to be taken at an annual or special meeting of our
stockholders;

■ the requirement that a special meeting of stockholders may be called only by the chairman of the board of directors or a majority of our board of
directors, which may delay the ability of our stockholders to force consideration of a proposal or for stockholders controlling a majority of our
capital stock to take action, including the removal of directors; and

■ advance notice procedures that stockholders must comply with in order to nominate candidates to our board of directors or to propose matters to
be acted upon at an annual meeting or special meeting of stockholders, which may discourage or delay a potential acquirer from conducting a
solicitation of proxies to elect the acquirer’s own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of us until the next stockholder meeting
or at all.

In addition, we are subject to Section 203 of the DGCL. Subject to specified exceptions, Section 203 prohibits a publicly held Delaware corporation from
engaging in a “business combination” with an “interested stockholder” for a period of three years after the date of the transaction in which the person
became an interested stockholder unless such transaction is approved in a prescribed manner. “Business combinations” include mergers, asset sales
and other transactions resulting in a financial benefit to the “interested stockholder.” Subject to various exceptions, an “interested stockholder” is a person
who, together with his or her affiliates and associates, owns, or within three years did own, 15% or more of the corporation’s outstanding voting stock.

Any provision of our Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws or Delaware law that has the effect of delaying or preventing a change in control could limit the
opportunity for our stockholders to receive a premium for their shares of our capital stock and could also affect the price that some investors are willing to
pay for our common stock.

Our Certificate of Incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware is the exclusive forum for substantially all disputes between
us and our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers or
employees.
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Our Certificate of Incorporation provides that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the State of
Delaware (the Delaware Court of Chancery) will be the exclusive forum for (1) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf; (2) any action
asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors, officers or other employees or stockholders to us or our stockholders; (3) any
action asserting a claim against us, any director or our officers and employees arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL, our Certificate of
Incorporation or our Bylaws, or as to which the DGCL confers exclusive jurisdiction on the Delaware Court of Chancery; or (4) any action asserting a claim
against us, any director or our officers or employees that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine; provided that, the exclusive forum provision will not
apply to suits brought to enforce any liability or duty created by the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, the rules and regulations thereunder or any other
claim for which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction; and provided further that, if and only if the Delaware Court of Chancery dismisses any such
action for lack of subject matter jurisdiction, such action may be brought in another state or federal court sitting in the State of Delaware. Our Certificate of
Incorporation further provides that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the federal district courts of the United States of
America shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be the sole and exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action arising
under the Securities Act. Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in shares of our capital stock shall be deemed to have notice
of and to have consented to the provisions of our Certificate of Incorporation described above.

We believe these provisions benefit us by providing increased consistency in the application of the DGCL by chancellors particularly experienced in
resolving corporate disputes and in the application of the Securities Act by federal judges, as applicable, efficient administration of cases on a more
expedited schedule relative to other forums and protection against the burdens of multi-forum litigation. However, these provisions may limit a
stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers or other employees or agents,
which may discourage such lawsuits against us and our directors, officers and other employees and agents. The enforceability of similar choice of forum
provisions in other companies’ certificates of incorporation has been challenged in legal proceedings, and it is possible that, in connection with any
applicable action brought against us, a court could find the choice of forum provisions contained in our Certificate of Incorporation to be inapplicable or
unenforceable in such action. If a court were to find the choice of forum provision contained in our Certificate of Incorporation to be inapplicable or
unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions, which could harm our business.

General Risk Factors

Actions of stockholders could cause us to incur substantial costs, divert management’s attention and resources and have an adverse effect on
our business.

As a public company, we may, from time to time, be subject to proposals and other requests from stockholders urging us to take certain corporate actions,
including proposals seeking to influence our corporate policies or effect a change in our management. In the event of such stockholder proposals,
particularly with respect to matters which our management and board of directors, in exercising their fiduciary duties, disagree with or have determined
not to pursue, our business could be harmed because responding to actions and requests of stockholders can be costly and time-consuming, disrupting
our operations and diverting the attention of management and our employees. Additionally, perceived uncertainties as to our future direction may result in
the loss of potential business opportunities and may make it more difficult to attract and retain qualified personnel, business partners and customers.

Litigation, including securities class action litigation, may impair our reputation and lead us to incur significant costs. For example, we are
currently involved in ongoing litigation related to patent infringement claims.

From time to time, we may be party to various lawsuits and claims arising in the normal course of business, which may include lawsuits or claims relating
to contracts, third-party contractors, intellectual property rights, employment matters or other aspects of our business. We may face claims based on
intellectual property rights from individuals, companies, non-practicing entities, academic and research institutions, and other parties, including claims
from multiple sources against us and other companies. Claims that our products infringe the intellectual property rights of others, regardless of merit, may
cause us to incur large costs to respond to, defend and resolve the claims, and they may divert the efforts and attention of our management and technical
personnel from our operations.

57



Table of Contents

In addition, in the past, following periods of volatility in the overall market and the market price of a company’s securities, securities class action litigation
has often been instituted against companies that experienced such volatility. Litigation, if instituted against us, whether or not valid and regardless of
outcome, could result in substantial costs, reputational harm and a diversion of our management’s attention and resources. In addition, we may be
required to pay damage awards or settlements or become subject to injunctions or other equitable remedies, which could harm our business. The
outcome of litigation is often difficult to predict, and any litigation may harm our business.

Although we have various insurance policies in place, the potential liabilities associated with litigation matters now or that could arise in the future, could
be excluded from coverage or, if covered, could exceed the coverage provided by such policies. In addition, insurance carriers may seek to rescind or
deny coverage with respect to any claim or lawsuit. If we do not have sufficient coverage under our policies, or if coverage is denied, we may be required
to make material payments to settle litigation or satisfy any judgment. Any of these consequences could harm our business.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 1C. Cybersecurity Risk Management and Strategy

We have developed and implemented a cybersecurity risk management program intended to protect the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of our
critical systems and information. Our cybersecurity risk management program includes a cybersecurity incident response plan.

Our cybersecurity risk management program includes common methodologies, reporting channels and governance processes that apply across the
enterprise to other legal, compliance, strategic, operational, and financial risk areas.

Our cybersecurity risk management program includes:

■ Risk assessments designed to help identify cybersecurity risks to our critical systems, information, products, services, and our broader enterprise
IT environment;

■ A management team, including the Chief Financial Officer (CFO), head of information technology (Head of IT), General Counsel/Chief
Compliance Officer, and Deputy General Counsel (together, the Cybersecurity Management Team) responsible for managing and communicating
priorities related to (1) our cybersecurity risk assessment processes, (2) our security controls, and (3) our response to cybersecurity incidents;

■ The use of external service providers, where appropriate, to assess, test or otherwise assist with aspects of our security processes;

■ Cybersecurity awareness training of our employees, incident response personnel, and senior management;

■ A cybersecurity incident response plan that includes procedures for responding to cybersecurity incidents; and

■ A third-party risk management process for essential service providers, suppliers, and vendors.

Our Cybersecurity Management Team is responsible for assessing and managing our material risks from cybersecurity threats. The Head of IT has a
primary responsibility for our overall cybersecurity risk management program and supervises both our internal IT personnel and our retained external
cybersecurity consultants. Our Head of IT has served in various roles in information technology and information security for over 17 years. Our Deputy
General Counsel has over 20 years of experience as an attorney and holds various certifications related to privacy and data protection.

Our Cybersecurity Management Team is informed about and monitors the prevention, detection, mitigation, and remediation of cybersecurity risks and
incidents through various means, which may include among other things, briefings with internal security personnel, threat intelligence and other
information obtained from governmental, public or private sources, including external consultants engaged by us, and alerts and reports produced by
security tools deployed in our IT environment.
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We have not at this time identified risks from known cybersecurity threats, including as a result of any prior cybersecurity incidents, that have materially
affected us, including our operations, business strategy, results of operations, or financial condition. We face certain ongoing risks from cybersecurity
threats that, if realized, are reasonably likely to materially affect us, including our operations, business strategy, results of operations, or financial
condition. See “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Intellectual Property, Information Technology and Data Security and Privacy—Cybersecurity threats
continue to increase in frequency and sophistication; a successful cybersecurity attack could interrupt or disrupt our information technology systems, or
those of our third-party service providers, or cause the loss of confidential or protected data which could disrupt our business, force us to incur excessive
costs or cause reputational harm.”

Cybersecurity Board Governance

Our board of directors considers cybersecurity risk as part of its risk oversight function. Management updates the board of directors, as necessary,
regarding any significant cybersecurity incidents, as well as any incidents with lesser impact potential.

The board of directors receives briefings from management periodically on our cyber risk management program and presentations on cybersecurity topics
as part of the board of directors’ continuing education on topics that impact public companies.

Item 2. Properties

Our principal executive office is located in Campbell, California. We currently lease offices in the United States in Campbell, California and Austin, Texas
which consists of approximately 15,500 square feet of space. We also lease space in France, China, Japan and South Korea.

We lease all our facilities and do not own any real property. We believe our existing facilities are adequate and suitable for our current needs and that,
should it be needed, suitable additional or alternative space will be available on commercially reasonable terms to accommodate our operations.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Refer to Note 12 to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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Part II

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Market Price of Our Common Stock

Our common stock, par value $0.001 per share, is listed on the Nasdaq Stock Market, under the symbol “AIP” and began trading on October 27, 2021.
Prior to that date, there was no public trading market for our common stock.

Holders of Record

As of February 13, 2024, there were 376 stockholders of record of our common stock. The actual number of holders of our common stock is greater than
the number of record holders and includes stockholders who are beneficial owners, but whose shares are held in street name by brokers or other
nominees. The number of holders of record presented here also does not include stockholders whose shares may be held in trust by other entities.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain all available funds and future earnings, if any, to fund
the development and expansion of our business, and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Any future determination
regarding the declaration and payment of dividends, if any, will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on then-existing conditions,
including our financial condition, operating results, contractual restrictions, capital requirements, business prospects, and other factors our board of
directors may deem relevant.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the definitive Proxy Statement for our 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which
will be filed with the SEC no later than 120 days after December 31, 2023.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Equity Securities

On December 27, 2022, we issued an aggregate of 663,143 shares of our common stock to eight accredited investors at $3.77 per share, for an
aggregate consideration of approximately $2.5 million, in connection with our acquisition of Semifore, Inc.

Unless otherwise stated, the issuances of the above securities were deemed to be exempt from registration under the Securities Act in reliance upon
Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act. Individuals who purchased securities as described above represented their intention to acquire the securities for
investment only and not with a view to or for sale in connection with any distribution thereof, and appropriate legends were affixed to the share certificates
issued in such transactions.

Use of Proceeds

Our Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-259988) (the Form S-1), for our IPO was declared effective by the SEC on October
26, 2021. The Form S-1 registered the offering and sale of 5,750,000 shares of common stock. On October 29, 2021, we completed our IPO, in which we
issued 5,750,000 shares of common stock at a price to the public of $14.00 per share, including 750,000 shares issued upon the full exercise of the
underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares. We received net proceeds of approximately $71.1 million after deducting underwriting discounts and
commissions and offering costs of approximately $3.8 million.

Jefferies LLC and Cowen served as lead book-running managers and BMO Capital Markets served as joint book-running manager for the offering.
Northland Capital Markets and Rosenblatt Securities acted as co-managers.

No payments were made to our directors or officers or their associates, holders of 10% or more of any class of our equity securities or any affiliates in
connection with the issuance and sale of the securities registered.

There has been no material change in the planned use of proceeds from our IPO as described in our Final Prospectus for the IPO dated as of October
26, 2021 and filed with the SEC pursuant to Rule 424(b)(4) on October 28, 2021.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

None.
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Item 6. [Reserved]
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial
statements and related notes included under Part II, Item 8 in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This discussion and analysis contains forward-looking
statements based upon current beliefs, plans and expectations that involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions, such as statements regarding our plans,
objectives, expectations, intentions and projections. Our actual results and the timing of selected events could differ materially from those anticipated in
these forward-looking statements as a result of several factors, including those set forth under the heading “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. You should carefully read the “Risk Factors” section of this Annual Report on Form 10-K to gain an understanding of the important
factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from forward-looking statements. Please also see the section under the heading “Cautionary
Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.”

Unless the context otherwise requires, all references in this report to “we,” “us,” “our,” the “Company,” and “Arteris” refer to Arteris, Inc. and its
subsidiaries.

Overview

We are a leading provider of semiconductor system IP, including interconnect and other intellectual property, (collectively, System IP) technology. Our
System IP technology manages the on-chip communications and IP block deployments in System-on-Chip (SoC) semiconductors and systems of
chiplets. Our leading proprietary System IP solutions achieve this by connecting client IP blocks such as processors, memories, artificial
intelligence/machine learning (AI/ML) accelerators, graphics subsystems, safety and security, and other input/output subsystems (I/Os) via multiple
Network-on-Chips (NoCs) in order for our customers to experience faster SoC targeting, as well as, more efficient, and lower cost solutions. Growth for
our solutions is being driven by growing SoC sophistication and associated complexity, now extending into disaggregation of SoCs into systems for which
implement the communication protocol aspects and partner with industry leading providers like Synopsys, Cadence, Alphawave and others to connect to
their die to die interfaces. The addition of more processors, channels of memory access, machine learning sections, additional I/Os interface standards,
and other subsystems within SoCs is driving the need for more advanced System IP, including NoC interconnect IP’s. The growth in the numbers of these
connected on-chip subsystems places an increasing premium on the interconnect IP capability to move data inside complex SoCs. We believe this
increase in SoC complexity has created a significant opportunity for sophisticated System IP solutions that incorporate NoC interconnect IP, SoC
Integration Automation software (SIA) (formerly IP deployment software) and NoC interface IP (consisting of peripheral data transport IP and control
plane networks connected to NoC interconnect IPs). Moreover, our technology can also provide more cost-effective solutions and reduce the risks of
building and maintaining in-house NoC teams, which we believe has positively contributed to our market segment share growth.

Our SIA solutions, which were significantly enhanced by our acquisition of Magillem Design Services S.A. (Magillem) in 2020, complement our
interconnect IP solutions by helping to automate not only the customer configuration of its NoC interconnect but also the process of integrating and
assembling all of the customer’s IP blocks into an SoC. Products incorporating our IP are used to carry most of the important data inside complex SoCs
for sophisticated applications, including automotive, enterprise computing, communications, consumer electronics, and industrial markets.

As of December 31, 2023, we had  243 employees and offices in eight locations in the United States, France, China, South Korea and Japan. For the year
ended December 31, 2023, we generated revenue of $53.7 million, net loss of $36.9 million and net loss per share, basic and diluted of $1.03. As of
December 31, 2023, we had Annual Contract Value (as defined below) of $50.9 million. During the year ended December 31, 2023, we added 23 net new
Active Customers (as defined below) and our customers had 95 Confirmed Design Starts (as defined below).

Acquisitions

On December 27, 2022, we completed our acquisition of Semifore, Inc., (Semifore) for a total consideration of $3.1 million. Prior to the acquisition,
Semifore was a privately held provider of hardware, software interface (HSI) technology. Semifore technologies are used to effectively design, verify,
document, and help in the validation of the hardware-software integration that is used in the SoC complex chip market. The addition of Semifore
technologies and team expertise augments Arteris System IP and SIA solutions to further support software control of the IP and SoC hardware.
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On November 30, 2020, Arteris IP, SAS, our wholly owned subsidiary, completed the acquisition of Magillem for a total consideration of $7.8 million.
Magillem is a leading provider of design flow and content management software solutions for the complex chip market. The primary reason for the
acquisition was to integrate our technologies in order to accelerate and simplify the SoC assembly design flow and enhance innovation in both SoC IP
integration software and the highly configurable on-chip interconnect IP that implements chip architectures.

Factors Affecting Our Business

We believe that the growth of our business and our future success are dependent upon many factors including those described under “Risk Factors” and
elsewhere in this report, in addition to those described below. While each of these factors presents significant opportunities for us, these factors also pose
challenges that we must successfully address in order to sustain the growth of our business and enhance our results of operations.

License Agreements with New and Existing Customers

Our ability to generate revenue from new license agreements, and the timing of such revenue, is subject to a number of factors, risks and contingencies.
For new products, the time from initial development until we generate license revenue can be lengthy, typically between one and three years. In addition,
because the selection process by our customers is typically lengthy and market requirements and alternative solutions available to customers for IP-
based products change rapidly, we may be required to incur significant research and development expenditures in pursuit of new products over extended,
multiyear periods of time with no assurance that our solutions will be successfully developed or ultimately selected by our customers. While we make
efforts to observe market demand and market need trends, we cannot be certain that our investment in developing and testing new products will generate
an adequate rate of return in the form of fees, royalties or other revenues, or any revenues. Moreover, the customer acquisition process has a typical
duration of six to nine months; following this, a customer’s chip design cycle is typically between one to three years and may be delayed due to factors
beyond our control, which may result in our customer’s product not reaching the market until long after we entered into a contract with such customer.
Customers typically start shipping their products using our interconnect IP solutions between one to five years following completion of their product
design, known as mass production, at which point we start to receive royalties; this lasts for up to seven years depending on the market segment. Any
significant delay in the ramp-up of volume production of the customer’s products into which our product is designed could adversely affect our business
due to delayed or significantly reduced revenues. Further, because the average selling prices of our products may decline over time, we consider new
license agreements and new product launches to be critical to our future success and anticipate that for our newer products, we are and will remain highly
dependent on market demand timing and revenue from new license agreements.

End Customer Product Demand and Market Conditions

Demand for our interconnect IP solutions and associated royalty revenue is highly dependent on market conditions in the end markets in which our
customers operate. These end markets, which include the automotive, enterprise computing, communications, consumer electronics, and industrial
markets, are subject to a number of factors including end-product acceptance and sales, competitive pressures, supply chain issues and general market
conditions. For example, our revenue has been supported by the increased need for more complex SoCs to enable sophisticated automated driving. If the
demand in this market continues to grow, we anticipate it will continue to have a positive impact on our revenue. In contrast, if general market conditions
deteriorate or other factors occur such as supply chain issues resulting in fewer semiconductors utilizing our IP solutions being available for sale, our
revenue would be adversely affected.

Terms of our Agreements with Customers

Our revenue from period to period can be impacted by the terms of the agreements we enter into with our customers. For example, in recent periods we
have made certain changes to SIA agreements that result in the ratable recognition of the related license revenue over the contract term. As a result of
how these contracts are structured and the revenue is recognized, our revenue in the year ended December 31, 2023 may not be comparable to future
periods if we do not enter into similar contractual agreements. Further, a meaningful percentage of our revenue is generated through royalty payments.
Because the time between a new license agreement win and the customer’s end product being sold can be substantial, with sales of the end product
being subject to a number of factors outside our control, our revenue from royalties is difficult to predict. As a result of the foregoing, revenue may
fluctuate significantly from period to period and any increase or decrease in such revenue may not be indicative of future period-to-period increases or
decreases.
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Technological Development and Market Growth

We believe our growth has been and will continue to be driven by technology trends in our end markets. For example, the requirements of smaller die
size, lower power consumption, a higher frequency of operation and management of critical net latency in a timely and cost-effective manner for on-chip
processing in the automotive, enterprise computing, communications, consumer electronics, and industrial markets has resulted in increased SoC design
complexity for chips used in these markets. This trend in turn has created increased demand for in-licensing commercial semiconductor design IP, which
in turn has positively impacted our revenue and growth.

In order to address technological developments such as the above and expand our offerings, we have invested significantly in our research and
development efforts. These investments, which included growth in engineering headcount, have resulted in substantially increased research and
development expenses in recent periods. As we continue to invest in our technology and new product design efforts, we anticipate research and
development expense will increase on an absolute basis and as a percentage of revenue in the near term. In the medium to longer term, however, while
we expect to increase our research and development expense on an absolute basis, we expect this expense to reduce as a percentage of revenue.

We will continue to evaluate growth opportunities through acquisitions of other businesses.

Impact of Operating Globally

We believe our products’ global footprint provides us with the opportunity to enter new markets and accelerate our growth. For 2023, 65.4% of our
revenue was derived from sales to customers outside of the United States and 31.1% of our revenue was derived from customers located in China. For
2022, 59.3% of our revenue was derived from sales to customers outside of the United States and 28.8% of our revenue was derived from customers
located in China. While we believe operating internationally has beneficially impacted our results of operations, we are subject to inherent risks attributed
to operating in a global economy. Further, our international operations have been, and may in the future continue to be, subject to restrictive government
regulations. For example, U.S. export regulations, including regulations announced October 7, 2022 and further amended effective November 17, 2023,
that impose broad end-use and other restrictions on doing business with certain customers and facilities in China that develop or produce semiconductor
chips or manufacturing equipment, may limit or adversely impact our ability to license or support our products to entities in or doing business with certain
advanced AI or “supercomputer” design companies, foundries and manufacturers of assemblies and components in China. As a result of these
restrictions, our customers may experience changes to or delays in their design projects, and we may face challenges to maintain our revenue and/or our
revenue may decrease.

Cyclical Nature of the Semiconductor Industry

The semiconductor industry in which our customers operate is highly cyclical and is characterized by increasingly rapid technological change, product
obsolescence, competitive pricing pressures, evolving standards, short product life cycles, and fluctuations in product supply and demand. New
technology may result in sudden changes in system designs or platform changes that may render some of our IP solutions obsolete and require us to
devote significant research and development resources to compete effectively. Periods of rapid growth and capacity expansion are occasionally followed
by significant market corrections in which our customers’ sales decline, inventories accumulate, and facilities go underutilized. During an expansion cycle,
we may increase research and development hiring to add to our product offerings or spend more on sales and marketing to acquire new customers, such
as during the recent cycle of expansion in which we increased the number of our engineers significantly. During periods of slower growth or industry
contractions, our sales generally suffer due to a decrease in customers’ Confirmed Design Starts or in sales of our customers’ products.

COVID-19 Impact

The duration and extent of the COVID-19 pandemic already had an adverse effect on the global economy and the lasting effects of the pandemic continue
to be unknown. In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the measures implemented by various authorities have caused us to change our business
practices, including those related to where employees work, the distance between employees in our facilities, limitations on in-person meetings between
employees and with customers, suppliers, service providers and stakeholders, as well as restrictions on business travel to domestic and international
locations and to attend trade shows, technical conferences and other events. Although we have experienced, and may continue to experience, some
impact on certain parts of our business as a result of governmental restrictions and other measures to mitigate the spread of COVID-19, our results of
operations, cash flows and financial condition were not materially adversely impacted the year ended December 31, 2023.
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We are unable to accurately predict the full impact that COVID-19 or any future pandemics will have on our future results of operations, financial
condition, liquidity and cash flows due to numerous uncertainties, including the duration and severity of any future pandemics and containment measures.
Although we expect most of our employees to return to physical offices, the nature and extent of that return is uncertain and differs among jurisdictions.
For additional details, see the section titled “Risk Factors—Our business has been, and may continue to be, adversely affected by health epidemics,
pandemics and other outbreaks of infectious disease.”

Key Performance Indicators

We use the following key performance indicators to analyze our business performance and financial forecasts and to develop strategic plans, which we
believe provide useful information to investors and others in understanding and evaluating our results of operations in the same manner as our
management team. These key performance indicators are presented for supplemental informational purposes only, should not be considered a substitute
for financial information presented in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (GAAP), and may differ from similarly
titled metrics or measures used by other companies, securities analysts, or investors.

Annual Contract Value

We define Annual Contract Value (ACV) for an individual customer agreement as the total fixed fees under the agreement divided by the number of years
in the agreement term. Our total ACV is the aggregate ACVs for all our customers as measured at a given point in time. Total fixed fees include licensing,
support and maintenance and other fixed fees under IP licensing or software licensing agreements but exclude variable revenue derived from licensing
agreements with customers, particularly royalties. ACV was $50.9 million and $49.2 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. In addition,
total ACV and trailing twelve months variable royalties and other revenue was $56.1 million and $52.4 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022,
respectively. We monitor ACV to measure our success and believe the increase in the number shows our progress in expanding our customers’ adoption
of our platform. We believe ACV provides investors with useful information to assess the strength and trajectory of our business as growth demonstrates
the expansion of customer adoption of our platform. ACV fluctuates due to a number of factors, including the timing, duration and dollar amount of
customer contracts.

Active Customers

We define Active Customers as customers who have entered into a license agreement with us that remains in effect. The retention and expansion of our
relationships with existing customers are key indicators of our revenue potential. We added 23 and 38 net new Active Customers during each of the years
ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Confirmed Design Starts

We define Confirmed Design Starts as when customers confirm their commencement of new semiconductor designs using our interconnect IP and notify
us. Confirmed Design Starts is a metric management uses to assess the activity level of our customers in terms of the number of new semiconductor
designs that are started using our interconnect IP in a given period. Our interconnect IP and NoC interface IP customer base started a total of 95 and 82
design starts during each of the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. We believe that the number of Confirmed Design Starts is an
important indicator of the growth of our business and future royalty revenue trends.

Remaining Performance Obligations

We define Remaining Performance Obligations (RPO) as the amount of contracted future revenue that has not yet been recognized, including deferred
revenue, billed and unbilled cancelable and non-cancelable contracted amounts.

The RPO amount is intended to provide visibility into future revenue streams. We expect RPO to fluctuate up or down from period to period for several
reasons, including amounts, timing, and duration of customer contracts, as well as the timing of billing cycles for each contract. Our RPO was
$72.7 million and $57.7 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Components of Our Results of Operations

Revenue: Our revenue is primarily derived from licensing intellectual property, licensing software, support and maintenance services, professional
services, training services, and royalties. Our agreements often include other service elements including training and professional services which were
immaterial for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
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Our interconnect solutions product arrangements provide customers the right to software licenses, services, and support and maintenance. We enter into
licensing arrangements with customers that typically range from two to three years and generally consist of delivery of a design license that grants the
customer the right to use the IP to design a contractually defined number of products, a right to access the benefits of its proprietary software tool (RTL),
and support and maintenance services that provide the customer a significant benefit from ongoing access to Corporate Application Engineers (CAE) and
Field Application Engineers (FAE) (collectively, Application Engineer Support Services) to perform certain verifications including benchmark performance,
simulations and ultimately, through the RTL, instantiate designs into silicon over the design term.

Application Engineer Support Services are integral and fundamental to the customer’s ability to derive its intended benefit from the IP. CAEs are part of
the product development team providing detailed requirements for engineering projects, working very closely with a customer’s chief technology officer
and the marketing department, and performing quality assurance testing of customer products prior to shipment to their customers. FAEs provide
assistance to the customer’s engineering team in translating their desired SoC architecture into inputs for NoC IP configuration, assistance in optimizing
the NoC configuration, answer to customer questions by the online support system or phone, constructive reviews of the progress achieved by the
customer’s development team and provision of advice on how to best use the licensed IP, performance of design reviews before customer project RTL
freeze and tape-out to ensure the customer used the licensed IP configuration tooling as intended so that the RTL output meets customer requirements
and expectations. FAE reviews of the customer’s design are mandatory and consist of an understanding of the customer requirements and analysis of the
adequacy of the contemplated IP considering the customer’s desired architecture and design goals and objectives, taking into consideration bandwidth,
coherence/non-coherence, latency, clock and timing, areas, and any and all constraints, as identified and specific to the design under review.

Besides Application Engineer Support Services, support and maintenance services also consist of a stand-ready obligation to provide technical support
and software updates over the support term. Generally, the first-year of technical support and software updates are bundled with and into the license fee
with a customer option to renew additional years of support throughout the license term. However, we may continue to provide technical support and
software updates throughout the license term even if the customer does not renew these services in subsequent years, making the license term and
support and maintenance term co-terminus.

Revenues that are derived from the sale of a licensee’s products that incorporate our IP are classified as royalty revenues. Royalty revenues are
recognized during the quarter in which the sale of the product incorporating the IP occurs. Royalties are calculated either as a percentage of the revenues
received by a licensee’s sale of products incorporating the IP or on a per unit basis, as specified in the agreements with the licensees. For a majority of
our royalty revenues, we receive the actual sales data from our customers after the quarter ends and account for it as unbilled receivables. When we do
not receive actual sales data from the customer prior to the finalization of our financial statements, royalty revenues are recognized based on our
estimation of the customer’s sales during the quarter.

Our SIA solutions product and CSRCompiler product arrangements provide customers the right to software licenses, software updates and technical
support. The software licenses are time-based licenses with terms generally ranging from one to three years. These arrangements generally have two
distinct performance obligations that consist of transferring the licensed software and the support and maintenance service. Support and maintenance
services consist of a stand-ready obligation to provide technical support and software updates over the support term. For the majority of these contracts,
there are no termination rights and the transaction price is non-refundable. Revenue allocated to the software license is generally recognized at a point in
time upon the later of the delivery date or the beginning of the license period, and revenue allocated to support services is recognized ratably over the
support term. Certain SIA solutions contracts include termination rights that allow the customer to cancel and receive a pro-rata refund on support and
maintenance services at the end of each month of the contract period, which results in a ratable recognition of the related license revenue over the
contract term.

Cost of revenue: Cost of revenue relates to costs associated with our licensing agreements and support and maintenance, including applicable FAE
personnel-related costs such as stock-based compensation, travel, amortization of developed technology acquired intangibles and allocated overhead.
We expect cost of revenue as a percentage of revenue to modestly decline over time due to productivity improvements of our FAE processes.

Allocation of Overhead Costs: Overhead costs that are not substantially dedicated for use by a specific functional group are allocated based on
headcount. Such costs include costs associated with office facilities, depreciation of property and equipment, certain support function personnel costs and
other expenses.
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Research and development (R&D) expenses: R&D expenses consist primarily of salaries and associated personnel-related costs, facilities expenses
associated with research and development activities, third-party project-related expenses connected with the development of our intellectual property
which are expensed as incurred, and stock-based compensation expense and other allocated costs. We expect R&D expenses to increase in absolute
terms and as a percentage of revenue in the short term and to continue to increase in absolute terms in the medium to long term but decrease as a
percentage of revenue as certain new products are launched.

Sales and marketing (S&M) expenses:  S&M expenses consist primarily of salaries, commissions, travel and other costs associated with S&M activities,
as well as advertising, trade show participation, public relations, and other marketing costs, stock-based compensation expenses and other allocated
costs. We expect S&M expenses to increase in absolute terms but decrease as a percentage of revenue due to productivity improvements of our sales
processes.

General and administrative (G&A) expenses:  G&A expenses consist primarily of salaries for management and administrative employees, depreciation,
insurance costs, accounting, legal and consulting fees, other professional service fees, expenses related to the development of corporate initiatives and
facilities expenses associated with G&A activities and stock-based compensation expense, fees for directors and other allocated costs.

We incur additional expenses as a result of operating as a public company, including costs to comply with the rules and regulations applicable to
companies listed on a national securities exchange, costs related to compliance and reporting obligations, and increased expenses for additional G&A
personnel, directors’ and officers’ insurance, investor relations, and professional services. We expect G&A expenses to increase as our business grows.
In addition, we expect G&A expenses as a percentage of revenue to vary from period to period but generally decrease over the long term.

Interest expense: Interest expense consists primarily of interest expense on our vendor financing arrangements.

Other income (expense), net: Other income (expense), net consists primarily of interest income earned on our cash and cash equivalents and available-
for-sale investments, gains and losses from foreign currency exchange, gain on deconsolidation of subsidiary, realized gains and losses from available-
for-sale investments as well as deferred income.

Loss from equity method investment: Loss from equity method investment consists of our proportionate share of net losses from our equity method
investee.

Provision for (benefit from) income taxes:  Our income tax provision consists primarily of income taxes in certain foreign jurisdictions in which we
conduct business and includes foreign non-recoverable withholding taxes. We have a full valuation allowance against our U.S. federal and state deferred
tax assets as the realization of the full amount of these deferred tax assets is uncertain, including net operating loss carryforwards and tax credits related
primarily to research and development. We expect to maintain this full valuation allowance until it becomes more likely than not that the deferred tax
assets will be realized.
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Results of Operations

The following table summarizes our GAAP results of operations for the periods presented. The results below are not necessarily indicative of results to be
expected for future periods.

Year ended December 31,

2023 2022

(in thousands)

Total revenue $ 53,666 $ 50,378 

Cost of revenue 5,077 4,281 

Gross profit 48,589 46,097 

Operating expenses:

Research and development 45,128 41,167 

Sales and marketing 20,659 17,419 

General and administrative 17,944 16,367 

Total operating expenses 83,731 74,953 

Loss from operations (35,142) (28,856)

Interest expense (211) (89)

Other income (expense), net 3,558 1,425 

Loss before income taxes and loss from equity method investment (31,795) (27,520)

Loss from equity method investment, net of tax 3,397 284 

Provision for (benefit from) income taxes 1,677 (417)

Net loss $ (36,869) $ (27,387)

(1) Includes stock-based compensation expense as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022

(in thousands)

Cost of revenue $ 556 $ 562 

Research and development 7,324 5,865 

Sales and marketing 2,712 2,123 

General and administrative 3,943 3,142 

Total stock-based compensation $ 14,535 $ 11,692 

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)
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The following table summarizes our results of operations as a percentage of total revenue for each of the periods indicated:

 Year Ended December 31,

  2023 2022

 (as a percentage of total revenue)

Total revenue 100 % 100 %

Cost of revenue 9 8 

Gross profit 91 92 

Operating expenses:

Research and development 84 82 

Sales and marketing 38 35 

General and administrative 33 32 

Total operating expenses 155 149 

Loss from operations (64) (57)

Interest expense — — 

Other income (expense), net 7 3 

Loss before income taxes and loss from equity method investment (57) (54)

Loss from equity method investment, net of tax 6 1 

Provision for (benefit from) income taxes 3 (1)

Net loss (66)% (54)%

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

Revenue

Year Ended December 31, Change

2023 2022 $ %

(in thousands)

Licensing, support and maintenance $ 48,273 $ 46,012 $ 2,261 5 %

Variable royalties 5,158 3,140 2,018 64 %

Other 235 1,226 (991) (81)%

Total $ 53,666 $ 50,378 $ 3,288 7 %

Revenue from licensing, support and maintenance increased $2.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2022. The increase was primarily due to the addition of new customers, offset by a change in timing of revenue recognition for certain
arrangements for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to the year ended December 31, 2022. Growth in our variable royalty revenue was due to
production increase from existing customers and royalty audit findings in the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to the year ended December 31,
2022. Other revenue decreased for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to the year ended December 31, 2022 due to timing of completion of
professional services.

Cost of revenue

Year Ended December 31, Change

2023 2022 $ %

(in thousands)

Cost of revenue $ 5,077 $ 4,281 $ 796 19 %

The increase in cost of revenue during the year ended December 31, 2023 was primarily due to higher FAE employee-related expenses.
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Operating expenses

Year Ended December 31, Change

2023 2022 $ %

(in thousands)

Research and development $ 45,128 $ 41,167 $ 3,961 10 %

Sales and marketing 20,659 17,419 3,240 19 

General and administrative 17,944 16,367 1,577 10 

Total operating expenses $ 83,731 $ 74,953 $ 8,778 12 %

Research and development expenses

R&D expenses increased $4.0 million, or 10%, to $45.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 from $41.2 million for the year ended December
31, 2022. The increase in R&D expenses was due to higher employee-related costs of $2.5 million primarily attributable to increased engineering
headcount to support our continued growth and investment in our interconnect technology and SIA solutions. We also incurred higher stock-based
compensation expense of $1.5 million related to modification of certain performance stock unit awards and annual grants of stock-based awards.

Sales and marketing expenses

S&M expenses increased $3.2 million, or 19%, to $20.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 from $17.4 million for the year ended December
31, 2022. The increase in S&M expenses was primarily due to higher employee-related costs of $1.7 million mainly driven by increased headcount to
support growth of our business. We also incurred higher stock-based compensation expense of $0.6 million, primarily related to annual grants of stock-
based awards, higher professional fees of $0.4 million and higher company-wide event costs of $0.2 million, primarily due to an in-person sales event.

General and administrative expenses

G&A expenses increased $1.6 million, or 10%, to $17.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 from $16.4 million for the year ended December
31, 2022. The increase in G&A expenses was primarily due to higher professional fees of $1.5 million driven by legal expenses related to our intellectual
property litigation.

Interest expense

Year Ended December 31, Change

2023 2022 $ %

(in thousands)

Interest expense $ (211) $ (89) $ (122) 137 %

Interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2023 was $0.2 million, compared to $0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 The increase
in interest expense was primarily due to an increase in our vendor financing arrangements in 2023 compared to 2022.

Other income (expense), net

Year Ended December 31, Change

2023 2022 $ %

(in thousands)

Other income (expense), net $ 3,558 $ 1,425 $ 2,133 150 %

Other income (expense), net for the year ended December 31, 2023 was $3.6 million, compared to $1.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2022.
The increase in other income (expense), net was primarily due to higher interest rates on cash balances and interest income earned on our available-for-
sale investments as well as deferred income from our license agreement with Transchip.
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Loss from equity method investment

Year Ended December 31, Change

2023 2022 $ %

(in thousands)

Loss from equity method investment $ 3,397 $ 284 $ 3,113 *

* Not meaningful

Loss from equity method investment was $3.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to $0.3 million for the year ended December 31,
2022, representing our proportionate share of Transchip’s net loss during the trailing twelve months ended September 30, 2023. The increase in loss
from equity method investment was primarily due to Transchip having a full year of operations for the year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to a
partial year of operations for the year ended December 31, 2022. Such losses are expected to continue in the near future.

Provision for (benefit from) income taxes

Year Ended December 31, Change

2023 2022 $ %

(in thousands)

Provision for (benefit from) income taxes $ 1,677 $ (417) $ 2,094 *

* Not meaningful

The provision for (benefit from) income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2023 was as expense of $1.7 million, compared to a benefit of $0.4 million
for the year ended December 31, 2022. The increase in our income tax expense was primarily due to changes in current year foreign withholding taxes
which are associated with revenues earned in certain foreign countries and changes in uncertain tax positions during the year ended December 31,
2023. The income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2022, also included the tax benefit of $0.5 million related to the release of a portion of US
valuation allowance as a result of our business combination during the year ended December 31, 2022 which was not applicable to the year ended
December 31, 2023.

On October 8, 2021, the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) released a statement on the OECD/G20 Inclusive
Framework on Base Erosion and Profit Shifting, which agreed to a two-pillar solution to address tax challenges of the digital economy. On December 20,
2021, the OECD released Pillar Two model rules defining a 15 percent global minimum tax rate for large multinational corporations. The OECD continues
to release additional guidance and countries are implementing legislation with widespread adoption of the Pillar Two Framework expected by calendar
year 2024. The Pillar Two Framework does not have a material impact to us in the current period.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since inception, we have financed operations primarily from payments received from our customers, the net proceeds from the sale of our common stock
in the IPO as well as the net proceeds from the private issuance of our convertible preferred stock and common stock. As of December 31, 2023, we had
$41.2 million in cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments of which $2.6 million was held by our foreign subsidiaries.

We believe our cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, and cash provided by sales of our products will be sufficient to meet our expected
working capital needs, capital expenditures, financial commitments and other liquidity requirements associated with our existing operations for at least the
next 12 months. If these resources are not sufficient to satisfy our liquidity requirements, we may be required to seek additional financing. If we raise
additional funds by issuing equity securities, our stockholders will experience dilution. Debt financing, if available, may contain covenants that significantly
restrict our operations or our ability to obtain additional debt financing in the future. Any additional financing that we raise may contain terms that are not
favorable to us or our stockholders. We cannot assure you that we would be able to obtain additional financing on terms favorable to us or our existing
stockholders, or at all. See “Risk Factors —Risks Related to Our Business and Industry—Our ability to raise capital in the future may be limited and could
prevent us from executing our growth strategy” for additional information.
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Cash Flows

The following table summarizes changes in our cash flows for the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022

(in thousands)

Net cash used in operating activities $ (15,729) $ (6,767)

Net cash used in investing activities $ (4,691)  $ (37,481)

Net cash used in financing activities $ (2,919)  $ (4,154)

Operating Activities

Cash flows from operating activities may vary significantly from period to period depending on a variety of factors including the timing of our receipts and
payments. Our ongoing cash outflows from operating activities primarily relate to payroll-related costs, payments for professional services, obligations
under our property leases and design tool licenses. Our primary source of cash inflows is receipts from our accounts receivable. The timing of receipts of
accounts receivable from customers is based upon the completion of agreed milestones or agreed dates as set forth in the contracts.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, net cash used in operating activities was $15.7 million, primarily due to our net loss of $36.9 million, adjusted for
non-cash charges of $19.2 million and $1.9 million changes in operating assets and liabilities. Non-cash charges primarily consisted of stock-based
compensation of $14.5 million and depreciation and amortization of $3.1 million, loss from our equity method investment of $3.4 million, partially offset by
amortization of deferred income of $1.2 million and net accretion of discounts on available-for-sale securities of $0.9 million. The drivers of the changes in
operating assets and liabilities were a $4.9 million increase in accounts receivable, a $1.3 million increase in prepaid expenses and other assets, and a
$0.4 million decrease in accounts payable, offset by a $6.0 million increase in deferred revenue, and a $2.5 million increase in accrued expenses and
other liabilities.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, net cash used in operating activities was $6.8 million, primarily due to our net loss of $27.4 million, adjusted for
non-cash charges of $13.0 million and $7.6 million changes in operating assets and liabilities. Non-cash charges primarily consisted of stock-based
compensation of $11.7 million and depreciation and amortization of $2.1 million, partially offset by deferred income taxes due to release of a portion of US
valuation allowance as a result of our business combination of $0.5 million, and amortization of deferred income of $0.4 million. The primary drivers of the
changes in operating assets and liabilities were a $7.1 million decrease in accounts receivable, a $0.2 million decrease in prepaid expenses and other
assets, a $0.5 million increase in accrued expenses and other liabilities, and a $0.8 million increase in deferred revenue, offset by a $1.0 million decrease
in accounts payable.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2023 was $4.7 million primarily attributable to $47.8 million of purchases of
available-for-sale securities and certificate of deposit, and $1.5 million of purchases of property and equipment, partially offset by $44.7 million of proceeds
from maturities of available-for-sale securities.

Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $37.5 million primarily attributable to $35.0 million of purchases of
available-for-sale securities, $1.1 million of payments for business combination, net of $0.3 million of cash acquired, purchases of property and equipment
of $1.1 million, and $0.5 million of payments related to investment in our equity method investee, see Note 15 to our consolidated financial statements.
The cash outflow was offset by proceeds of $0.2 million from principal portion of our related party loan.

Financing Activities

For the year ended December 31, 2023, net cash used in financing activities was $2.9 million, primarily attributable to payments of contingent
consideration for business combinations and principal payments under vendor financing arrangements.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, net cash used in financing activities was $4.2 million, primarily attributable to payments to tax authorities for
shares withheld from employees of $2.1 million, payments of contingent consideration for business combination of $1.6 million, principal payments under
vendor financing arrangements of $1.1 million, partially offset by proceeds from exercise of stock options of $0.9 million.
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Contractual Obligations

Our principal commitments consist of obligations under our operating leases for office space and data center hosting space and vendor finance
arrangements. Information regarding our non-cancelable lease commitments as of December 31, 2023 can be found in Note 10 to our consolidated
financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our obligations as of December 31, 2023 under our vendor finance
arrangements are described in Note 11 to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Critical Accounting Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires us to make
certain estimates, judgments, and assumptions. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be
reasonable based upon information available to us at the time that these estimates, judgments, and assumptions are made. Our estimates and related
judgments and assumptions are continually evaluated based on available information and experiences. However, actual amounts could differ from those
estimates.

The following are the critical accounting policies requiring estimates, judgments, and assumptions that we believe have the most significant impact on our
consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize license revenues as we transfer control of deliverables (software and services) to our customers in an amount reflecting the consideration
to which we expect to be entitled. To recognize revenues, we apply the following five step approach: (1) identify the contract with a customer, (2) identify
the performance obligations in the contract, (3) determine the transaction price, (4) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the
contract, and (5) recognize revenue when a performance obligation is satisfied. We account for a contract when it has approval and commitment from all
parties, the rights of the parties are identified, payment terms are identified, the contract has commercial substance and collectability of consideration is
probable. We apply judgment in determining the customer’s ability and intention to pay based on a variety of factors including the customer’s historical
payment experience.

Nature of Products and Services

Our revenue is primarily derived from licensing intellectual property, licensing software, support and maintenance services, professional services, training
services, and royalties.

Design Solutions

Interconnect Solutions product arrangements provide customers the right to software licenses, services, and support and maintenance. We enter into
licensing arrangements with customers that typically range from two to three years and generally consist of delivery of a design license that grants the
customer the right to use the IP to design a contractually defined number of products, a right to access the benefits of its proprietary software tool (RTL),
and support and maintenance services that provide the customer a significant benefit from ongoing access to Corporate Application Engineers (CAE) and
Field Application Engineers (FAE) (collectively, Application Engineer Support Services) to perform certain verifications including benchmark performance,
simulations and ultimately, through the RTL, instantiate designs into silicon over the design term.

Application Engineer Support Services are integral and fundamental to the customer’s ability to derive its intended benefit from the IP. CAEs are part of
the product development team providing detailed requirements for engineering projects, working very closely with a customer’s chief technology officer
and the marketing department, and performing quality assurance testing of customer products prior to shipment to their customers. FAEs provide
assistance to the customer’s engineering team in translating their desired SoC architecture into inputs for NoC IP configuration, assistance in optimizing
the NoC configuration, answer to customer questions by the online support system or phone, constructive reviews of the progress achieved by the
customer’s development team and provision of advice on how to best use the licensed IP, performance of design reviews before customer project RTL
freeze and tape-out to ensure the customer used the licensed IP configuration tooling as intended so that the RTL output meets customer requirements
and expectations. FAE reviews of the customer’s design are mandatory and consist of an understanding of the customer requirements and analysis of the
adequacy of the contemplated IP considering the customer’s desired architecture and design goals and objectives, taking into consideration
bandwidth, coherence/non-coherence, latency, clock and timing, areas, and any and all constraints, as identified and specific to the design under review.
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Besides Application Engineer Support Services, support and maintenance services also consist of a stand-ready obligation to provide technical support
and software updates over the support term. Generally, the first-year of technical support and software updates are bundled with and into the license fee
with a customer option to renew additional years of support throughout the license term. However, we continue to provide technical support and software
updates throughout the license term even if the customer does not renew these services in subsequent years, making the license term and support and
maintenance term co-terminus.

Considering the nature of the combined license and assisting our customers in applying our IP technology in our customers’ development environment
and the relative significance thereof, we have concluded that our promise to provide an Interconnect Solutions IP license is not distinct from our obligation
to provide the Application Engineer Support Services and benefits of the RTL. The Interconnect Solutions IP, RTL, and the Application Engineering
Support Services serve to fulfill our commitment to the customer, as they represent inputs to a single, combined performance obligation that commences
upon the later of the arrangement effective date or transfer of the software license. The design license and the regular two-way interaction between the
design license tool, RTL, and the Application Engineering Support Services give the customer the intended benefit from the arrangement, which is the
ability to commercialize their design. Customers cannot benefit from the design license on its own or together with other readily available resources as no
other RTL or Application Engineer Support Services providers exist in the marketplace that a customer could use with the design license. Consequently,
the RTL and Application Engineer Support Services cannot be used on their own or together with any other design license as we do not allow the use of
the RTL or provide Application Engineer Support Services separately from the design license. Further, although technical support and software updates is
a distinct performance obligation, it is accounted for as if it were part of a single performance obligation that includes the licenses, RTL and Application
Engineer Support Services because the technical support and updates are provided in practice for the same period of time and have the same time-based
pattern of transfer to the customer as the combined design license, RTL, and Application Engineer Support Services. Therefore, revenue from
Interconnect Solutions IP licensing arrangements is recognized over the design term ratably.

Revenues that are derived from the sale of a licensee’s products that incorporate our IP are classified as royalty revenues. Royalty revenues are
recognized during the quarter in which the sale of the product incorporating our IP occurs, and are included in variable royalties and other revenue in the
consolidated statements of loss. Royalties are calculated either as a percentage of the revenues received by a licensee’s sale of products incorporating
our IP or on a per unit basis, as specified in the agreements with the licensees. For a majority of our royalty revenues, we receive the actual sales data
from our customers after the quarter ends and account for it as unbilled receivables. In such instances, we recognize royalty revenues based on our
estimation of the customer’s sales during the quarter.

SoC Integration Automation Software Solutions

SoC Integration Automation software (SIA) (formerly IP deployment) solutions product arrangements provide customers the right to software licenses,
software updates and technical support. The software licenses are time-based licenses with terms generally ranging from one to three years. These
arrangements generally have two distinct performance obligations that consist of transferring the licensed software and the support and maintenance
service. Support and maintenance services consist of a stand-ready obligation to provide technical support and software updates over the support term.
For the majority of these contracts, there are no termination rights and the transaction price is non-refundable. Revenue allocated to the software license
is generally recognized at a point in time upon the later of the delivery date or the beginning of the license period, and revenue allocated to support
services is recognized ratably over the support term. Certain SIA solutions contracts include termination rights that allow the customer to cancel and
receive a pro-rata refund on support and maintenance services at the end of each month of the contract period, which results in a ratable recognition of
the related license revenue over the contract term.

Professional Services

Our agreements may include service elements (other than maintenance and support services). These services include training, design assistance, and
consulting. Services performed on a time and materials basis are recognized over the period the services are provided either using an output method
such as labor hours, or a method that is otherwise consistent with the way in which value is delivered to the customer. Services performed on a fixed
price basis are recognized over time, generally using costs incurred or hours expended to measure progress.
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Multiple Performance Obligations

Most of our contracts with customers contain multiple performance obligations. For these contracts, we account for individual performance obligations
separately, if they are distinct. The transaction price is allocated to the separate performance obligations on a relative standalone selling price basis,
which are estimated considering multiple factors including observable industry pricing practices and internal pricing strategies and objectives. Standalone
selling prices of professional services are typically estimated based on observable transactions when these services are sold on a standalone basis.

Transaction price

Revenue is recognized when, or as, control of a promised product or service transfers to a client, in an amount that reflects the consideration to which we
expect to be entitled in exchange for transferring those products or services. If the consideration promised in a contract includes a variable amount, we
estimate the amount to which we expect to be entitled using either the expected value or most likely amount method, to the extent it is probable that a
significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur. Generally, the transaction price of our contracts is fixed at the inception of the
contract, except for variable royalties. Our contracts generally do not include terms that could cause variability in the transaction price.

We assess the timing of the transfer of goods or services to the customer as compared to the timing of payments to determine whether a significant
financing component exists. As a practical expedient, we do not assess the existence of a significant financing component when the difference between
payment and transfer of deliverables is a year or less. If the difference in timing arises for reasons other than the provision of finance to either the
customer or us , no financing component is deemed to exist. When contracts involve a significant financing component, we adjust the promised amount of
consideration for the effects of the time value of money if the timing of payments agreed to by the parties to the contract (either explicitly or implicitly)
provide the customer with a significant benefit of financing.

We report revenue net of any revenue-based taxes assessed by governmental authorities that are imposed on and concurrent with specific revenue-
producing transactions.

In instances where foreign licensees withhold and remit taxes to local authorities in accordance with local laws and regulations, we recognize and present
revenue on a gross basis, and includes the withholding tax in income tax expense.

Flexible Spending Accounts

Some customers enter into a non-cancelable flexible spending account agreements (FSA Agreements) whereby the customer commits to a fixed dollar
amount over a specified period of time that can be used to purchase from a list of our products or services. These agreements do not meet the definition
of a revenue contract until the customer executes a separate order to identify the required products and services that they are purchasing. The
combination of the FSA agreement and the subsequent order creates enforceable rights and obligations, thus meeting the definition of a revenue
contract. Each separate order under the agreement is treated as an individual contract and accounted for based on the respective performance
obligations included within the FSA agreements.

Contract modifications

Our contracts may be modified to add, remove or change existing performance obligations. The accounting for modifications to our contracts involves
assessing whether the products and services added to an existing contract are distinct and whether the pricing is at the standalone selling price. Products
and services added that are not distinct are accounted for on a cumulative catch-up basis, while those that are distinct are accounted for prospectively,
either as a separate contract if the additional services are priced at the standalone selling price, or as a termination of the existing contract and creation of
a new contract if not priced at the standalone selling price. Our more significant contract modifications include extensions of the design license term and
the purchase of additional years of support and maintenance.

Judgments

Our contracts with customers often include promises to transfer multiple products and services to a customer. Determining whether products and services
are considered distinct performance obligations that should be accounted for separately versus together requires significant judgment. Judgment is also
required to determine the standalone selling price for each distinct performance obligation.
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Contract Balances

The timing of revenue recognition may differ from the timing of invoicing to customers, and these timing differences result in contract assets (unbilled
receivables), or contract liabilities (deferred revenue) on our consolidated balance sheets. We record a contract asset when revenue is recognized prior to
the right to invoice and we have an unconditional right to invoice and receive payment. We record deferred revenue when we invoice customers and
revenue is not yet recognized. Customers are generally invoiced in single or annual amounts, although some customers are invoiced more frequently
over time.

We capitalize sales commission as costs of obtaining a contract when they are incremental and, if they are expected to be recovered, amortized in a
manner consistent with the pattern of transfer of the good or service to which the asset relates.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes under the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred taxes are determined based on the temporary differences
between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities using tax rates expected to be in effect during the years in which the basis
differences are expected to reverse. The effect of a change in tax rates on deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in income in the period that
includes the enactment date. We provide for a valuation allowance when it is more likely than not that some portion, or all of our deferred tax assets will
not be realized. In making such determination, we consider all available positive and negative evidence, including future reversals of existing taxable
temporary differences, projected future taxable income, tax-planning strategies, and results of recent operations. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, we
recorded a full valuation allowance against our U.S. federal, state, and certain foreign jurisdiction deferred tax assets.

Business Combinations

We allocate the purchase price to the tangible assets acquired, liabilities assumed, and intangible assets acquired based on their estimated fair values.
The excess of the purchase price over the fair values of these identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Such valuations require
management to make significant estimates and assumptions, especially with respect to intangible assets. These estimates are based on information
obtained from management of the acquired companies, our assessment of this information, and historical experience. Significant estimates in valuing
certain intangible assets include, but are not limited to, future expected cash flows from acquired customers, acquired technology, and trade names from
a market participant perspective, useful lives, and discount rates. Management’s estimates of fair value are based upon assumptions believed to be
reasonable, but which are inherently uncertain and unpredictable and, as a result, actual results may differ from estimates. In addition, unanticipated
events and circumstances may occur that may affect the accuracy or validity of such estimates, and if such events occur, we may be required to adjust the
value allocated to acquired assets or assumed liabilities. During the measurement period, which may be up to one year from the acquisition date, we may
record adjustments to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed with the corresponding offset to goodwill. Upon the conclusion of the measurement
period or final determination of the values of assets acquired or liabilities assumed, whichever comes first, any subsequent adjustments are recorded to
our consolidated statements of loss. Acquisition costs, such as legal and consulting fees, are expensed as incurred.

Investments

All investments in debt securities have been classified as “available-for-sale” and are carried at estimated fair value as determined based upon quoted
market prices or pricing models for similar securities. We determine the appropriate classification of our investments in debt securities at the time of
purchase and reevaluate such designation as of each balance sheet date. Short-term investments have original maturities of greater than three months
but one year or less as of the consolidated balance sheet dates. Long-term investments have maturities greater than one year as of the consolidated
balance sheet dates. If we expect to sell a debt security within one year, we will classify the investment as a short-term investment regardless of its stated
maturity date.

The available-for-sale securities are reported at fair value with unrealized gains and losses included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). A
decline in the fair value of the available-for-sale securities is recognized directly to net income (loss) if judged to be other than temporary. Interest earned
on investments in debt securities, realized gains and losses and impairment losses, if any, on investments in debt securities are included in other income
(expense), net in the consolidated statements of loss. The cost of securities sold is based on the specific-identification method.
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Equity Method Investments

We use the equity method to account for our investments in companies which we do not control but are deemed to have the ability to exercise significant
influence over operating and financial decisions of the investee.

We generally measure an investment in the common stock of an investee initially at cost. The carrying value of the our equity method investments is
reported in equity method investment on the consolidated balance sheets. We record our proportionate share of the income or loss in our equity method
investments on a one-quarter lag. The cost is adjusted to recognize our proportionate share of the investee’s net income or loss after the date of
investment. We assess investments for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an investment may
not be recoverable.

Distributions received from an investee reduce the carrying value of an investment and are recorded in the consolidated statements of cash flows using
the nature of distribution approach.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

We test our goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment during the last day of the third fiscal quarter each year or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances occur that would more likely than not reduce the fair value below its carrying value. We completed the most recent
annual impairment test of goodwill at the reporting unit level. We have one reporting unit. We determined that our reporting unit had significant fair value
in excess of carrying value. For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, we did not have any goodwill or other indefinite-lived intangible assets
impairment.

Acquired finite-lived intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which range from five to eight
years, unless the lives are determined to be indefinite. We routinely review the remaining estimated useful lives of finite-lived intangible assets.
Amortization expenses are recorded operating expenses on the consolidated statements of loss.

Recently Issued and Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

For more information regarding recently issued accounting pronouncements, see Note 2 Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this report.

JOBS Act

We are an emerging growth company, as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups (JOBS) Act. The JOBS Act provides that an emerging growth
company can take advantage of an extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards. This provision allows an emerging
growth company to delay the adoption of some accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to private companies. We have elected
to use the extended transition period under the JOBS Act for the adoption of certain accounting standards until the earlier of the date we (i) are no longer
an emerging growth company or (ii) affirmatively and irrevocably opt out of the extended transition period provided in the JOBS Act. See Note 2, Basis of
Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, in the notes to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. As a result, our financial statements may not be comparable to companies that comply with new or revised accounting
pronouncements as of public company effective dates.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to market risk in the ordinary course of our business. Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our financial condition due to
adverse changes in financial market prices and rates. Our market risk exposure is primarily the result of fluctuations in interest rates and foreign currency
exchange rates.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to market risk in the ordinary course of our business. Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our financial condition due to
adverse changes in financial market prices and rates. Our market risk exposure is primarily the result of fluctuations in interest rates and foreign currency
exchange rates.
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Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

Operating in international markets involves exposure to possible volatile movements in currency exchange rates. A majority of our revenue and expenses
are transacted in U.S. dollars and our assets and liabilities together with our cash holdings are predominately denominated in U.S. dollars reducing the
exposure to currency fluctuations.

If the volume of our international operations increases and foreign currency exchange rates change, the impact to our consolidated statements of
operations could be significant and may affect the comparability of operating results. The impact from foreign currency remeasurement during the year
ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 was approximately $0.4 million and $0.1 million, respectively. We do not believe a 10% increase or decrease in
foreign exchange rates would have resulted in a material impact to our operating results.

78



Table of Contents

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Page

Arteris, Inc.

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  (PCAOB ID: 34 ) 80

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  (PCAOB ID: 659 ) 81

Consolidated Balance Sheets 82

Consolidated Statements of Loss 83

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss 84

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity 85

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 86

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 87

79



Table of Contents

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the stockholders and the Board of Directors of Arteris, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Arteris, Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31, 2023, the related
consolidated statements of loss, comprehensive loss, stockholders' equity, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes (collectively
referred to as the "financial statements"). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Company as of December 31, 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended, in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's financial
statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules
and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not
required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audit, we are required to obtain an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

San Jose, California

February 20, 2024

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2023.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of
Arteris, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Arteris, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2022, the related
consolidated statements of loss, comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes (collectively
referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2022, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for the year
then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The
Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audit we are
required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated  financial statements, whether due to error or
fraud, and performing procedures to respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

/s/ Moss Adams LLP

San Francisco, California
February 28, 2023

We served as the Company’s auditor from 2020 to 2023.
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Arteris, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

As of December 31,

2023 2022

ASSETS

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 13,696  $ 37,423  

Short-term investments (Note 5) 27,477  30,728  

Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $ 93 and $ 250 as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively 12,003  7,143  

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 5,254  5,818  

Total current assets 58,430  81,112  

Property and equipment, net 5,745  3,617  

Long-term investments (Note 5) 11,802  4,427  

Equity method investment 8,500  11,897  

Operating lease right-of-use assets 4,289  1,883  

Intangibles, net 3,858  4,575  

Goodwill 4,178  4,218  

Other assets 5,999  3,787  

TOTAL ASSETS $ 102,801  $ 115,516  

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 183  $ 572  

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 11,831  12,095  

Operating lease liabilities, current 781  899  

Deferred revenue, current 31,537  28,839  

Vendor financing arrangements, current 2,070  1,264  

Total current liabilities 46,402  43,669  

Deferred revenue, noncurrent 25,172  21,840  

Operating lease liabilities, noncurrent 3,610  1,009  

Vendor financing arrangements, noncurrent 1,292  448  

Deferred income, noncurrent 8,810  9,993  

Other liabilities 2,412  1,022  

Total liabilities 87,698  77,981  

Commitments and contingencies (Note 12)

Stockholders’ equity:

Preferred stock, par value of $ 0.001 — 10,000,000 shares authorized and no shares issued and outstanding as of both
December 31, 2023 and 2022 —  —  

Common stock, par value of $ 0.001 — 300,000,000 shares authorized at December 31, 2023 and 2022; 37,518,583 and
34,625,875 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively 37  34  

Additional paid-in capital 118,193  103,778  

Accumulated other comprehensive income 120  101  

Accumulated deficit ( 103,247 ) ( 66,378 )

Total stockholders’ equity 15,103  37,535  

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY $ 102,801  $ 115,516  

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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Arteris, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Loss

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Year ended December 31,

2023 2022

Revenue

Licensing, support and maintenance $ 48,273  $ 46,012  

Variable royalties and other 5,393  4,366  

Total revenue 53,666  50,378  

Cost of revenue 5,077  4,281  

Gross profit 48,589  46,097  

Operating expenses:

Research and development 45,128  41,167  

Sales and marketing 20,659  17,419  

General and administrative 17,944  16,367  

Total operating expenses 83,731  74,953  

Loss from operations ( 35,142 ) ( 28,856 )

Interest expense ( 211 ) ( 89 )

Other income (expense), net 3,558  1,425  

Loss before income taxes and loss from equity method investment ( 31,795 ) ( 27,520 )

Loss from equity method investment, net of tax 3,397  284  

Provision for (benefit from) income taxes 1,677  ( 417 )

Net loss $ ( 36,869 ) $ ( 27,387 )

Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted $ ( 1.03 ) $ ( 0.84 )

Weighted average shares used in computing per share amounts, basic and diluted 35,675,689  32,578,776  

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Arteris, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss

(In thousands)

Year ended December 31,

2023 2022

Net loss $ ( 36,869 ) $ ( 27,387 )

Other comprehensive loss:

Unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities, net of tax 93  ( 53 )

Unrealized pension actuarial (loss) gain ( 74 ) 235  

Comprehensive loss $ ( 36,850 ) $ ( 27,205 )

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Arteris, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

(In thousands, except share data)

Stockholders’ Equity

Common Stock Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income

Accumulated
Deficit TotalShares Amount

BALANCE—December 31, 2021 31,530,682  $ 31  $ 91,945  $ ( 81 ) $ ( 38,991 ) $ 52,904  

Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock options 1,451,784  2  874  — — 876  

Issuance of common stock for settlement of Restricted Stock Units (RSUs) 1,223,312  1  ( 1 ) — — —  

Issuance of common stock in connection with business combination 331,569  — 1,333  — — 1,333  

Issuance of restricted common stock in connection with business combination 331,574  — — — — —  

Tax withholding on RSUs settlement ( 243,046 ) — ( 2,065 ) — — ( 2,065 )

Stock-based compensation expense — — 11,692  — — 11,692  

Unrealized losses on available-for-sale securities, net of tax — — — ( 53 ) — ( 53 )

Unrealized pension actuarial gain — — — 235  — 235  

Net loss — — — — ( 27,387 ) ( 27,387 )

BALANCE—December 31, 2022 34,625,875  34  103,778  101  ( 66,378 ) 37,535  

Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock options 932,738  1  489  — — 490  

Issuance of common stock for settlement of RSUs 2,048,939  2  ( 2 ) — — —  

Tax withholding on RSUs settlement ( 88,969 ) — ( 607 ) — — ( 607 )

Stock-based compensation expense — — 14,535  — — 14,535  

Unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities, net of tax — — — 93  — 93  

Unrealized pension actuarial loss — — — ( 74 ) — ( 74 )

Net loss — — — — ( 36,869 ) ( 36,869 )

BALANCE—December 31, 2023 37,518,583  $ 37  $ 118,193  $ 120  $ ( 103,247 ) $ 15,103  

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Arteris, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In thousands)



Year ended December 31,

2023 2022

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Net loss $ ( 36,869 ) $ ( 27,387 )

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 3,069  2,099  

Stock-based compensation 14,535  11,692  

Pension plan expenses 134  136  

Non-cash operating lease expense 118  ( 21 )

Amortization of deferred income ( 1,179 ) ( 391 )

Gain on deconsolidation of subsidiary —  ( 149 )

Loss from equity method investment 3,397  284  

Net accretion of discounts on available-for-sale securities ( 893 ) ( 177 )

Deferred income taxes —  ( 484 )

Other, net 10  14  

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable, net ( 4,858 ) 7,102  

Prepaid expenses and other assets ( 1,301 ) 202  

Accounts payable ( 389 ) ( 1,034 )

Accrued expenses and other liabilities 2,467  517  

Deferred revenue 6,030  830  

Net cash used in operating activities ( 15,729 ) ( 6,767 )

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Purchases of property and equipment ( 1,503 ) ( 1,051 )

Purchases of available-for-sale securities and other ( 47,788 ) ( 35,031 )

Proceeds from maturities of available-for-sale securities 44,650  —  

Payments relating to investment in equity method investment —  ( 519 )

Proceeds from principal portion of related party loan —  241  

Payments for business combination, net of cash acquired —  ( 1,121 )

Other ( 50 ) —  

Net cash used in investing activities ( 4,691 ) ( 37,481 )

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Payments of contingent consideration for business combination ( 1,592 ) ( 1,573 )

Principal payments under vendor financing arrangements ( 1,289 ) ( 1,136 )

Payments to tax authorities for shares withheld from employees    ( 607 ) ( 2,065 )

Proceeds from exercise of stock options 490  876  

Payments of deferred offering costs —  ( 256 )

Other 79  —  

Net cash used in financing activities ( 2,919 ) ( 4,154 )

NET DECREASE IN CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH    ( 23,339 ) ( 48,402 )

CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH, beginning of period 37,423  85,825  

CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH, end of period $ 14,084  $ 37,423  

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 13,696  $ 37,423  

Restricted cash, noncurrent 388  —  

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period $ 14,084  $ 37,423  

Supplemental cash flow information:

Cash paid for taxes $ 1,294  $ 790  

Noncash activities:

Operating lease right-of-use assets exchanged for lease liabilities $ 3,392  $ 63  

Purchase of property and equipment through vendor financing $ 3,319  $ 2,088  

Equity obtained in equity method investment in exchange for contribution of license agreement ( Note 15)    $ —  $ 11,563  

Issuance of common stock for business combination $ —  $ 1,333  

Contingent consideration for business combination $ —  $ 362  



See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Arteris, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Arteris, Inc. was incorporated in Delaware on April 12, 2004. Arteris, Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively, the Company or Arteris) develop, license, and
support the on-chip interconnect fabric technology used in System-on-Chip (SoC) designs for a variety of devices and in the development and distribution
of Network-on-Chip (NoC) interconnect intellectual property (IP). The Company also provides software and services to enable efficient deployment of NoC
IP, IP support & maintenance services, professional services and training and on-site support services. The Company is headquartered in Campbell,
California and has offices in the United States, France, Japan, South Korea and China.

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America (GAAP).

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Arteris, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany transactions and accounts
have been eliminated in consolidation.

Segment Information

The Company operates as a single operating segment. The chief operating decision maker is the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, who makes
resource allocation decisions and assesses performance based on financial information presented on a consolidated basis, accompanied by
disaggregated revenue information. Accordingly, the Company has determined that it has a single reportable segment and operating segment.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates, judgments and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Such estimates relate to, among others, revenue recognition, the useful lives of assets,
assessment of recoverability of property, plant and equipment, fair value of investments, impairment of the equity method investment, fair values of
goodwill and other intangible assets, including impairments, leases, allowances for doubtful accounts, deferred tax assets and related valuation
allowance, stock-based compensation, potential reserves relating to litigation and tax matters, collectability of certain receivables, fair value and
amortization of deferred income, as well as other accruals or reserves. Actual results could differ from those estimates and such differences may be
material to the consolidated financial statements.

Foreign Currency

The Company and its foreign subsidiaries’ functional currency is the US dollar. Accordingly, monetary assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are
remeasured into US dollars at the exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date, non-monetary assets and liabilities are recorded at historical rates,
and revenue and expenses are remeasured at average rates during the period. Remeasurement adjustments are recognized as a component of other
income (expense), net within the consolidated statements of loss.

Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss generally represents all changes in stockholders’ equity during the period except those resulting from investments by, or
distributions to, stockholders. For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the components of comprehensive loss consist of net loss, unrealized
pension actuarial gain (loss) and unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities, net of tax.
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Net Loss per Share

Basic net loss per share is computed by dividing net loss available to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock
outstanding during the period, without consideration of potentially dilutive securities. Diluted net loss per share is computed by dividing net loss by the
weighted-average number of shares of common stock during the period, plus the dilutive effects of stock options and restricted stock units (RSU). Dilutive
shares of common stock are determined by applying the treasury stock method.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with original maturities of three months or less from the purchase date to be cash
equivalents. The Company’s cash equivalents include deposits in money market accounts which were unrestricted as to withdrawal or use and are stated
at fair value. As of December 31, 2023, cash and cash equivalents consisted primarily of checking, savings, money market accounts and highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less. Interest earned on cash and cash equivalents is included in other income (expense), net in
the consolidated statements of loss.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company’s long-term restricted cash balance was $ 0.4  million, primarily related to a letter of credit for its facility lease
agreement. Restricted cash, noncurrent is included in other assets on the consolidated balance sheets.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Accounts receivable, net consist of primarily billed and unbilled trade accounts receivable. Unbilled accounts receivable represents amounts recorded as
royalty revenue which will be invoiced within a short period upon receipt of the royalty reports from the licensees. The Company records accounts
receivable when it has an unconditional right to consideration. Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount. The Company maintains
allowances for doubtful accounts to reduce its receivables to their estimated net realizable value. In general, the Company does not offer extended credit
terms and also do not require any security or collateral to support its receivables. The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and
establishes allowances for potential credit losses by considering factors such as historical experience, credit quality, age of the accounts receivable
balances, and current economic conditions that may affect a customer’s ability to pay. The Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts activity has
historically not been significant. Probable losses are recorded in general and administrative expense in the consolidated statements of loss.

Account balances are written off against the allowance after all means of collection have been exhausted and the potential for recovery is considered
remote.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to concentration of credit risk consist of cash and cash equivalents, investments and accounts receivable.
Cash is currently held in three financial institutions that the Company believes are creditworthy. Cash held at these financial institutions generally exceed
federally insured limits. The Company is exposed to credit risk in the event of default by the financial institution holding its cash, cash equivalents, and
investments to the extent recorded in the balance sheet. The Company has not experienced any losses to date related to these concentrations.

The Company’s accounts receivable are derived principally from revenue earned from customers located in Americas, Europe, Middle East and Asia
Pacific regions.

Accounts receivable from the Company’s major customers representing 10% or more of total accounts receivable was as follows:

As of December 31,

2023 2022

Customer A 26  % *

Customer B 15  % 32  %

*    Customer accounted for less than 10% of total accounts receivable at period end.

88



Table of Contents

Revenue from the Company’s major customers representing 10% or more of total revenue was as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022

Customer B 13  % 24  %

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is recorded using the straight-line method over the estimated
useful lives, generally ranging from one to ten years . Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or
the remaining lease term.

Depreciation expenses are recorded in cost of revenue and operating expenses in the consolidated statements of loss. Upon retirement or sale, the cost
of assets disposed of and the related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is recorded as a
component of operating expenses. Repairs and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred.

The Company evaluates the recoverability of property and equipment for possible impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of such assets may not be recoverable. The evaluation is performed at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of
the cash flows of other assets and liabilities. Recoverability of these assets is measured by comparing their carrying amounts to the future undiscounted
cash flows the assets are expected to generate. If such review indicates that the carrying amount is not recoverable, the carrying amount of such assets is
reduced to fair value. No impairment was recognized during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.

Business Combinations

The Company allocates the purchase price to the tangible assets acquired, liabilities assumed, and intangible assets acquired based on their estimated
fair values. The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of these identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Such valuations require
management to make significant estimates and assumptions, especially with respect to intangible assets. These estimates are based on information
obtained from management of the acquired companies, the Company’s assessment of this information, and historical experience. Significant estimates in
valuing certain intangible assets include, but are not limited to, future expected cash flows from acquired customers, acquired technology, and trade
names from a market participant perspective, useful lives, and discount rates. Management’s estimates of fair value are based upon assumptions
believed to be reasonable, but which are inherently uncertain and unpredictable and, as a result, actual results may differ from estimates. In addition,
unanticipated events and circumstances may occur that may affect the accuracy or validity of such estimates, and if such events occur, the Company may
be required to adjust the value allocated to acquired assets or assumed liabilities. During the measurement period, which may be up to one year from the
acquisition date, the Company may record adjustments to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed with the corresponding offset to goodwill. Upon the
conclusion of the measurement period or final determination of the values of assets acquired or liabilities assumed, whichever comes first, any
subsequent adjustments are recorded to the Company’s consolidated statements of income (loss). Acquisition costs, such as legal and consulting fees,
are expensed as incurred.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The Company tests its goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment during the last day of the third fiscal quarter each year or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances occur that would more likely than not reduce the fair value below its carrying value. For the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company did not have any goodwill or other indefinite-lived intangible assets impairment.

Acquired finite-lived intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which range from five to eight
years , unless the lives are determined to be indefinite. The Company routinely reviews the remaining estimated useful lives of finite-lived intangible
assets. Amortization expenses are recorded in operating expenses on the consolidated statements of loss.

Right-of-use Assets (ROU) and Lease Liabilities

The Company recognizes leases in accordance with Accounting Standard Codification (ASC) Topic 842, Leases, and subsequently issued additional
related Accounting Standard Updates (ASU) (Topic 842).
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The Company leases its offices at various locations under noncancelable operating lease agreements expiring at various dates through 2032. Under the
terms of these agreements, the Company also bears the costs for certain insurance, property tax, and maintenance. The terms of certain lease
agreements provide for increasing rental payments at fixed intervals.

At lease commencement, the Company measures and records a lease liability equal to the present value of the remaining lease payments, generally
discounted using incremental borrowing rate as the implicit rate is not readily determinable on many of its leases. When determining the incremental
borrowing rates, the Company considers information including, but not limited to, the lease term, the interest rates on its collateralized debt and
incremental borrowing rates for its peer group.

On the lease commencement date, the amount of the ROU assets consists of the following:

■ The amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

■ Any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, minus any lease incentives received; and

■ Any initial direct costs incurred.

The Company assesses the option for lease extensions, renewals, or terminations on individual leases, and generally considers the base term to be the
term of lease contracts, unless it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise such options. Lease agreements may contain other variable costs
such as common area maintenance, insurance, real estate taxes or other costs. Variable lease costs are expensed as incurred in the consolidated
statements of income (loss). The Company does not include non-lease components with lease payments for the purpose of calculating lease right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities. The lease agreements generally do not contain any residual guarantees or restrictive covenants.

Operating leases are included in operating lease ROU assets, operating lease liabilities, current and operating lease liabilities, noncurrent in the
consolidated balance sheets. Finance leases are included in property and equipment, accrued expenses and other current liabilities and other liabilities in
the consolidated balance sheets.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with ASC Topic  606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers,  and subsequently issued additional
related ASUs (Topic 606). The Company recognizes revenues as it transfers control of deliverables (software and services) to its customers in an amount
reflecting the consideration to which it expects to be entitled. To recognize revenues, the Company applies the following five step approach: (1) identify
the contract with a customer, (2) identify the performance obligations in the contract, (3) determine the transaction price, (4) allocate the transaction price
to the performance obligations in the contract, and (5) recognize revenues when a performance obligation is satisfied. The Company accounts for a
contract when it has approval and commitment from all parties, the rights of the parties are identified, payment terms are identified, the contract has
commercial substance and collectability of consideration is probable. The Company applies judgment in determining the customer’s ability and intention to
pay based on a variety of factors including the customer’s historical payment experience.

Nature of Products and Services

The Company’s revenue is primarily derived from licensing intellectual property, licensing software, support and maintenance services, professional
services, training services, and royalties.

Design Solutions

Interconnect Solutions product arrangements provide customers the right to software licenses, services, and support and maintenance. The Company
enters into licensing arrangements with customers that typically range from two to three years and generally consist of delivery of a design license that
grants the customer the right to use the IP to design a contractually defined number of products, a right to access the benefits of its proprietary software
tool (RTL), and support and maintenance services that provide the customer a significant benefit from ongoing access to Corporate Application Engineers
(CAE) and Field Application Engineers (FAE) (collectively, Application Engineer Support Services) to perform certain verifications including benchmark
performance, simulations and ultimately, through the RTL, instantiate designs into silicon over the design term.
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Application Engineer Support Services are integral and fundamental to the customer’s ability to derive its intended benefit from the IP. CAEs are part of
the product development team providing detailed requirements for engineering projects, working very closely with a customer’s chief technology officer
and the marketing department, and performing quality assurance testing of customer products prior to shipment to their customers. FAEs provide
assistance to the customer’s engineering team in translating their desired SoC architecture into inputs for NoC IP configuration, assistance in optimizing
the NoC configuration, answer to customer questions by the online support system or phone, constructive reviews of the progress achieved by the
customer’s development team and provision of advice on how to best use the licensed IP, performance of design reviews before customer project RTL
freeze and tape-out to ensure the customer used the licensed IP configuration tooling as intended so that the RTL output meets customer requirements
and expectations. FAE reviews of the customer’s design are mandatory and consist of an understanding of the customer requirements and analysis of the
adequacy of the contemplated IP considering the customer’s desired architecture and design goals and objectives, taking into consideration
bandwidth, coherence/non-coherence, latency, clock and timing, areas, and any and all constraints, as identified and specific to the design under review.

Besides Application Engineer Support Services, support and maintenance services also consist of a stand-ready obligation to provide technical support
and software updates over the support term. Generally, the first-year of technical support and software updates are bundled with and into the license fee
with a customer option to renew additional years of support throughout the license term. However, the Company continues to provide technical support
and software updates throughout the license term even if the customer does not renew these services in subsequent years, making the license term and
support and maintenance term co-terminus.

Considering the nature of the combined license and assisting the Company’s customers in applying its IP technology in its customers’ development
environment and the relative significance thereof, the Company has concluded that its promise to provide an Interconnect Solutions IP license is not
distinct from its obligation to provide the Application Engineer Support Services and benefits of the RTL. The Interconnect Solutions IP, RTL, and the
Application Engineering Support Services serve to fulfill its commitment to the customer, as they represent inputs to a single, combined performance
obligation that commences upon the later of the arrangement effective date or transfer of the software license. The design license and the regular two-
way interaction between the design license tool, RTL, and the Application Engineering Support Services give the customer the intended benefit from the
arrangement, which is the ability to commercialize their design. Customers cannot benefit from the design license on its own or together with other readily
available resources as no other RTL or Application Engineer Support Services providers exist in the marketplace that a customer could use with the
design license. Consequently, the RTL and Application Engineer Support Services cannot be used on their own or together with any other design license
as the Company does not allow the use of the RTL or provide Application Engineer Support Services separately from the design license. Further,
although technical support and software updates is a distinct performance obligation, it is accounted for as if it were part of a single performance
obligation that includes the licenses, RTL and Application Engineer Support Services because the technical support and updates are provided in practice
for the same period of time and have the same time-based pattern of transfer to the customer as the combined design license, RTL, and Application
Engineer Support Services. Therefore, revenue from Interconnect Solutions IP licensing arrangements is recognized over the design term ratably.

Revenues that are derived from the sale of a licensee’s products that incorporate the Company’s IP are classified as royalty revenues. Royalty revenues
are recognized during the quarter in which the sale of the product incorporating the Company’s IP occurs, and are included in variable royalties and other
in the consolidated statements of loss.  Royalties are calculated either as a percentage of the revenues received by a licensee’s sale of products
incorporating the Company’s IP or on a per unit basis, as specified in the agreements with the licensees. For a majority of the Company’s royalty
revenues, it receives the actual sales data from its customers after the quarter ends and accounts for it as unbilled receivables. In such instances, the
Company recognizes royalty revenues based on its estimation of the customer’s sales during the quarter.

91



Table of Contents

SoC Integration Automation Software Solutions

SoC Integration Automation software (SIA) (formerly IP deployment) solutions product arrangements provide customers the right to software licenses,
software updates and technical support. The software licenses are time-based licenses with terms generally ranging from one to three years . These
arrangements generally have two distinct performance obligations that consist of transferring the licensed software and the support and maintenance
service. Support and maintenance services consist of a stand-ready obligation to provide technical support and software updates over the support term.
For the majority of these contracts, there are no termination rights and the transaction price is non-refundable. Revenue allocated to the software license
is generally recognized at a point in time upon the later of the delivery date or the beginning of the license period, and revenue allocated to support
services is recognized ratably over the support term. Certain SIA solutions contracts include termination rights that allow the customer to cancel and
receive a pro-rata refund on support and maintenance services at the end of each month of the contract period, which results in a ratable recognition of
the related license revenue over the contract term.

Professional Services

The Company’s agreements may include service elements (other than maintenance and support services). These services include training, design
assistance, and consulting. Services performed on a time and materials basis are recognized over the period the services are provided either using an
output method such as labor hours, or a method that is otherwise consistent with the way in which value is delivered to the customer. Services performed
on a fixed price basis are recognized over time, generally using costs incurred or hours expended to measure progress.

Multiple Performance Obligations

Most of the Company’s contracts with customers contain multiple performance obligations. For these contracts, the Company accounts for individual
performance obligations separately, if they are distinct. The transaction price is allocated to the separate performance obligations on a relative standalone
selling price basis, which are estimated considering multiple factors including observable industry pricing practices and internal pricing strategies and
objectives. Standalone selling prices of professional services are typically estimated based on observable transactions when these services are sold on a
standalone basis.

Transaction price

Revenue is recognized when, or as, control of a promised product or service transfers to a client, in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Company expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring those products or services. If the consideration promised in a contract includes a variable
amount, the Company estimates the amount to which it expects to be entitled using either the expected value or most likely amount method, to the extent
it is probable that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur. Generally, the transaction price of the Company’s contracts is
fixed at the inception of the contract, except for variable royalties. The Company’s contracts generally do not include terms that could cause variability in
the transaction price.

The Company assesses the timing of the transfer of goods or services to the customer as compared to the timing of payments to determine whether a
significant financing component exists. As a practical expedient, the Company does not assess the existence of a significant financing component when
the difference between payment and transfer of deliverables is a year or less. If the difference in timing arises for reasons other than the provision of
finance to either the customer or the Company, no financing component is deemed to exist. When contracts involve a significant financing component,
the Company adjusts the promised amount of consideration for the effects of the time value of money if the timing of payments agreed to by the parties to
the contract (either explicitly or implicitly) provide the customer with a significant benefit of financing.

The Company reports revenue net of any revenue-based taxes assessed by governmental authorities that are imposed on and concurrent with specific
revenue-producing transactions.

In instances where foreign licensees withhold and remit taxes to local authorities in accordance with local laws and regulations, the Company recognizes
and presents revenue on a gross basis, and includes the withholding tax in income tax expense.

92



Table of Contents

Flexible Spending Accounts

Some customers enter into a non-cancelable flexible spending account agreements (FSA Agreements) whereby the customer commits to a fixed dollar
amount over a specified period of time that can be used to purchase from a list of the Company’s products or services. These agreements do not meet
the definition of a revenue contract until the customer executes a separate order to identify the required products and services that they are purchasing.
The combination of the FSA agreement and the subsequent order creates enforceable rights and obligations, thus meeting the definition of a revenue
contract. Each separate order under the agreement is treated as an individual contract and accounted for based on the respective performance
obligations included within the FSA agreements.

Contract modifications

The Company’s contracts may be modified to add, remove or change existing performance obligations. The accounting for modifications to the
Company’s contracts involves assessing whether the products and services added to an existing contract are distinct and whether the pricing is at the
standalone selling price. Products and services added that are not distinct are accounted for on a cumulative catch-up basis, while those that are distinct
are accounted for prospectively, either as a separate contract if the additional services are priced at the standalone selling price, or as a termination of the
existing contract and creation of a new contract if not priced at the standalone selling price. The Company’s more significant contract modifications include
extensions of the design license term and the purchase of additional years of support and maintenance.

Judgments

The Company’s contracts with customers often include promises to transfer multiple products and services to a customer. Determining whether products
and services are considered distinct performance obligations that should be accounted for separately versus together requires significant judgment.
Judgment is also required to determine the standalone selling price for each distinct performance obligation.

Contract Balances

The timing of revenue recognition may differ from the timing of invoicing to customers, and these timing differences result in contract assets (unbilled
receivables), or contract liabilities (deferred revenue) on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. The Company records a contract asset when
revenue is recognized prior to the right to invoice and it has an unconditional right to invoice and receive payment. The Company records deferred
revenue when it invoices customers and revenue is not yet recognized. Customers are generally invoiced in single or annual amounts, although some
customers are invoiced more frequently over time.

The Company capitalizes sales commission as costs of obtaining a contract when they are incremental and, if they are expected to be recovered,
amortized in a manner consistent with the pattern of transfer of the good or service to which the asset relates.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of Revenues relates to costs associated with the Company’s licensing arrangements and support and maintenance, including applicable FAE
personnel-related costs such as stock-based compensation, travel, amortization of developed technology acquired intangibles and allocated overhead.

Allocation of Overhead Costs

Overhead costs that are not substantially dedicated for use by a specific functional group are allocated based on headcount. Such costs include costs
associated with office facilities, depreciation of property and equipment, certain support function personnel costs and other expenses.

Research and Development

Research and development costs that do not meet the criteria for capitalization are expensed as incurred. Research and development costs consist
primarily of compensation, stock-based compensation, and employee benefits of engineering and product development personnel, consulting services,
and other direct expenses.
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Software Development Costs

Software development costs are capitalized beginning when a product’s technological feasibility has been established and ending when a product is
available for general release to customers. Arteris has not capitalized any software development costs as of and for the years ended December 31, 2023
and 2022 as the period between establishing technological feasibility and general customer release has historically been short and therefore capitalizable
costs have been insignificant.

The Company has not capitalized any internal-use software development costs as these costs have historically been insignificant.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses consist of compensation and employee benefits of marketing and sales personnel and related support teams, and stock-
based compensation, as well as travel, trade show sponsorships and events, conferences, and internet advertising costs. Advertising costs, included in
sales and marketing expenses, are expensed as incurred. The Company incurred advertising costs of $ 0 .1  million for both the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses include executive and administrative compensation and employee benefits, depreciation, professional services fees,
insurance costs, bad debt, other allocated costs, such as facility-related expenses, supplies, other fixed costs, and stock-based compensation.

Stock-based Compensation

The Company measures equity classified stock-based awards, including stock options, RSUs, and RSAs granted to employees, directors, and non-
employees based on the estimated fair values of the awards on the date of the grant. Stock-based compensation expense for awards with service-based
vesting only is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period which is generally the vesting period of such awards, as a component
of operating expenses within the consolidated statements of income (loss). For awards that include performance conditions stock-based compensation
expense is recognized on a graded vesting basis over the requisite service period. Compensation expense is not recognized until the performance
condition becomes probable. The Company accounts for forfeitures related to these awards as they occur.

The fair value of each stock option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. This valuation model for stock-
based compensation expense requires the Company to make assumptions and judgments about the variables used in the calculation including the
expected term, the volatility of the Company’s common stock, and an assumed risk-free interest rate. As a result, if the Company revises its assumptions
and estimates, the Company’s stock-based compensation expense could change.

The fair value of RSUs and RSAs granted is measured as the fair value per share of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant.
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Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred taxes are determined based on the temporary
differences between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities using tax rates expected to be in effect during the years in which the
basis differences are expected to reverse. The effect of a change in tax rates on deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in income in the period
that includes the enactment date. The Company provides for a valuation allowance when it is more likely than not that some portion, or all of its deferred
tax assets will not be realized. In making such determination, the Company considers all available positive and negative evidence, including future
reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, projected future taxable income, tax-planning strategies, and results of recent operations. As of
December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company recorded a full valuation allowance against its U.S. federal, state, and certain foreign jurisdiction net deferred
tax assets.

ASC 740 prescribes a recognition threshold and a measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of tax positions taken
or expected to be taken in a tax return. For those benefits to be recognized, a tax position must be more likely than not to be sustained upon examination
by taxing authorities. There were $ 3.5 million and $ 2.6  million unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The
Company recognizes accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense. The amounts accrued for the payment
of interest and penalties were immaterial as of December 31, 2023. No amounts were accrued for the payment of interest and penalties as of December
31, 2022. The Company is currently not aware of any issues under review that could result in significant payments, accruals or material deviation from its
position.

Fair value of financials instruments

The Company defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. When determining the fair value measurements for assets and liabilities required or permitted to be recorded at fair
value, the Company considers the principal market or the most advantageous market in which it would transact.

The Company maximizes the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. Observable inputs are
inputs that reflect the assumptions market participants would use in valuing the asset or liability and are developed based on market data obtained from
sources independent of the Company. Unobservable inputs are inputs that reflect the Company’s own assumptions about the factors that market
participants would use in valuing the asset or liability developed based on the best information available in the circumstances.

The standard establishes a fair value hierarchy based on the level of independent, objective evidence surrounding the inputs used to measure fair value
by requiring that the most observable inputs be used when available. A financial instrument’s categorization within the fair value hierarchy is based upon
the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The fair value hierarchy is as follows:

■ Level 1 applies to assets or liabilities for which there are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company has
the ability to access at the measurement date.

■ Level 2 applies to assets or liabilities for which there are inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical assets or
liabilities in markets with insufficient volume or infrequent transactions (less active markets).

■ Level 3 applies to assets or liabilities for which fair value is derived from valuation techniques in which one or more significant inputs are
unobservable, including the Company’s own assumptions.

The Company determined the estimated fair value of financial instruments using available market information and valuation methodologies considered to
be appropriate. The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable approximate their fair values due to their
short maturities. The Company’s investments are recorded at fair value and vendor financing arrangements are recorded at net carrying value.
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Investments

All investments in debt securities have been classified as “available-for-sale” and are carried at estimated fair value as determined based upon quoted
market prices or pricing models for similar securities. Management determines the appropriate classification of its investments in debt securities at the
time of purchase and reevaluates such designation as of each balance sheet date. Short-term investments have original maturities of greater than three
months but one year or less as of the consolidated balance sheet dates. Long-term investments have maturities greater than one year as of the
consolidated balance sheet dates. If the Company expects to sell a debt security within one year, it will classify the investment as a short-term investment
regardless of its stated maturity date.

The available-for-sale securities are reported at fair value with unrealized gains and losses included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). A
decline in the fair value of the available-for-sale securities is recognized directly to net income (loss) if judged to be other than temporary. Interest earned
on investments in debt securities, realized gains and losses and impairment losses, if any, on investments in debt securities are included in other income
(expense), net in the consolidated statements of loss. The cost of securities sold is based on the specific-identification method.

Equity Method Investments

The Company uses the equity method to account for its investments in companies which the Company does not control but is deemed to have the ability
to exercise significant influence over operating and financial decisions of the investee.

The Company generally measures an investment in the common stock of an investee initially at cost. The carrying value of the Company’s equity method
investments is reported in equity method investment on the consolidated balance sheets. The Company records its proportionate share of the income or
loss in its equity method investments on a one-quarter lag. The cost is adjusted to recognize the Company's proportionate share of the investee’s net
income or loss after the date of investment. The Company assesses investments for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying value of an investment may not be recoverable.

Distributions received from an investee reduce the carrying value of an investment and are recorded in the consolidated statements of cash flows using
the nature of distribution approach.

Government Assistance

The Company's government assistance during the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 primarily consists of R&D tax credits granted to the
Company’s subsidiary in France. These R&D tax credits are granted to encourage companies to conduct technical and scientific research. For accounting
purposes, the foreign R&D tax credits are recorded as an offset to research and development expenses in the Company’s consolidated statements of
loss. The Company recorded $ 1.9 million and $ 1.8 million of foreign R&D tax credit during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial
Instruments and in May 2019 issued ASU No. 2019-05, Credit Losses (Topic 326): Targeted Transition Relief (collectively referred to as Topic 326) ,
which requires the measurement and recognition of expected credit losses for financial assets held at amortized cost. Topic 326 replaces the existing
incurred loss impairment model with a forward-looking expected credit loss model which will result in earlier recognition of credit losses. Topic 326 is
effective for the Company for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, and interim periods within those fiscal years. The adoption of the new
guidance did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
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In September 2022, the FASB issued ASU 2022-04, Liabilities - Supplier Finance Programs (Subtopic 405-50): Disclosure of Supplier Finance Program
Obligations, which requires a buyer in a supplier finance program to disclose sufficient information about the program to allow a user of financial
statements to understand the program's nature, activity during the period, changes from period to period, and potential magnitude. To achieve that
objective, the buyer should disclose qualitative and quantitative information about its supplier finance programs. The amendments in this update do not
affect the recognition, measurement, or financial statement presentation of obligations covered by supplier finance program. The guidance is effective for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, except for the amendment on rollforward information which is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2023, with early adoption permitted. The Company considered key terms of the current vendor financing arrangements and concluded that
the current vendor financing arrangements did not have any of the characteristics which would require additional disclosures. As a result, the adoption of
the new guidance did not have an impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and related disclosures. See Note 11 for disclosures on
the Company’s vendor financing arrangements.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures , which amends the guidance in ASC 740, Income Taxes.
This ASU is intended to improve the transparency of income tax disclosures by requiring (1) consistent categories and greater disaggregation of
information in the rate reconciliation and (2) income taxes paid disaggregated by jurisdiction. It also includes certain other amendments to improve the
effectiveness of income tax disclosures. This ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. Adoption is either prospectively or
retrospectively, the Company will adopt this ASU on a prospective basis. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting this ASU on its
consolidated financial statements and disclosures.

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures , which
requires disclosure of incremental segment information on an annual and interim basis. This ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December
15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, and requires retrospective application to all prior periods presented
in the financial statements. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting this ASU on its consolidated financial statements and disclosures.

3. REVENUE

Disaggregated Revenue

The following table shows revenue by product and services groups (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022

Licensing, support and maintenance $ 48,273  $ 46,012  

Variable royalties 5,158  3,140  

Other 235  1,226  

Total $ 53,666  $ 50,378  

Contract Balances

The following table provides information about accounts receivable, net, contract assets and deferred revenue (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2023 2022

Accounts receivable, net $ 12,003  $ 7,143  

Contract assets $ 878  $ 1,180  

Deferred revenue $ 56,709  $ 50,679  

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company recognized revenue of $ 29.9 million and $ 28.2 million, respectively, that was
included in the deferred revenue balance at the beginning of the fiscal year. Contract assets are included in prepaid expenses and other current assets
and other assets on the consolidated balance sheets.
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As of December 31, 2023, non-cancelable contracted but unsatisfied or partially satisfied performance obligations that have not yet been recognized is $
71.6 million which includes deferred revenue, amounts that will be invoiced and recognized as revenues in future periods and FSA commitments, from
customers where actual product selection and quantities of specific products are to be determined by customers at a future period. The Company expects
to recognize $ 33.0 million of this balance over the next 12 months and the remainder thereafter. FSA commitments amounted to $ 6.2 million and nil at
the end of fiscal years 2023 and 2022, respectively. The Company has elected to exclude the potential future royalty receipts from this amount.

Costs of Obtaining a Contract with a Customer

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract with a customer consist primarily of direct sales commissions incurred upon execution of the contract. These
costs are required to be capitalized under ASC 340-40,  Other Assets and Deferred Costs—Contracts With Customers  , and amortized over the license
term. As direct sales commissions paid for term extensions are commensurate with the amounts paid for initial contracts, the deferred incremental costs
for initial contracts and for term extensions are recognized over the respective contract terms. Total capitalized direct commission costs were as follows
(in thousands):

As of December 31,

2023 2022

Short-term commission capitalized in prepaid expenses and other current assets $ 2,408  $ 2,636  

Long-term commission capitalized in other assets 1,353  1,535  

Total $ 3,761  $ 4,171  

Amortization of capitalized sales commissions were $ 3.7 million and $ 3.5 million during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively,
and are included in sales and marketing expense in the consolidated statements of loss.

4. NET LOSS PER SHARE

The following table presents the calculation of basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders (in thousands, except share and
per share data):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022

Numerator:

Net loss $ ( 36,869 ) $ ( 27,387 )

Denominator:

Weighted-average shares outstanding, basic and diluted 35,675,689  32,578,776  

Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ ( 1.03 ) $ ( 0.84 )

Since the Company was in a loss position for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the diluted earnings per share is equal to the basic earnings
per share as the effect of potentially dilutive securities would have been antidilutive.

The following table summarizes the potentially dilutive securities that were excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share because they
would be anti-dilutive:

As of December 31,

2023 2022

Stock options 2,841,764  3,542,836  

Restricted stock units 5,732,950  5,619,013  

Restricted common shares issued for business combination (see Note 9) 234,859  331,574  

Total 8,809,573  9,493,423  
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5.     INVESTMENTS

The following tables summarize the fair value and amortized cost of the Company’s cash equivalents and available-for-sale securities by major security
type (in thousands):

As of December 31, 2023

Amortized Cost
Unrealized Gains

(Losses) Aggregate Fair Value

Assets:

U.S. government agency securities $ 19,461  $ 29  $ 19,490  

U.S. treasury securities 10,630  3  10,633  

Money market funds 8,026  —  8,026  

Corporate bonds 5,649  9  5,658  

Certificate of deposit 5,000  —  5,000  

Commercial paper 990  ( 1 ) 989  

Total financial assets $ 49,756  $ 40  $ 49,796  

As of December 31, 2022

Amortized Cost Unrealized Losses Aggregate Fair Value

Assets:

Money market funds $ 30,428  $ —  $ 30,428  

Commercial paper 2,604  ( 1 ) 2,603  

Corporate bonds 5,717  ( 10 ) 5,707  

U.S. government agency securities 18,508  ( 40 ) 18,468  

U.S. treasury securities 8,379  ( 2 ) 8,377  

Total financial assets $ 65,636  $ ( 53 ) $ 65,583  

The maturity dates of the Company’s investments are as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2023

Less than one year $ 37,994  

1-2 years 11,802  

Total $ 49,796  

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, securities with a fair value of $ 3.7  million and zero , respectively, were in a continuous net unrealized loss position
for more than 12 months. As of December 31, 2023, the unrealized losses for available-for-sale investments were non-credit related and the Company
does not intend to sell the investments that were in an unrealized loss position, nor does it foresee or project that it will be required to sell those
investments before recovery of their amortized costs basis, which may be at maturity. Thus, as of December 31, 2023 no allowance for credit losses or
impairment losses for the Company’s investments were recorded.

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Assets Measured and Recorded at Fair Value on a Non-Recurring Basis

Equity method investments, and certain non-financial assets, such as intangible assets are remeasured at fair value only if an impairment or observable
price adjustment is recognized in the current period.

Financial Instruments Not Recorded at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

Financial instruments not recorded at fair value on a recurring basis include vendor financing arrangements. The carrying value of the vendor financing
agreements was $ 3.4 million and $ 1.7 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The Company’s vendor financing arrangements are
classified within Level 2 because these borrowings are not actively traded and have a variable interest rate structure based upon the Company’s
incremental borrowing rate. The estimated fair values of these financial instruments approximate their carrying values.
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Financial Instruments Recorded at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

The following tables summarize the Company’s financial assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis by level within the fair value hierarchy (in
thousands):

As of December 31, 2023

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value

Assets:

Cash equivalents:

Money market funds $ 8,026  $ —  $ —  $ 8,026  

U.S. treasury securities —  2,491  —  2,491  

Total cash equivalents 8,026  2,491  —  10,517  

Short-term investments:

Certificate of deposit —  5,000  —  5,000  

Commercial paper —  989  —  989  

Corporate bonds —  3,696  —  3,696  

U.S. government agency securities —  9,650  —  9,650  

U.S. treasury securities —  8,142  —  8,142  

Total short-term investments —  27,477  —  27,477  

Long-term investments:

Corporate bonds —  1,962  —  1,962  

U.S. government agency securities —  9,840  —  9,840  

Total long-term investments —  11,802  —  11,802  

Total financial assets $ 8,026  $ 41,770  $ —  $ 49,796  

As of December 31, 2022

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value

Assets:

Cash equivalents:

Money market funds $ 30,428  $ —  $ —  $ 30,428  

Total cash equivalents 30,428  —  —  30,428  

Short-term investments:

Commercial paper —  2,603  —  2,603  

Corporate bonds —  3,971  —  3,971  

U.S. government agency securities —  15,777  —  15,777  

U.S. treasury securities —  8,377  —  8,377  

Total short-term investments —  30,728  —  30,728  

Long-term investments:

Corporate bonds —  1,736  —  1,736  

U.S. government agency securities —  2,691  —  2,691  

Total long-term investments —  4,427  —  4,427  

Total financial assets $ 30,428  $ 35,155  $ —  $ 65,583  

Money market funds are highly liquid investments and are actively traded. The fair value is based on quoted prices for identical assets in active markets
and therefore classified as Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.

The Company’s other investments are considered Level 2 financial instruments as their fair values are determined using inputs that are directly or
indirectly observable in active or less active markets. There were no transfers between levels during the year ended December 31, 2023.
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7. INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

Intangible assets, net

Intangible assets, net consisted of the following as of December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

Gross Fair Value
Accumulated
Amortization Net Book Value

Weighted-Average
Useful Lives

Developed technology $ 3,090  $ ( 1,247 ) $ 1,843  4.6 years

Customer relationships 1,830  ( 515 ) 1,315  5.9 years

IPR&D 500  — 500  — 

Trade name and other 200  — 200  — 

Total intangibles $ 5,620  $ ( 1,762 ) $ 3,858  

Intangible assets, net consisted of the following as of December 31, 2022 (in thousands):

Gross Fair Value
Accumulated
Amortization Net Book Value

Weighted-Average
Useful Lives

Developed technology $ 3,090  $ ( 708 ) $ 2,382  5.3 years

Customer relationships 1,830  ( 287 ) 1,543  6.9 years

IPR&D 500  — 500  — 

Trade name and other 150  — 150  — 

Total intangibles $ 5,570  $ ( 995 ) $ 4,575  

Amortization expense of intangible assets was $ 0.8 million and $ 0.5 million for years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

The expected future amortization expense of these intangible assets as of December 31, 2023 is as follows (in thousands) :
2024 $ 767  

2025 739

2026 427

2027 427

2028 416

Thereafter 382  

Total future amortization expense $ 3,158  

Goodwill

Goodwill was $ 4.2 million as of both December 31, 2023 and 2022. No goodwill impairments were recorded during the years ended December 31, 2023
and 2022.
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8. BALANCE SHEET COMPONENTS

Certain changes in presentation have been made to conform the prior period presentation to the current period reporting.

Accounts Receivable, net

The following table presents the components of accounts receivable, net, (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2023 2022

Accounts receivable $ 11,061  $ 6,631  

Unbilled accounts receivable 1,035  762  

Total accounts receivable 12,096  7,393  

Less: allowance for doubtful accounts ( 93 ) ( 250 )

Total accounts receivable, net $ 12,003  $ 7,143  

The allowance for doubtful accounts was $ 0.1 million and $ 0.3 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consisted of the following (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2023 2022

Capitalized commissions asset, net $ 2,408  $ 2,636  

Insurance 1,032  1,372  

Software & subscriptions 757  691  

Contract assets 312  669  

Investment interest receivable 310  114  

Other 435  336  

Total prepaid expenses and other current assets $ 5,254  $ 5,818  

Property and Equipment, net

Property and equipment consisted of the following (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2023 2022

Software and technology equipment $ 7,574  $ 6,131  

Office furniture and hardware equipment 863  395  

Leasehold improvements 535  299  

Construction in progress 35  282  

Vehicles —  7  

Total property and equipment 9,007  7,114  

Less: accumulated depreciation ( 3,262 ) ( 3,497 )

Total property and equipment, net $ 5,745  $ 3,617  

Depreciation expenses related to property and equipment for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, was $ 2.3 million and $ 1.6 million,
respectively.
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Other Assets

Other assets consisted of the following (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2023 2022

Foreign R&D tax credit receivable $ 3,516  $ 1,565  

Capitalized commissions asset, net 1,353  1,535  

Contract assets 566  511  

Security deposit 149  118  

Other 415  58  

Total other assets $ 5,999  $ 3,787  

Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consisted of the following (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2023 2022

Payroll and related benefits $ 8,815  $ 8,182  

Deferred income 1,182  1,179  

Accrued professional fees 1,010  851  

Deferred and contingent consideration —  1,696  

Customer refund liability 333  —  

Other accrued liabilities 491  187  

Total accrued expenses and other current liabilities $ 11,831  $ 12,095  

Other Liabilities

Other liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2023 2022

Pension accrual $ 905  $ 676  

Long-term income tax payable 525  —  

Retirement benefit liability 449  346  

Contingent milestone liability (Note 9) 413  —  

Other liabilities 120  —  

Total other liabilities $ 2,412  $ 1,022  

9. ACQUISITION

Semifore Acquisition

On December 27, 2022, the Company acquired 100 % of the issued and outstanding equity securities (the Acquisition) of Semifore, Inc. (Semifore),
provider of hardware, software interface (HSI) technology. Semifore technologies are used to effectively design, verify, document, and help in the
validation of the hardware-software integration that is used in the SoC complex chip market. The addition of Semifore technologies and team expertise
augments Arteris System IP and SoC Integration Automation software (SIA) (formerly IP deployment (IPD)) to further enhance software control of the IP
and SoC hardware. The Acquisition closed on December 27, 2022 and has been accounted for in accordance with the acquisition method of accounting
for business combinations with the Company as the accounting acquirer.
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The consideration transferred for the acquisition is as follows (in thousands):

DECEMBER 27,
2022

Cash consideration paid at closing $ 1,388  

Stock consideration ( 331,569 shares of the Company’s common stock) 1,333  

Contingent consideration 362  

Total consideration $ 3,083  

In connection with the Acquisition, key employees and former owners of Semifore were issued a total of 663,143 shares of the Company’s common stock
and obtained the right to additional cash payment totaling $ 1.8  million. Out of the 663,143 shares issued, 331,569 shares of common stock vested as of
the closing date and 96,715 shares of common stock vested on the first anniversary of the closing date. The remaining 234,859 shares of common stock
remain unvested as of December 31, 2023 and will vest on the third anniversary of the closing of the Acquisition, contingent on the continued employment
of certain key employees. Out of the $ 1.8  million right to additional cash payment, $ 0.5  million was paid upon the first anniversary of the closing during
the year ended December 31, 2023, and the remaining $ 1.3  million will vest on the third anniversary of the closing date, contingent on the continued
employment of certain key employees. The contingent cash payments and equity awards have been accounted for separately from the business
combination and will be recognized by the Company as compensation costs in the subsequent periods as related services are provided. Refer to Note 14
for additional information about the equity awards.

The Company incurred acquisition-related expenses associated with the Acquisition in a total amount of $ 0.5  million, which were expensed as incurred
and included in general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2022. These
acquisition-related costs included legal, accounting, and other professional and consulting fees.

Under the acquisition method of accounting, the purchase price is allocated to identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their fair
values on the acquisition date. The following table provides the fair values of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the acquisition
date (in thousands):

Fair Value

Cash $ 267  

Accounts receivable 372  

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 63  

Contract assets 15  

Intangibles 2,120  

Accounts payable ( 139 )

Deferred revenue ( 672 )

Deferred tax liability ( 484 )

Total identifiable net assets 1,542  

Goodwill 1,541  

Total purchase price $ 3,083  

ASC 805 establishes a measurement period to provide companies with a reasonable amount of time to obtain the information necessary to identify and
measure various items in a business combination and cannot extend beyond one year from the acquisition date. The measurement period adjustments
had an immaterial offsetting impact to Goodwill as of December 31, 2023.
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The following table summarizes the fair value of the identifiable intangible assets acquired (in thousands) and weighted-average useful life:

2022   
Weighted-Average Useful

Lives

Developed technology $ 1,390  7 years

Customer relationships 730  8 years

Fair value of intangible assets $ 2,120  

Goodwill generated from this business combination is attributed to synergies between the Company’s and Semifore’s respective products and services
and is housed within the Company’s single operating segment. In 2022, the Company recorded $ 0.5  million deferred tax liability as a result of the
Acquisition. The Company does not have any tax basis in the total goodwill of $ 1.5  million and the goodwill is non-deductible for income tax purposes.
The revenue and earnings of the acquired business have been included in the Company’s results since the acquisition date and are not material to the
Company’s consolidated financial results.

Pro forma results of operations for the acquisition have not been presented because they are not material to the Company's consolidated results of
operations.

Magillem Acquisition

On November 30, 2020, the Company, through Arteris IP SAS, its wholly owned subsidiary, completed the acquisition of Magillem Design Services SA
(Magillem), by acquiring certain assets and assumed liabilities of Magillem in an all-cash transaction to expand the Company’s SIA technology. Magillem
is a leading provider of complex design flow and content management software solutions.

The total purchase consideration was $ 7.8  million, of which $ 2.8  million was the estimated contingent consideration which represents the fair value of
additional consideration payable to the seller upon (a) the achievement of specified milestones, estimated using the income approach and (b) in relation to
potential indemnity claims. The contingent consideration payments are tied to a number of metrics, including claims received by the Company and certain
product development, customer and revenue metrics in the one to three years after acquisition. As of December 31, 2023, there were zero contingent
consideration payments remaining relating to Magillem after the settlement of $ 1.5  million liability in 2022 and $ 1.3  million in 2023, recorded as part of
accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.

10. LEASES

The Company leases its offices and data center hosting space at various locations under noncancelable operating lease agreements expiring at various
dates through 2032. Under the terms of these agreements, the Company also bears the costs for certain insurance, property tax, and maintenance. The
terms of certain lease agreements provide for increasing rental payments at fixed intervals.

Total operating lease related costs were as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

 2023 2022

Operating lease cost $ 1,137  $ 1,059  

Short-term lease cost 182  309  

Total lease cost $ 1,319  $ 1,368  

The weighted-average remaining term of the Company’s operating leases was 4.8 years and 3.1 years as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively,
and the weighted-average discount rate used to measure the present value of the operating lease liabilities was 10.0 % and 7.5 % as of December 31,
2023 and 2022, respectively. Cash payments made related to operating lease liabilities were $ 1.0  million and $ 1.1  million for the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
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Maturities of operating lease liabilities as of December 31, 2023 were as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal year ending December 31,

2024 $ 1,152  

2025 1,131  

2026 1,086  

2027 1,102  

2028 831  

Thereafter 252  

Total undiscounted cash flows 5,554  

Less: Imputed interest ( 1,163 )

Present value of lease liabilities $ 4,391  

Lease liabilities, current $ 781  

Lease liabilities, noncurrent 3,610  

Total lease liabilities $ 4,391  

In May 2023, the Company entered into an operating lease agreement for a new headquarter facility in Campbell, California with future lease payments
of $ 2.6  million. The lease commenced in October 2023 with a lease term of approximately 5.4 years.

11. BORROWINGS

Vendor financing arrangements—The Company has various vendor financing arrangements with extended payment terms on the purchase of software
licenses and equipment. In order to determine the present value of the commitments, the Company used an imputed interest rate of 10.0 %, which is an
estimate based on the Company’s collateralized borrowing rate.

Expected cash flows related to v endor financing arrangements as of December 31, 2023 were as follows (in thousands):

2024 $ 2,070  

2025 1,089  

2026 545  

Total undiscounted cash flows 3,704  

Less: Imputed interest ( 342 )

Present value of vendor financing arrangements $ 3,362  

Vendor financing arrangements, current $ 2,070  

Vendor financing arrangements, noncurrent 1,292  

$ 3,362  

Interest expense from vendor financing arrangements was $ 0.2 million and $ 0.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Letter of Credit—In conjunction with the execution of the operating lease for the Company’s new headquarter facility, a letter of credit in the amount of $
0.4  million was issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2023. No draws have been made under such letter of credit. There was no letter of credit
issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2022.
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Indemnifications—The Company often enters into limited indemnification provisions in license agreements in the ordinary course of the Company’s
licensing business. Pursuant to these provisions, which are often inserted into license agreements in the semiconductor IP and software licensing
industries, the Company agrees to indemnify, hold harmless, and reimburse the indemnified parties up to a capped amount for losses suffered or incurred
by such indemnified parties due to third-party claims if such claims are determined to be caused by the Company. The term of these indemnification
provisions is generally either for a term of years or perpetual, in each case beginning on the execution date of the agreement. The Company has also
agreed to indemnify under indemnity agreements with its directors and officers, to the extent legally permissible, against liabilities incurred in connection
with any action in which such individual may be involved by reason of such individual being or having been a director or officer, other than certain
liabilities arising from willful misconduct of the individual.

The Company has incurred no actual payment obligations from these above-noted indemnification provisions and director and officer indemnity
agreements during 2023 and 2022, and the consolidated financial statements do not include liabilities for any potential indemnity-related obligations as of
December 31, 2023 and 2022.

Legal—The Company has been and will continue to be subject to legal proceedings and claims.

In the normal course of business, the Company may receive inquiries or become involved in legal disputes regarding such litigation matters. Pursuant to
ASC 450, Contingencies, the Company makes a provision for a liability relating to legal matters when it is both probable that a liability has been incurred,
and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. These provisions are reviewed at least quarterly and adjusted to reflect the impacts of
negotiations, estimated settlements, legal rulings, advice of legal counsel and other information and events pertaining to a particular matter.

In December 2022, the Company received notice of a complaint filed against the Company and another defendant in the semiconductor industry, by
Network System Technologies, LLC in the United States District Court for the Western District of Texas, and additional complaints were filed in the
Eastern District of Texas against certain companies, including some customers of the Company, asserting among other things patent infringement relating
to the Company’s technology seeking damages and injunctive relief. The Company filed a Motion to Dismiss the indirect and willful infringement claims in
the Amended Complaint on September 5, 2023 which remains pending in the Western District of Texas, and an initial Claim Construction hearing was
held on December 21, 2023. These complaints and claims are still in early and varying stages among the courts in which complaints were filed, are
multiple in number, complex in subject matter, and indeterminate as to the amount of damages sought. The Company continues to vigorously defend itself
in respect to these complaints and anticipates an increase in legal expenses to do so.

Due to the inherent uncertainties and complex technical issues arising from such intellectual property litigation, the Company cannot predict or guarantee
any result of such intellectual property litigation. As with any such litigation at its initial stages, the Company cannot comment on the possible final
litigation results of ongoing litigation or the risk whether the Company may not prevail in such intellectual property litigation. In addition, such litigation may
make it necessary to support or defend the Company or the Company’s customers relating to the claims in the litigation.

Further, the ultimate outcome of the litigation, like any litigation, is uncertain and, regardless of outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on the
Company because of defense costs, potential negative publicity, diversion of management resources and other factors, which in turn may have a material
adverse impact on the Company’s business, consolidated financial position, results of operations, or cash flows. As intellectual property claims are
inherently unpredictable, the Company is currently evaluating whether such matters may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial
position, results of operations, or cash flows.

In addition, significant judgement is required in both the determination of probability and determination as to whether a loss is reasonably estimable.
Future revisions to such estimates could materially impact the Company’s results. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that existing or any future legal
proceedings for liability estimates arising in the ordinary course of business or otherwise will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s
business, consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

The Company has no other material contractual noncancelable commitments as of December 31, 2023 and 2022.
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13. COMMON STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Common Stock

Holders of common stock are entitled to one vote per share and to receive dividends and, upon liquidation or dissolution, are entitled to receive all assets
available for distribution to common stockholders. The common stock has no preemptive or other subscription rights and there are no redemption or
sinking fund provisions with respect to such shares. Common stock is subordinate to the preferred stock with respect to dividend rights and rights upon
liquidation, winding-up, and dissolution of the Company. In connection with its Initial Public Offering in October 2021, the Company amended and restated
its certificate of incorporation to authorize 300,000,000 shares of common stock.

Stock Repurchases

There were no repurchased shares for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.

14. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

2016 Stock Plan

On October 10, 2016, the Company amended and restated the 2013 Equity Incentive Plan and changed the name of the plan to Arteris, Inc. 2016
Incentive Plan (the 2016 Plan). Adoption of the 2016 Plan provides for participation by foreign nationals or those employed outside of the United States.

The 2016 Plan provides for the granting of the following types of stock awards: incentive stock options, non-statutory stock options, stock appreciation
rights (SARs), restricted stock awards, restricted stock unit awards (RSUs) and other stock awards. The number of shares authorized for award was
20,803,838 . The Company granted awards of common stock in the form of 14,142,208 shares as of December 31, 2021. Following the Company’s IPO
in October 2021, all future grants will be made under the 2021 Plan (as defined below), with none remaining available for future grant under the 2016
Plan.

2021 Stock Plan

The Company adopted the 2021 Incentive Award Plan (the 2021 Plan) effective October 26, 2021. The 2021 Plan provides for a variety of stock-based
compensation awards, including stock options, SARs, restricted stock awards, RSUs, performance bonus awards, performance stock unit awards,
dividend equivalents, or other stock or cash based awards.

Following the effectiveness of the 2021 Plan, the Company will not make any further grants under the 2016 Plan. However, the 2016 Plan will continue to
govern the terms and conditions of the outstanding awards granted under this plan. Shares of common stock subject to awards granted under the 2016
Plan that are forfeited or lapse unexercised and withheld to cover taxes which following the effective date of the 2021 Plan are not issued under the 2016
Plan will be available for issuance under the 2021 Plan.

2021 Employee stock purchase plan

The Company adopted the 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the 2021 ESPP) effective on October 26, 2021. The 2021 ESPP would enable eligible
employees of the Company to purchase shares of common stock at a discount to fair market value. As of December 31, 2023, there had been no offering
period under the ESPP.

2022 Employment Inducement Incentive Plan

The Company adopted the 2022 Employment Inducement Incentive Plan (the 2022 Inducement Plan) effective November 3, 2022, pursuant to which it
reserved 2,000,000 shares of its common stock. The 2022 Inducement Plan provides for a variety of stock-based compensation awards, including stock
options, SARs, restricted stock awards, restricted stock unit awards, performance bonus awards, performance stock unit awards, dividend equivalents, or
other stock or cash based awards. Awards under the 2022 Inducement Plan can only be made to newly hired employees.
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Shares Available for Future Grant

Shares available for future grant consisted of the following:

As of December 31,

 2023 2022

Shares available for future grant under the 2021 Plan 3,230,183  3,318,979  

Shares available for future grant under the 2021 ESPP 1,268,564  922,306  

Shares available for future grant under the 2022 Inducement Plan 1,003,680  1,489,163  

The Company issues new shares upon a share option exercise or release of restricted stock units.

Stock Options

The following table summarizes the stock option activities under the Company’s 2016 Plan:

 Options Outstanding

 Number of Shares  

Weighted-
Average
Exercise

Price

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual
Term (Years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Values
($‘000s)

Balance—December 31, 2022 3,542,836  $ 1.08  6.17 $ 11,416  

Granted 420,000  6.54  

Exercised ( 932,738 ) 0.53  

Canceled ( 188,334 ) 3.49  

Balance—December 31, 2023 2,841,764  $ 1.91  6.16 $ 11,544  

Options vested and exercisable—December 31, 2023 2,351,656  $ 1.29  5.69 $ 10,844  

Options vested and exercisable—December 31, 2022 2,752,055  $ 0.96  5.80 $ 9,200  

The aggregate intrinsic value of the options exercised for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 was $ 5.0 million and $ 11.7 million, respectively.
The total grant-date fair value of options vested was $ 0.4 million and $ 0.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

The amount of cash received by the Company for the exercise of stock options was $ 0.5 million and $ 0.9 million for the years ended December 31,
2023 and 2022, respectively.

As of December 31, 2023, there was $ 1.1 million of unamortized stock-based compensation cost related to unvested stock options, which is expected to
be recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.0 years.

Stock options granted generally have a maximum term of ten years from the grant date and generally vest over a period of four years with 25 % vesting
after one year and then monthly or quarterly thereafter for three years .

The fair value of each stock option granted is estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The Company determines valuation assumptions
for Black-Scholes as follows:

Risk-Free Interest Rate—The Company bases the risk-free interest rate used in the Black-Scholes option-pricing model on the implied yield
available on US Treasury zero coupon issues with an equivalent expected term of the options for each option group.

Expected Term—The expected term represents the period that the Company’s stock-based awards are expected to be outstanding. The
expected term assumption is based on the simplified method. The Company expects to continue using the simplified method until sufficient
information about the Company’s historical behavior is available.

Volatility—The Company determines the price volatility factor based on the historical volatilities of the Company’s peer group as the Company
does not have sufficient trading history for its common stock.
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Dividend Yield—The Company has never declared or paid any cash dividend and does not currently plan to pay a cash dividend in the
foreseeable future. Consequently, the Company used an expected dividend yield of zero .

Stock Options Valuation Assumptions

The following table summarizes the valuation assumptions:

Year Ended
December 31,

2023

Fair value of common stock $ 6.54

Expected volatility 44.0 %

Expected term (in years) 6.0

Risk-free interest rate 3.9 %

Expected dividend yield 0 %

The Company granted 420,000 stock options during the year ended December 31, 2023 and had n o stock option grants during the year ended
December 31, 2022.

Restricted Stock Units and Awards

The following table summarizes the restricted stock unit activities under the Company’s 2016 and 2021 Plan and the 2022 Inducement Plan:

Restricted Stock Units

Number of Shares
Weighted-Average Grant Date

Fair Value Per Share

Unvested—December 31, 2022 5,619,013  $ 7.24  

Granted 2,914,948  $ 5.71  

Vested ( 2,048,939 ) $ 6.86  

Canceled ( 752,072 ) $ 7.47  

Unvested—December 31, 2023 5,732,950  $ 6.56  

The total grant-date fair value of restricted stock units vested was $ 15.0  million and $ 7.4  million during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022,
respectively.

As of December 31, 2023, there was $ 30.4 million of unamortized stock-based compensation cost related to unvested restricted stock units, which is
expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.7 years.

For RSUs granted under the 2016 Stock Plan, they contain both a service-based vesting condition and a performance-based vesting condition. The
service-based vesting condition for these awards is generally satisfied by rendering continuous service for approximately four years , during which time
the grants will vest periodically. The performance-based vesting condition of certain awards is satisfied in connection with the Company becoming a
publicly listed company or a change in control.

For RSUs granted under the 2021 Stock Plan and 2022 Inducement Plan, they contain the service-based vesting condition for these awards and it is
generally satisfied by rendering continuous service typically satisfied over four years with a cliff vesting period of one year and continued vesting quarterly
thereafter.

Restricted Common Stock

In connection with the Semifore Acquisition (see Note 9), the Company issued 331,574 shares of common stock, out of which 96,715 shares of common
stock vested on the first anniversary of the closing of the Acquisition. The remaining 234,859 shares of common stock remain unvested as of December
31, 2023 and will vest on the third anniversary of the closing of the Acquisition contingent on the continued employment of certain key employees. These
shares had a grant date fair value of $ 1 .3 million based on the closing stock price on the acquisition date. The Company will recognize total
compensation cost of $ 1.3 million to be amortized on a straight-line basis over the total vesting period of three years . As of December 31, 2023, the total
unamortized compensation cost was $ 0.9 million.
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Stock-based Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense is recorded on a departmental basis, based on the classification of the award holder. The following table presents
the amount of stock-based compensation related to stock-based awards to employees on the Company’s consolidated statements of loss (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022

Cost of revenue $ 556  $ 562  

Research and development 7,324  5,865  

Sales and marketing 2,712  2,123  

General and administrative 3,943  3,142  

Total stock-based compensation $ 14,535  $ 11,692  

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company recognized $ 0.4 million and zero , respectively as stock-based compensation
expense for common stock issued as part of the Semifore Acquisition.

15.     EQUITY METHOD INVESTMENT

On February 21, 2022, Arteris IP (Hong Kong) Ltd. (AHK), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a Share Purchase and Shareholders
Agreement (the SPA) with certain investors and Ningbo Transchip Information Consulting Partnership (Limited Partnership) (Management Co). The
transaction closed on June 20, 2022.

The Company, the investors and Management Co, pursuant to the SPA, subscribed to the registered capital of Transchip Technology (Nanjing) Co., Ltd.
(Transchip), a formerly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. As a result, the registered capital of Transchip increased to $ 29.4  million. The
Company subscribed for the registered capital of approximately $ 11.9  million, of which $ 11.6  million of the contribution was contributed in-kind by way
of an interconnect solutions technology license by the Company pursuant to a five -year technology license and services agreement which can be
extended automatically for another five-year term, and the remaining was paid in cash. Following the consummation of the foregoing transactions, the
Company held 40.3 % common stock of Transchip on a fully diluted basis.

The license agreement provides Transchip the right to software licenses, services, software updates and technical support. On the closing date, the
license agreement including the support and maintenance services to be provided to Transchip was valued to be $ 11.6  million, which was recorded as
deferred income and will be recognized as other income (expense), net over a period of ten years on a straight line basis after delivery of the license. The
license was delivered to Transchip on September 2, 2022. For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company recognized income of $ 1.2  million for
the license agreement.

Deconsolidation of Transchip as a subsidiary

Prior to closing of the Transchip transaction, Transchip was a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company with limited operations. Upon closing of the
Transchip transaction, the Company no longer has control, and therefore deconsolidated Transchip. Accordingly, the Company derecognized all the
assets and liabilities of Transchip and recognized a disposal gain of $ 0.1  million, included in other income (expense), net in the consolidated statements
of loss and comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2022.

The Company’s ownership interest of Transchip’s registered capital was 35.0 % on a fully diluted basis as of December 31, 2023. The Company accounts
for its common stock investment in Transchip as an equity method investment as it does not control but has significant influence over operating and
financing policies of Transchip. Transchip is the Company’s only equity method investment.

As of December 31, 2023, the carrying value of the investment in Transchip was $ 8.5  million. There was no significant difference between the
Company’s carrying value of the investment in Transchip and its share of underlying equity in net assets of Transchip. The Company’s loss from its
proportionate share of its equity method investment in Transchip was $ 3.4  million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The Company concluded that
there were no indicators of impairment related to the Company’s equity method investment in Transchip as of December 31, 2023.
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16. INCOME TAXES

For financial reporting purposes, loss before provision for income taxes, includes the following components (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022

Domestic $ ( 30,191 ) $ ( 21,522 )

Foreign ( 5,001 ) ( 6,282 )

Loss before provision for income taxes $ ( 35,192 ) $ ( 27,804 )

Provision for (benefit from) Income Taxes

The provision for (benefit from) income taxes consists of the following (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022

Current:

Federal $ 553  $ 1  

State 2  25  

Foreign 1,122  40  

Total current 1,677  66  

Deferred:

Federal —  ( 435 )

State —  ( 48 )

Foreign —  —  

Total Deferred tax —  ( 483 )

Provision for (benefit from) income taxes $ 1,677  $ ( 417 )

Income tax provision (benefit) related to continuing operations differ from the amounts computed by applying the statutory income tax rate of 21 % to
pretax loss as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022

U.S. Federal (provision) benefit

At Statutory Rate 21.0  % 21.0  %

State Taxes 1.3  % 3.9  %

Valuation Allowance ( 20.9 )% ( 28.3 )%

Foreign Tax Differential ( 3.4 )% 0.1  %

Tax Credits 2.2  % 6.3  %

Stock Based Compensation ( 3.6 )% ( 0.9 )%

M&A Transaction Costs 0.0  % ( 0.4 )%

Foreign Earnings and Adjustments 1.6  % ( 3.2 )%

Foreign Withholding Tax ( 1.6 )% ( 0.1 )%

Other ( 1.4 )% 3.1  %

Total ( 4.8 )% 1.5  %
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Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities

Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022

Deferred Tax Assets:

Federal & State NOL carryforward $ 1,337  $ 1,419  

Research & Other credits 8,425  8,318  

Capitalized R&D 12,821  3,812  

Deferred revenue 9,838  9,148  

Reserves and accruals 1,192  1,162  

Stock-based compensation 1,387  1,481  

Other intangibles 549  427  

Lease liabilities 498  137  

Total Gross Deferred tax asset 36,047  25,904  

Less: Valuation allowance ( 33,768 ) ( 24,631 )

Total Deferred tax assets $ 2,279  $ 1,273  

Deferred Tax Liabilities:

Other intangibles $ ( 417 ) $ ( 494 )

Property and equipment ( 903 ) ( 517 )

Prepaid expenses ( 480 ) ( 135 )

Right-of-use assets ( 479 ) ( 127 )

Total Gross Deferred tax liabilities $ ( 2,279 ) $ ( 1,273 )

Net Deferred tax assets $ —  $ —  

 

The provisions of ASC Topic 740, Accounting for Income Taxes (ASC 740), require an assessment of both positive and negative evidence when
determining whether it is more likely than not that deferred tax assets are recoverable. For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, based on all
available objective evidence, including the existence of cumulative losses, the Company determined that it was not more likely than not that the net
deferred tax assets were fully realizable. Accordingly, the Company determined that a full valuation allowance against its U.S. (federal and state), French
and China deferred tax assets is appropriate. The Company intends to maintain a full valuation allowance on net deferred tax assets until sufficient
positive evidence exists to support reversal of the valuation allowance. During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the valuation allowance
was $ 33.8 million and $ 24.6 million, respectively.

The valuation allowance increased by $ 9.1 million and $ 8.2 million during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, primarily due to
changes in the U.S. research and development tax credits, stock compensation deferred tax assets, and capitalized research and experimental expenses.
The Company recorded an income tax benefit as a result of release of a portion of its valuation allowance for the year ended December 31, 2022 related
to the acquisition of Semifore.

Net Operating Loss and Tax Credit Carryforwards

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had $ 5.0 million net operating loss carryforward for federal income tax purposes, all of which have an indefinite
carryforward. The Company had a total state net operating loss carryforward of approximately $ 14.5 million, which will begin to expire in 2030. Utilization
of some of the federal and state net operating loss and credit carryforwards are subject to annual limitations due to the “change in ownership” provisions
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and similar state provisions. The annual limitations may result in the expiration of net operating losses and credits
before utilization.

The Company has federal research and development tax credits of approximately $ 5.0 million, which will begin to expire in 2035 and California research
and development tax credits of approximately $ 3.9 million which can be carried forward indefinitely. These tax credits are subject to the same limitations
discussed above.
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Unrecognized Tax Benefits

The Company adopted the provisions of ASC 740, which requires companies to determine whether it is “more likely than not” that a tax position will be
sustained upon examination by the appropriate taxing authorities before any tax benefit can be recorded in the financial statements. It also provides
guidance on the recognition, measurement, classification and interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions.

The Company has the following activity relating to unrecognized tax benefits (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022

Beginning balance $ 2,595  $ 3,111  

Gross increases (decreases)—Tax Positions in Prior Periods 429  ( 921 )

Gross increases—Tax Positions in Current Period 456  405  

Ending balance $ 3,480  $ 2,595  

As of December 31, 2023, the total amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits was $ 3.5 million, of which $ 0.5  million, if recognized, would impact the
Company’s effective tax rate.

The Company files federal and state income tax returns. For U.S. federal and state income tax purposes, the statute of limitations currently remains open
for the years ending December 31, 2020 to present and December 31, 2019 to present, respectively. In addition, all of the net operating losses and
research and development credit carryforwards since inception that could be utilized in future years may be subject to examination. There are currently no
pending income tax examinations.

17. DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN AND BENEFIT PLANS

The Company has a 401(k) plan to provide defined contribution retirement benefits for all of its US based employees. Employees may elect to contribute
a portion of their pretax compensation to the 401(k) plan, subject to the U.S. Internal Revenue Service annual contribution limit. Employee contributions
are fully vested at all times. For both the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company contributed $ 0.8 million to the 401(k) plan.

The Company has two defined benefit pension plans (the Plans), and both Plans are outside the United States. One of the defined benefit plans was
assumed as a result of the acquisition of Magillem during the year ended December 31, 2021. The Plans cover all employees of the Company’s French
subsidiary in accordance with French regulations. The Plans are unfunded and accounted for under the credit method and is subject to an actuarial
measurement of what the Company needs at the present time to cover the future pension liabilities, including expected future salary increases.

Components of the net periodic pension costs and changes in benefit obligations under the Plan were as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022

Service costs $ 110  $ 128  

Interest costs 27  8  

Prior service costs (credit) ( 3 ) —  

Total net periodic pension cost $ 134  $ 136  
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As of December 31,

2023 2022

Benefit obligation, beginning of year $ 676  $ 820  

Service costs 110  128  

Interest costs 27  8  

Prior service costs (credit) ( 3 ) —  

Net actuarial (gain) loss 74  ( 235 )

Foreign exchange (gain) loss 21  ( 45 )

Benefit obligation, end of year, included as part of other liabilities $ 905  $ 676  

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations were as follows:

As of December 31,

2023 2022

Discount rate 3.12  % 3.70  %

Rate of compensation increase 3.00  % 3.00  %

18. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company defines related parties as directors, executive officers, nominees for director, stockholders that have significant influence over the
Company, or are a greater than 10% beneficial owner of the Company’s capital and their affiliates or immediate family members.

In November 2020, the Company entered into a lease agreement with Isabelle Geday, a member of the Board of Directors. The lease payments were $
0.2 million for both the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. In addition, the Company signed a consulting agreement with Ms. Geday
on December 1, 2021, which was subsequently assigned to Magillem Design Services S.A., effective January 10, 2022. Prior to signing the consulting
agreement, Ms. Geday was paid as an executive employee of the Company from December 1, 2020 through November 30, 2021. As a consultant, Ms.
Geday will provide services for an initial three-year term and is eligible to receive $ 26,445 per month for the first 12 months of the consulting term and $
19,445 per month for the remaining 24 months of the consulting term. For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company paid Ms. Geday
$ 0.2 million and $ 0.3 million for consulting services, respectively. Lastly, the 455,000 stock options and 62,200 RSUs granted in connection with Ms.
Geday’s prior employment continue to vest.

In December 2022, the Company entered into a no-fee non-exclusive evaluation license agreement of Magillem products with Transchip. The evaluation
was extended and is ongoing as of December 31, 2023. Commencing August 2023, Transchip is carrying out a no-fee evaluation of additional Company
products. See Note 15 Equity Method Investment to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for
additional discussion of the Company’s transactions with Transchip.

19. SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

The Company’s CODM, reviews operating results on an aggregate basis and manages the Company’s operations as a whole for the purpose of
evaluating financial performance and allocating resources. The Company thus operates in one reportable segment which, as more fully described in Note
2, provides NoC interconnect semiconductor IP and SIA technology for a wide range of applications.

Refer to Note 2 for information about customers which account for more than 10% of total revenue. Refer to Note 3 for a summary of revenue by major
product and service group.
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The following table summarizes revenues by geographic area based on customer location (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022

Americas $ 19,237  35.9  % $ 20,697  41.1  %

Asia Pacific 27,976  52.1  23,133  45.9  

Europe, Middle East 6,453  12.0  6,548  13.0  

$ 53,666  100.0  % $ 50,378  100.0  %

(1) United States $ 18,543  34.6  % $ 20,489  40.7  %

(1) Other Americas * 694  1.3  % 208  0.4  %

(2) China 16,696  31.1  % 14,522  28.8  %

(2) Korea 6,429  12.0  % # #

(2) Other Asia Pacific* 4,851  9.0  % 8,611  17.1  %

* Other countries individually less than 10%

# Individually less than 10% and is included in the Other Asia Pacific amount and percentage for the year ended December 31, 2022

The following table summarizes property and equipment, net by geographic area (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2023 2022

United States $ 4,671  81.3  % $ 2,746  75.9  %

France 1,066  18.6  % 857  23.7  %

Other 8  0.1  % 14  0.4  %

$ 5,745  100.0  % $ 3,617  100.0  %

(1) (1)

(2) (2)
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosures

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The term “disclosure controls and procedures,” as
defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act), means controls and other
procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under
the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls
and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the
reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the company’s management, including its principal executive
and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing
and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, our management recognizes that disclosure controls and procedures, no matter how well
conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance that the objectives of the disclosure controls and procedures are met. Based on such
evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-
K, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act
Rule 13a-15(f). Our internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of consolidated financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Because of its
inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness
to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management has assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework set forth by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013 framework). Based on our evaluation,
management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective at the reasonable assurance level as of December 31, 2023.
This Annual Report does not include an attestation report by our independent registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial
reporting. Management’s report was not subject to attestation by our registered public accounting firm pursuant to rules of the SEC that permit us to
provide only management’s report in this Annual Report.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by Rules 13a-15(d) and 15d-
15(d) of the Exchange Act that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2023 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or our
internal control over financial reporting will prevent or detect all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can
provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect
the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all
control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the company have
been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because
of a simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people or by
management override of the controls. The design of any system of controls is also based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future
events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Over time, controls
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the
inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

Item 9B. Other Information

(a) Not applicable

(b) Insider Trading Arrangements

On February 27, 2023 the Company adopted an insider trading policy governing the purchase, sale, and other dispositions of its securities by directors,
senior management, and employees.

On November 10, 2023 , Wayne Cantwell , Director , terminated a Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement intended to satisfy the affirmative defense of Rule
10b5-1(c) and originally adopted on March 6, 2023 for the sale of up to 71,161 shares of the Company’s common stock until June 30, 2024.

On November 13, 2023 , Antonio Viana , Director , as the trustee of Viana Family Trust, adopted a Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement of Viana Family
Trust that is intended to satisfy the affirmative defense of Rule 10b5-1(c) for the sale of up to 227,777 shares of the Company’s common stock until April
30, 2025.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

None.
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Part III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

We have adopted a code of ethics for directors, officers (including our principal executive officer, principal financial officer and principal accounting officer)
and employees, known as the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics. This code is publicly available on our website at ir.arteris.com under the Corporate
Governance section. If we make any amendments to this code other than technical, administrative or other non-substantive amendments, or grant any
waivers, including implicit waivers, from a provision of this code we will disclose the nature of the amendment or waiver, its effective date and to whom it
applies on our website at arteris.com or in a Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC.

The remaining information required by this item, including information about our Directors, Executive Officers and Audit Committee, is incorporated by
reference to the definitive Proxy Statement for our 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which will be filed with the SEC no later than 120 days after
December 31, 2023.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item will be set forth in the section headed “Executive Compensation” in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated in this
Annual Report by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owner and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this Item will be set forth in the section headed “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” in our
Proxy Statement and is incorporated in this Annual Report by reference.

Information regarding our equity compensation plans will be set forth in the section headed “Executive Compensation” in our Proxy Statement and is
incorporated in this Annual Report by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions

The information required by this Item will be set forth in the section headed “Transactions with Related Persons” in our Proxy Statement and is
incorporated in this Annual Report by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this Item will be set forth in the section headed “—Ratification of Selection of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm”
in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated in this Annual Report by reference.
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Part IV

Item 15. Exhibits and financial statements.

The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

(a) Consolidated Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”

(b) Financial Statement Schedules

The financial statement schedules are omitted because they are either not applicable or the information required is presented in the financial statements
and notes thereto under “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”

(c) Exhibits

The following documents are filed, furnished, or incorporated by reference as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

EXHIBIT NO. DESCRIPTION OF EXHIBIT Form Exhibit Filing Date FILED
HEREWITH

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Arteris, Inc. 8-K 3.1 10-29-2021

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Arteris, Inc. 8-K 3.2 10-29-2021

4.1 Specimen Stock Certificate evidencing the shares of common stock. S-1/A 4.1 10-18-2021

10.1 Investors’ Rights Agreement, dated February 5, 2016, by and among Arteris, Inc.

and the investors listed therein.

S-1 10.1 10-01-2021

10.2 Amended and Restated Business Financing Agreement, by and between Arteris,

Inc. and Western Alliance Bank dated as of December 16, 2020.

S-1 10.2 10-01-2021

10.3† License Agreement, dated as of October 11, 2013, by and between Arteris, Inc.

and Qualcomm Technologies, Inc.

S-1 10.3 10-01-2021

10.4† Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 9, 2013, by and among

Qualcomm Technologies, Inc., Qualcomm France SARL, Arteris Holdings, Inc.,

Arteris, Inc. and Arteris, SAS

S-1 10.4 10-01-2021

10.5# Employment Agreement, by and between Arteris, Inc. and K. Charles Janac. S-1 10.6 10-01-2021

10.6# Employment Agreement, by and between Arteris IP SAS and Isabelle Geday. S-1 10.1 10-01-2021

10.7# Arteris, Inc. 2016 Equity Incentive Plan and related form agreements, as amended. S-8 99.1(a) 11-01-2021

10.8# Arteris, Inc. 2016 Equity Incentive Plan for the Grant of Restricted Stock Unit

Awards to Employees in France.

S-1 10.12 10-01-2021

10.9# 2021 Incentive Award Plan. S-8 99.2(a) 11-01-2021

10.10# Form of Stock Option Award Agreement under Arteris, Inc. 2021 Incentive Award

Plan.

S-1/A 10.14 10-18-2021

10.11# Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under Arteris, Inc. 2021 Incentive

Award Plan

S-1/A 10.15 10-18-2021

10.12# 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan S-8 99.3 11-01-2021

10.13# Form of Executive Change in Control Severance Agreement S-1/A 10.17 10-18-2021

10.14# Arteris, Inc. Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy. S-1/A 10.18 10-18-2021

10.15# Form of Indemnification Agreement between Arteris, Inc. and its directors and

officers.

S-1/A 10.19 10-18-2021

10.16# Amended and Restated Project Assignment 1 to Independent Contractor Services

Agreement

8-K 10.1 12-10-2021
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1667011/000119312521300473/d52087dex1018.htm
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EXHIBIT NO. DESCRIPTION OF EXHIBIT Form Exhibit Filing Date FILED
HEREWITH

10.17# Contractor’s Assignment of Independent Contractor Services Agreement as

Amended, from Isabelle Geday to Magillem Design Services S.A., effective as of

January 10, 2022

10-K 10.21 03-07-2022

10.18 Transchip Share Purchase and Shareholders Agreement, dated February 21, 2022 10-Q 10.1 05-10-2022

10.19 Transchip Share Purchase and Shareholders Agreement, dated September 15,

2022

10-Q 10.1 11-08-2022

10.20# 2022 Employment Inducement Award Plan 10-Q 10.2 11-08-2022

10.21# Form of Stock Option Grant Notice and Stock Option Agreement under the 2022

Employment Inducement Award Plan

10-Q 10.3 11-08-2022

10.22# Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Grant Notice and Restricted Stock Unit

Award Agreement under the 2022 Employment Inducement Award Plan

10-Q 10.4 11-08-2022

21.1 Subsidiaries of Arteris, Inc. X

23.1 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP X

23.2 Consent of Moss Adams LLP. X

24.1 Power of Attorney (included on signature page). X

31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-

14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section

302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

X

31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-

14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section

302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

X

32.1* Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as

adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

X

32.2* Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as

adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

X

97.1 Policy Relating to Recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation X

101.INS XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the

Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL

document.

X

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document. X

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document. X

101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document. X

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document. X

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document. X

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL and contained in

Exhibits 101).

X

* The certifications attached as Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 that accompany this Annual Report on Form 10-K, are deemed furnished and not filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission and are not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Arteris, Inc. under the Securities Act of
1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, whether made before or after the date of this Annual Report on Form
10-K, irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.

#    Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
†    Portions of this exhibit (indicated by asterisks) have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(10)(iv) of Regulation S-K under the Securities Act of

1933, as amended, because they are both (i) not material and (ii) the type of information that the registrant both customarily and actually treats as
private and confidential.
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Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, Arteris, Inc. has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in Campbell, California, on this 20th day of February, 2024.

Arteris, Inc.

By: /s/ K. Charles Janac

Name: 
Title:

K. Charles Janac
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

POWER OF ATTORNEY

Each of the undersigned officers and directors of Arteris, Inc. hereby constitutes and appoints K. Charles Janac and Nicholas B. Hawkins, and each of
them any of whom may act without joinder of the other, the individual’s true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, each with full power of substitution
and resubstitution, for the person and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file
the same, with all exhibits thereto, and all other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said
attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be
done in connection therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said
attorneys-in-fact and agents or any of them, or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, this Annual Report on Form 10-K has been signed by the following persons in
the capacities set forth opposite their names and on the date indicated.

SIGNATURE TITLE DATE

/s/ K. Charles Janac President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) and
Chairman of the Board of Directors

February 20, 2024

K. Charles Janac

/s/ Nicholas B. Hawkins Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

February 20, 2024

Nicholas B. Hawkins

/s/ Wayne C. Cantwell Director February 20, 2024

Wayne C. Cantwell

/s/ Claudia Fan Munce Director February 20, 2024

Claudia Fan Munce

/s/ Raman K. Chitkara Director February 20, 2024

Raman K. Chitkara

/s/ Isabelle F. Geday Director February 20, 2024

Isabelle F. Geday

/s/ S. Atiq Raza Director February 20, 2024

S. Atiq Raza

/s/ Antonio J. Viana Director February 20, 2024

Antonio J. Viana
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Exhibit 21.1

Subsidiaries of Arteris, Inc.

Legal Name of Subsidiary   Jurisdiction of Organization

Arteris Semiconductor Technology (Nanjing) Co., Ltd.   People’s Republic of China

Arteris IP Korea Limited   Korea

Arteris K.K.   Japan

Arteris IP SAS   France

Arteris HK Limited Hong Kong

Sauternes Merger Sub II, LLC Delaware



 

Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement No. 333-268257 on Form S-3 and Registration Statement Nos. 333-260620, 333-
263352, 333-268258, and 333-270173 on Form S-8 of our report dated February 20, 2024, relating to the financial statements of Arteris, Inc. appearing in
the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

San Jose, California

February 20, 2024



 

Exhibit 23.2

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (No. 333-268257) and Form S-8 (Nos. 333-260620; 333-
263352; 333-268258; 333-270173) of Arteris, Inc. (the “Company”), of our report dated February 28, 2023, relating to the consolidated financial
statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2022 of the Company, appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the year
ended December 31, 2023.

/s/ Moss Adams LLP

San Francisco, California

February 20, 2024



 

Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, K. Charles Janac, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Arteris, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
14(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: February 20, 2024 By: /s/ K. Charles Janac

K. Charles Janac

President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Nicholas B. Hawkins, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Arteris, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
14(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: February 20, 2024 By: /s/ Nicholas B. Hawkins

Nicholas B. Hawkins

Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Arteris, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2023 as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: February 20, 2024

By: /s/ K. Charles Janac

K. Charles Janac

President and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Arteris, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2023 as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: February 20, 2024

By: /s/ Nicholas B. Hawkins

Nicholas B. Hawkins

Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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ARTERIS, INC. POLICY FOR RECOVERY OF ERRONEOUSLY AWARDED COMPENSATION

Arteris, Inc. (the “Company”) has adopted this Policy for Recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation (the
“Policy”), effective as of October 2, 2023 (the “Effective Date”). Capitalized terms used in this Policy but not otherwise
defined herein are defined in Section 11.

1. Persons Subject to Policy

This Policy shall apply to current and former Officers of the Company. Each Officer shall be required to sign an
acknowledgment pursuant to which such Officer will agree to be bound by the terms of, and comply with, this Policy;
however, any Officer’s failure to sign any such acknowledgment shall not negate the application of this Policy to the Officer.

2. Compensation Subject to Policy

This Policy shall apply to Incentive-Based Compensation received on or after the Effective Date. For purposes of
this Policy, the date on which Incentive-Based Compensation is “received” shall be determined under the Applicable Rules,
which generally provide that Incentive-Based Compensation is “received” in the Company’s fiscal period during which the
relevant Financial Reporting Measure is attained or satisfied, without regard to whether the grant, vesting or payment of
the Incentive-Based Compensation occurs after the end of that period.

3. Recovery of Compensation

In the event that the Company is required to prepare a Restatement, the Company shall recover, reasonably
promptly, the portion of any Incentive-Based Compensation that is Erroneously Awarded Compensation, unless the
Committee has determined that recovery would be Impracticable. Recovery shall be required in accordance with the
preceding sentence regardless of whether the applicable Officer engaged in misconduct or otherwise caused or
contributed to the requirement for the Restatement and regardless of whether or when restated financial statements are
filed by the Company. For clarity, the recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation under this Policy will not give rise to
any person’s right to voluntarily terminate employment for “good reason,” or due to a “constructive termination” (or any
similar term of like effect) under any plan, program or policy of or agreement with the Company or any of its affiliates.

4. Manner of Recovery; Limitation on Duplicative Recovery

The Committee shall, in its sole discretion, determine the manner of recovery of any Erroneously Awarded
Compensation, which may include, without limitation, reduction or cancellation by the Company or an affiliate of the
Company of Incentive-Based Compensation or Erroneously Awarded Compensation, reimbursement or repayment by any
person subject to this Policy of the Erroneously Awarded Compensation, and, to the extent permitted by law, an offset of
the Erroneously Awarded Compensation against other compensation payable by the Company
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or an affiliate of the Company to such person. Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless otherwise prohibited by the Applicable
Rules, to the extent this Policy provides for recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation already recovered by the
Company pursuant to Section 304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 or Other Recovery Arrangements, the amount of
Erroneously Awarded Compensation already recovered by the Company from the recipient of such Erroneously Awarded
Compensation may be credited to the amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation required to be recovered pursuant
to this Policy from such person.

5. Administration

This Policy shall be administered, interpreted and construed by the Committee, which is authorized to make all
determinations necessary, appropriate or advisable for such purpose. The Board of Directors of the Company (the
“Board”) may re-vest in itself the authority to administer, interpret and construe this Policy in accordance with applicable
law, and in such event references herein to the “Committee” shall be deemed to be references to the Board. Subject to any
permitted review by the applicable national securities exchange or association pursuant to the Applicable Rules, all
determinations and decisions made by the Committee pursuant to the provisions of this Policy shall be final, conclusive and
binding on all persons, including the Company and its affiliates, equityholders and employees. The Committee may
delegate administrative duties with respect to this Policy to one or more directors or employees of the Company, as
permitted under applicable law, including any Applicable Rules.

6. Interpretation

This Policy will be interpreted and applied in a manner that is consistent with the requirements of the Applicable
Rules, and to the extent this Policy is inconsistent with such Applicable Rules, it shall be deemed amended to the minimum
extent necessary to ensure compliance therewith.

7. No Indemnification; No Liability

The Company shall not indemnify or insure any person against the loss of any Erroneously Awarded Compensation
pursuant to this Policy, nor shall the Company directly or indirectly pay or reimburse any person for any premiums for third-
party insurance policies that such person may elect to purchase to fund such person’s potential obligations under this
Policy. None of the Company, an affiliate of the Company or any member of the Committee or the Board shall have any
liability to any person as a result of actions taken under this Policy.

8. Application; Enforceability

Except as otherwise determined by the Committee or the Board, the adoption of this Policy does not limit, and is
intended to apply in addition to, any other clawback, recoupment, forfeiture or similar policies or provisions of the Company
or its affiliates, including any such policies or provisions of such effect contained in any employment agreement, bonus
plan, incentive plan, equity-based plan or award agreement thereunder or similar plan, program or agreement of the
Company or an affiliate or required under applicable law (the “Other Recovery Arrangements”).
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The remedy specified in this Policy shall not be exclusive and shall be in addition to every other right or remedy at law or in
equity that may be available to the Company or an affiliate of the Company.

9. Severability

The provisions in this Policy are intended to be applied to the fullest extent of the law; provided, however, to the
extent that any provision of this Policy is found to be unenforceable or invalid under any applicable law, such provision will
be applied to the maximum extent permitted, and shall automatically be deemed amended in a manner consistent with its
objectives to the extent necessary to conform to any limitations required under applicable law.

10. Amendment and Termination

The Board or the Committee may amend, modify or terminate this Policy in whole or in part at any time and from
time to time in its sole discretion. This Policy will terminate automatically when the Company does not have a class of
securities listed on a national securities exchange or association.

11. Definitions

“Applicable Rules” means Section 10D of the Exchange Act, Rule 10D-1 promulgated thereunder, the listing rules
of the national securities exchange or association on which the Company’s securities are listed, and any applicable rules,
standards or other guidance adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission or any national securities exchange or
association on which the Company’s securities are listed.

“Committee” means the committee of the Board responsible for executive compensation decisions comprised solely
of independent directors (as determined under the Applicable Rules), or in the absence of such a committee, a majority of
the independent directors serving on the Board.

“Erroneously Awarded Compensation” means the amount of Incentive-Based Compensation received by a
current or former Officer that exceeds the amount of Incentive-Based Compensation that would have been received by
such current or former Officer based on a restated Financial Reporting Measure, as determined on a pre-tax basis in
accordance with the Applicable Rules.

“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

“Financial Reporting Measure” means any measure determined and presented in accordance with the accounting
principles used in preparing the Company’s financial statements, and any measures derived wholly or in part from such
measures, including GAAP, IFRS and non- GAAP/IFRS financial measures, as well as stock or share price and total
equityholder return.

“GAAP” means United States generally accepted accounting principles.
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“IFRS” means international financial reporting standards as adopted by the International Accounting Standards
Board.

“Impracticable” means (a) the direct costs paid to third parties to assist in enforcing recovery would exceed the
Erroneously Awarded Compensation; provided that the Company (i) has made reasonable attempts to recover the
Erroneously Awarded Compensation, (ii) documented such attempt(s), and (iii) provided such documentation to the
relevant listing exchange or association, (b) to the extent permitted by the Applicable Rules, the recovery would violate the
Company’s home country laws pursuant to an opinion of home country counsel; provided that the Company has (i)
obtained an opinion of home country counsel, acceptable to the relevant listing exchange or association, that recovery
would result in such violation, and (ii) provided such opinion to the relevant listing exchange or association, or (c) recovery
would likely cause an otherwise tax-qualified retirement plan, under which benefits are broadly available to employees of
the Company, to fail to meet the requirements of 26 U.S.C. 401(a)(13) or 26 U.S.C. 411(a) and the regulations thereunder.

“Incentive-Based Compensation” means, with respect to a Restatement, any compensation that is granted,
earned, or vested based wholly or in part upon the attainment of one or more Financial Reporting Measures and received
by a person: (a) after beginning service as an Officer; (b) who served as an Officer at any time during the performance
period for that compensation; (c) while the issuer has a class of its securities listed on a national securities exchange or
association; and (d) during the applicable Three-Year Period.

“Officer” means each person who serves as an executive officer of the Company, as defined in Rule 10D-1(d) under
the Exchange Act.

“Restatement” means an accounting restatement to correct the Company’s material noncompliance with any
financial reporting requirement under securities laws, including restatements that correct an error in previously issued
financial statements (a) that is material to the previously issued financial statements or (b) that would result in a material
misstatement if the error were corrected in the current period or left uncorrected in the current period.

“Three-Year Period” means, with respect to a Restatement, the three completed fiscal years immediately preceding
the date that the Board, a committee of the Board, or the officer or officers of the Company authorized to take such action
if Board action is not required, concludes, or reasonably should have concluded, that the Company is required to prepare
such Restatement, or, if earlier, the date on which a court, regulator or other legally authorized body directs the Company
to prepare such Restatement. The “Three-Year Period” also includes any transition period (that results from a change in
the Company’s fiscal year) within or immediately following the three completed fiscal years identified in the preceding
sentence. However, a transition period between the last day of the Company’s previous fiscal year end and the first day of
its new fiscal year that comprises a period of nine to 12 months shall be deemed a completed fiscal year.
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ACKNOWLEDGMENT AND CONSENT TO
POLICY FOR RECOVERY OF ERRONEOUSLY AWARDED COMPENSATION

The undersigned has received a copy of the Policy for Recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation (the “Policy”)
adopted by Arteris, Inc. (the “Company”).

For good and valuable consideration, the receipt of which is acknowledged, the undersigned agrees to the terms of the
Policy and agrees that compensation received by the undersigned may be subject to reduction, cancellation, forfeiture
and/or recoupment to the extent necessary to comply with the Policy, notwithstanding any other agreement to the contrary.
The undersigned further acknowledges and agrees that the undersigned is not entitled to indemnification in connection
with any enforcement of the Policy and expressly waives any rights to such indemnification under the Company’s
organizational documents or otherwise.

Date Signature

Name

Title


